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PART I
ITEM 1 – BUSINESS
Except for historical information contained in this report, the matters discussed are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. When
used in this report, words such as “anticipates”, “believes”, “could”, “estimates”, “expects”, “may”, “plans”, “potential” and “intends” and similar expressions, as they
relate to the Company or its management, identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based on the beliefs of the Company’s
management, as well as assumptions made by and information currently available to the Company’s management. Among the factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially are the following: the effect of business and economic conditions; the effect of the dramatic changes taking place in the healthcare
environment; the impact of competitive procedures and products and their pricing; medical insurance reimbursement policies; unexpected manufacturing or supplier
problems; unforeseen difficulties and delays in the conduct of clinical trials and other product development programs; the actions of regulatory authorities and thirdparty payers in the United States and overseas; uncertainties about the acceptance of a novel therapeutic modality by the medical community; continuation of the
GEHC agreement; and the risk factors reported from time to time in the Company’s SEC reports. The Company undertakes no obligation to update forward-looking
statements as a result of future events or developments.
General Overview
Vasomedical, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in July 1987. Unless the context requires otherwise, all references to “we”, “our”, “us”, “Company”,
“registrant”, “Vasomedical” or “management” refer to Vasomedical, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Since 1995, we have been primarily engaged in designing,
manufacturing, marketing and supporting EECP® Enhanced External Counterpulsation systems based on our unique proprietary technology currently indicated by
the United States Food & Drug Administration (FDA) for use in cases of stable or unstable angina, congestive heart failure (CHF), acute myocardial infarction (i.e.,
heart attack, (MI)) and cardiogenic shock. In April 2010, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Vaso Diagnostics d/b/a VasoHealthcare, organized a
group of medical device sales professionals in the anticipation of entering into the sales representation business for other equipment manufacturers. On May 19,
2010, VasoHealthcare signed a sales representative agreement with GE Healthcare (the “GEHC Agreement”), the healthcare business unit of General Electric
Company (NYSE: GE), for the sale of select GE Healthcare Diagnostic Imaging products. Under the GEHC Agreement, VasoHealthcare has been appointed the
exclusive representative for these products to specific market segments in the 48 contiguous states of the United States and the District of Columbia. The GEHC
Agreement has an initial term of three years commencing July 1, 2010, subject to extension and also subject to earlier termination under certain
circumstances. We now report VasoHealthcare activities under our Sales Representation reportable segment and EECP ® and other medical device operations
under our Equipment reportable segment (see Note C).
During the last several years, the Company has incurred operating losses. We have sought to achieve profitability by launching the VasoHealthcare
business, and by expanding our U.S. market product portfolio to include ambulatory monitoring devices (the BIOX series ECG Holter recorders, ambulatory blood
pressure monitors and analysis software) and patient management devices (the EZ ECG and EZ O2 products). We also are looking for accretive acquisitions in
the medical device market.
In fiscal 2011, the Company’s aggregate revenues increased from $4,205,942 to $16,373,424 oe 289% from. the prior fiscal year. While the Company
incurred operating losses due in large part to the revenue recognition rules associated with its VasoHealthcare business, it generated significant operating cash
flows in excess of $4.1 million.
Market Overview - EECP®
Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of death in the world and is among the top three diseases in terms of healthcare spending in nearly
every country. CVD claimed approximately 813,000 lives in the United States in 2007 and was responsible for 1 of every 2.9 deaths, according to The American
Heart Association (AHA) Heart and Stroke Statistical 2011 Update (2011 Update). An estimated 82.6 million American adults suffer from some form of
cardiovascular disease. Among these, 16.3 million have coronary heart disease (CHD).
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We have FDA clearance to market our EECP ® therapy for use in the treatment of stable and unstable angina, congestive heart failure, acute myocardial
infarction, and cardiogenic shock; however, our current marketing efforts are mostly limited to the treatment of chronic stable angina and congestive heart
failure. Medicare and other third-party payers currently reimburse for the treatment of angina pectoris patients with moderate to severe symptoms who are
refractory to medications and who, in the opinion of a cardiologist or cardiothoracic surgeon, are not candidates for invasive procedures. Patients with comorbidities of heart failure, diabetes, peripheral vascular disease, etc. are also reimbursed under the same criteria, provided the primary diagnosis and indication for
treatment with EECP ® therapy is refractory angina symptoms.
Angina
Angina pectoris is the medical term for a recurring pain or discomfort in the chest or near the neck due to coronary artery disease (CAD). The number of
angina patients in the United States is approximately 10.9 million, according to the 2011 Update. There are approximately 100,000 to 150,000 new refractory
angina patients each year who do not adequately respond to medication, and are not amenable to invasive revascularization procedures such as percutaneous
coronary interventions (PCI), with angioplasty and coronary stent placement or coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG). Currently our EECP ® therapy is mostly
prescribed for these patients because of the potential to meet the guidelines for reimbursement of EECP ® therapy.
In February 1999, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), the federal agency that administers the Medicare program for more than 46.6
million beneficiaries in 2010, issued a national coverage policy for the use of external counterpulsation therapy in the treatment of refractory angina. Medicare
reimbursement guidelines have a significant impact in determining the available market for EECP® therapy. We believe that the majority of the patients who receive
EECP® therapy are Medicare patients, and many of the younger patients are covered by third-party payers. Medicare guidelines limit reimbursement for EECP ®
therapy to patients who do not adequately respond to medical therapy and are not readily amenable to invasive therapy. As a result, an important element of our
strategy is to grow the market for EECP® therapy by expanding reimbursement coverage to include a broader range of angina patients than the current coverage
policy provides and enable EECP® therapy to compete more with other therapies for ischemic heart disease. To this end, we have engaged a consulting firm in a
two-year agreement to assist us in promoting EECP therapy as a first line option in the treatment of CCS Class III/IV angina with both Medicare and a major
healthcare third-party payer, and extending Medicare coverage to heart failure and Class II angina. Please see the “Reimbursement” section of this Form 10-K for
a more detailed discussion of reimbursement issues.
Congestive Heart Failure (CHF)
CHF is a condition in which the heart loses its pumping capacity to supply the metabolic needs of all other organs. The condition affects both sexes and is
most common in people over age 50. Symptoms include angina, shortness of breath, weakness, fatigue, swelling of the abdomen, legs and ankles, rapid or
irregular heartbeat and low blood pressure. CHF is treated with medication surgery, and, in certain severe cases, heart transplants. Left ventricular assist devices
(LVADs) and the use of cardiac resynchronization and implantable defibrillators are useful in selected patients with heart failure. Still, no consensus therapy
currently exists for CHF and patients must currently suffer their symptoms chronically and have a reduced life expectancy.
According to the 2011 Update, in 2007 approximately 5.7 million adults in the United States were suffering heart failure and about 670,000 new cases of
the disease occur each year. The prevalence of the disease is growing as a result of the aging of the population and the improved survival rate of people after
heart attacks. Because the condition frequently entails visits to the emergency room and in-patient treatment centers, two-thirds of all hospitalizations for people
over age 65 are due to heart failure. The economic burden of congestive heart failure is enormous, with an estimated cost of $39.2 billion to the health care system
in the United States in 2010. Congestive heart failure offers a good strategic fit with our current angina business and offers an expanded market opportunity for
EECP® therapy. Unmet clinical needs in CHF are greater than those for angina, as there are few consensus therapies, invasive or otherwise, beyond medical
management for the condition. It is noteworthy that data collected from the International EECP® Patient Registry ™ (IEPR) at the University of Pittsburgh Graduate
School of Public Health shows that approximately one-third of angina patients treated with EECP® also have a history of CHF and 70% to 80% have demonstrated
positive outcomes from EECP ® therapy.
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We sponsored a pivotal, randomized clinical trial to demonstrate the efficacy of EECP ® therapy in the most prevalent types of heart failure patients. This
trial, known as PEECHä (Prospective Evaluation of EECP® in Congestive Heart Failure), completed in 2005, was intended to provide additional evidence of the
safety and efficacy of EECP ® therapy in the treatment of mild-to-moderate heart failure and to support our application for expansion of the Medicare national
reimbursement coverage policy to include mild-to-moderate heart failure as a primary indication. The PEECH™ trial was a positive clinical trial, having met the
statistical requirement of meeting at least one of its co-primary endpoints, a significant difference in the proportion of patients satisfying a pre-specified threshold of
improvement in exercise duration. The trial also demonstrated significant improvements in favor of EECP® therapy on several important secondary endpoints,
including exercise duration and improvement in symptom status and quality of life. The results of the PEECHä trial were published by the Journal of the American
College of Cardiology (JACC) in its September 19, 2006 issue. JACC is the official journal of the American College of Cardiology.
On June 20, 2005, CMS accepted our application for expansion of reimbursement coverage of EECP ® therapy to include patients with New York Heart
Association (NYHA) Class II/III stable heart failure symptoms with an ejection fraction of less than or equal to 35% (i.e. chronic, stable, mild-to-moderate systolic
heart failure as a primary indication), as well as patients with Canadian Cardiovascular Society Classification (CCSC) II (i.e. chronic, stable mild angina). On March
20, 2006, CMS issued their Decision Memorandum regarding this reconsideration with the opinion that the evidence was not adequate to support an extension of
coverage. It did, however, reiterate in the decision memorandum that “Current coverage as described in Section 20.20 of the Medicare National Coverage
Determination (NCD) manual will remain in effect” for refractory angina patients.
In the November-December 2006 issue of the journal Congestive Heart Failure, a second report of results from the PEECH ä trial was published, focusing
on a pre-specified subgroup analysis in trial patients age 65 and over. This analysis demonstrated a statistically positive response on both co-primary endpoints of
the trial in patients receiving EECP ® therapy versus those who did not, i.e. a significantly larger proportion of patients undergoing EECP ® therapy met or exceeded
pre-specified thresholds of improvement in exercise duration and peak oxygen consumption. Moreover, the patients age 65 and older who received EECP ®
therapy demonstrated the greatest differences in exercise duration, peak oxygen consumption and functional class (symptom status) compared with those who did
not receive EECP® therapy. These papers were submitted to CMS and we were advised to continue to gather more clinical evidence for future submission.
We will continue to educate the marketplace that EECP ® therapy is a therapy for ischemic cardiovascular disease and that patients with a primary diagnosis
of heart failure, diabetes, peripheral vascular disease, etc. are also eligible for reimbursement under the current coverage policy, provided the primary indication for
treatment with EECP ® therapy is angina or angina equivalent symptoms and the patient satisfies other listed criteria. Additionally, we have engaged a consulting
firm in a two-year agreement to assist us in extending CMS coverage and reimbursement to NYHA Class II/III heart failure. Please see the “Reimbursement”
section of this Form 10-K for a more detailed discussion of reimbursement issues.
Other Potential Applications of EECP ® Therapy
While currently we only have FDA clearance to market EECP® therapy in the United States for the treatment of stable and unstable angina, congestive
heart failure, acute myocardial infarction and cardiogenic shock, there are many clinical papers published in peer reviewed medical journals demonstrating the
safety and effectiveness in off-label applications by physicians, both domestic and overseas. During the past several years, many studies have been carried out to
provide scientific evidence-based explanation on the mechanisms of action of EECP® therapy. Results of these studies show that EECP® therapy improves
endothelial function in dilating vasculature, stimulates angiogenesis in forming new blood vessels, reduces inflammatory responses in deactivating signaling
proteins and attenuates the atherosclerotic process by limiting smooth muscle cells proliferation and migration. These actions have led physicians to using EECP®
therapy in the treatment of many different cardiovascular symptoms, such as:
· Cerebral vascular disease (CVD): Specifically ischemic stroke. There were many case reports published in Chinese medical literature since the
1980s and 1990s concerning the benefits of external counterpulsation in the treatment of cerebral vascular disease. In 2003 Dr. Werner and
coworkers in Germany reported EECP® therapy increased cerebral blood flow (Acta Neurologica Scandinavica. Vol. 107, p. 405). This finding was
confirmed by Dr Alexandrov of University of Alabama in 2008 (Stroke. Vol. 39, p. 2760). In the same year Dr. Han and Dr. Wong of the Chinese
University in Hong Kong published a review paper on the use of EECP® therapy in ischemic stroke (Cerebrovasc Dis. Vol. 26, p. 97) and another
paper in a randomized, crossover study demonstrating the efficacy of EECP® therapy in treating ischemic stroke patients with large artery occlusion
(Stroke. Vol. 39, p. 1340).
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· Cardiac Syndrome X (CSX) : A condition where patients present with abnormal stress perfusion scan and chest pain but normal coronary arteries
shown by angiography, most probable due to impaired coronary microvascular dilatory function related to endothelial dysfunction. In 2008, Dr. Pennell
in an editorial published in J American College of Cardiology (Vol. 51, p. 473) illustrated the achievement of normal cardiac perfusion after EECP®
therapy in a 68-year-old woman with CSX. In the same year, Dr. Kronhaus and Dr. Lawson showed results in 30 cases of refractory angina due to CSX
improved 100% of perfusion defects immediately after a course of EECP® therapy and 87% sustained their improvement at 1-year follow up. They
concluded that EECP® therapy may be an effective and durable treatment for this often difficult to treat problem.
· Erectile Dysfunction (ED) : Reduction of penile arterial vasodilation – as early as 1998 Dr. Froschermaier and co-workers in Germany demonstrated
dramatic improvement in ED symptoms with an 88% increase in penile artery peak systolic flow (Urologia Internationalis. Vol. 61, p. 168). In 2007 Dr.
Lawson of New York reported improvement of International Index of Erectile Function after a course of EECP® therapy in patients with severe coronary
disease and ED (International J of Clinical Practice. Vol. 61, p. 757). This result was confirmed in the same year by Dr. El-Sakka and colleagues of
Egypt and Saudi Arabia in a 2-part paper (J of Sexual Medicine. Vol. 4(3), p. 771 and Vol. 4(5), p. 448). EECP® Therapy has been shown to improve
endothelial function, increase the release of nitric oxide to dilate vasculature, forming the physiological base of using EECP® to treat ED. The critical
issue to examine is the treatment protocol, how long and how often should EECP® therapy be given. The answer may depend on the severity of ED.
· Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD): Associated with an increased risk for stroke, peripheral arterial disease and all-cause mortality, common among
patients with hypertension, dyslipidemia and diabetes mellitus. In 1999 Dr. Werner of Germany reported significant increase of blood flow to the brain,
liver, kidneys and the heart after just 1-hour of EECP® therapy (American J of Cardiology. Vol. 84, p. 950). Subsequently in 2005, this group of
investigators demonstrated the improvement of renal function in patients with liver cirrhosis after a course of EECP® Therapy (Nephrology Dialysis
Transplantation. Vol. 20, p. 920). In July 2008, Dr. Ajith of Kerala, India, reported the doubling of the urine output of a diabetic patient with liver and
kidney failure waiting for renal transplantation (Khaleej Times Online). EECP® therapy is effective in augmenting excretory function and may be
effective in stopping the progression of CKD.
· Diabetes Mellitus (DM): An established two-fold excess risk factor for coronary heart disease and ischemic stroke and poor responders to
conventional therapeutic interventions. In 2003 Dr. Linnemeier reported the safety and effectiveness of EECP ® therapy in treating diabetic refractory
angina patients with 1-year mortality similar to non-diabetes and coronary intervention registry population (American Heart J. Vol. 146, p.
453). Diabetic patients with coronary artery disease are known to have poor outcomes after coronary bypass and percutaneous coronary
intervention. Diabetics have accelerated diffuse macro and microvascular disease. Invasive revascularization may open or bypass occluded
macrovascular conductive vessel, but not microvascular resistive vessels. EECP® therapy enhances development of microvasculature collateral,
improves endothelial cell function and may be the complementary or front-line therapy to invasive therapies.
It is clear that there are sufficient clinical and scientific evidence in each of the five potential applications listed above to demonstrate EECP® therapy’s
safety and efficacy. However, large randomized control studies appear to be needed to confirm the preliminary findings and drive market clearance and
reimbursement.
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We will continue to observe development in the use of EECP ® therapy in new applications and may sponsor clinical studies seeking regulatory clearance
and reimbursement as funding becomes available.
The EECP ® Therapy Systems
The EECP® therapy systems are noninvasive treatment systems utilizing fundamental hemodynamic principles to augment coronary blood flow and, at the
same time, reduce the workload of the heart while improving the overall vascular function. The treatment is completely noninvasive and is administered to patients
on an outpatient basis, usually in daily one-hour sessions, five days per week over seven weeks for a total of 35 treatments. The procedure is well tolerated and
most patients begin to experience relief of chest pain caused by their coronary artery disease after 15 to 20 hours of therapy. As demonstrated in our clinical
studies, positive effects have been shown in most patients to continue for years following a full course of therapy.
During EECP® therapy, the patient lies on a contoured treatment table while three sets of inflatable pressure cuffs, resembling oversized blood pressure
cuffs, are wrapped around the calves, and the lower and upper thighs, including the buttocks. The system is synchronized to the individual patient’s cardiac cycle
triggering the system to inflate the cuffs rapidly and sequentially -- via computer-interpreted ECG signals -- starting from the calves and proceeding upward to the
buttocks during the relaxation phase of each heartbeat (diastole). This has the effect of creating a strong retrograde arterial wave in the arterial system, forcing
freshly oxygenated blood towards coronary arteries and myocardium at a time when resistance to coronary blood flow is at its lowest level. The inflation of cuffs
also simultaneously increases the volume of venous blood that is returned to the heart when the heart is filling up for ejection in the following contracting
phase. Just prior to the next heartbeat when the heart begins to eject blood by contracting (systole), all three cuffs simultaneously deflate, leaving an empty
vascular space to receive blood ejecting from the heart, thereby significantly reducing the workload of the heart. This is achieved because the vascular beds in the
lower extremities are relatively empty when the cuffs are deflated, significantly lowering the resistance, and provide vascular space to receive the blood ejected by
the heart, reducing the amount of work the heart must do to pump oxygenated blood to the rest of the body. The inflation/deflation activity is monitored constantly
and coordinated by the computerized system that interprets electrocardiogram signals from the patient’s heart, monitors heart rhythm and rate information, and
actuates the inflation and deflation in synchronization with the cardiac cycles. Many safety features are also built into the system to cope with irregular or
unexpected cardiac events and external interferences or artifacts.
Independent research aiming to fully explain the precise scientific means by which EECP ® therapy achieves its long-term beneficial effects continues to be
conducted and published every year. There is evidence to suggest that the EECP® therapy triggers a neurohormonal response that induces the production of
growth and vasodilatation factors that promotes recruitment of new arteries and dilates existing blood vessels. The recruitment of new arteries, known as collateral
blood vessels, bypass blocked or narrowed vessels and increase blood flow to ischemic areas of the heart muscle that were receiving an inadequate supply of
blood. There is also evidence to support a mechanism related to improved function of the endothelium (the inner lining of the blood vessels), which regulates the
luminal size of the arteries and controls the dilation of the arteries to ensure adequate blood flow to all organs, thus reducing constriction of blood vessels that
supply oxygenated blood to the body’s organs and tissues and as a result the reduced workload of the heart.
Clinical Studies on EECP® Therapy
The effectiveness of EECP therapy and its mechanisms of action have been demonstrated in numerous clinical studies and journal publications, as follows:
The MUST-EECP® Study
In 1995, we began a randomized, controlled and double-blinded multicenter clinical study (MUST-EECP ®) at seven leading university hospitals in the
United States to provide definitive scientific evidence of EECP® therapy’s effectiveness. MUST-EECP® was completed in July 1997 and the results were published
in the Journal of the American College of Cardiology (JACC) , a major peer-review medical journal, in June 1999.
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This 139 patient study, which included a sham-EECP ® control group, demonstrated that patients treated with EECP ® therapy were able to increase the
amount of time on exercise testing before they showed signs of cardiac ischemia (i.e. ST-segment depression on their electrocardiogram) and experienced a
reduction in the frequency of their angina attacks compared to patients who did not receive EECP® therapy. In 1999, physician collaborators completed a qualityof-life study with the EECP® system in a subset of the same patients that participated in MUST-EECP ®. Two highly regarded standardized means of measurement
were used to gauge changes in patients’ outlook and ability to participate in normal daily living during the treatment phase and for up to 12 months after
treatment. Results of this study, which have been presented at major scientific meetings and published in the January 2002 Journal of Investigative Medicine, show
that after one-year of follow-up the group of patients receiving EECP ® therapy enjoyed significantly improved aspects of health-related quality of life compared to
those who received a sham treatment.
The PEECH™ Study
The protocol for the study required that patients have NYHA II or III symptoms, have an LVEF of 35% or less, be able to undergo exercise testing and
complete patient examinations 1-week, 3-months and 6-months following treatment that evaluated changes from baseline in exercise capacity, symptom status
and quality of life. Patients were randomized to receive either optimal (i.e. guideline-recommended) pharmaceutical therapy (OPT) or EECP® therapy in addition to
OPT. The 187 patient trial was completed in 2004 and the results were published by the Journal of the American College of Cardiology (JACC) in its September
19, 2006 issue.
The PEECH™ trial was designed to demonstrate that the EECP ® therapy combined with OPT, compared to OPT alone, could increase patients’ exercise
duration and peak oxygen consumption. Additional endpoints include changes in NYHA functional classification, changes in quality of life, adverse experiences
and pre-defined clinical outcomes. The study was a positive clinical trial on the basis that a significantly greater proportion of patients who underwent EECP ®
therapy improved their exercise duration by 60 seconds or more six months following completion of therapy compared to those who received OPT alone. The
proportion of patients achieving a 1.25 mL/kg/min improvement in peak oxygen consumption was not significantly different between the two groups at six
months. The trial also demonstrated an improved quality of life during follow up. Lastly, EECP ® therapy was deemed safe and well tolerated in this group of
patients, as patients in the EECP®-treated group did not suffer more adverse events than those in the control group.
In the November-December 2006 issue of the journal Congestive Heart Failure, a second report of results from the PEECH ä trial was published, focusing
on the results of a prespecified subgroup analysis in trial patients age 65 and over. This analysis demonstrated a statistically positive response on both co-primary
endpoints of the trial in patients receiving EECP ® therapy versus those who did not, i.e. a significantly larger proportion of patients undergoing EECP ® therapy met
or exceeded prespecified thresholds of improvement in exercise duration and peak oxygen consumption. Moreover, the patients age 65 and older who received
EECP® therapy demonstrated the greatest differences in exercise duration, peak oxygen consumption and functional class (symptom status) compared with those
who did not receive EECP® therapy.
The results of the PEECH™ trial indicate that EECP ® therapy provides beneficial adjunctive therapy in patients with NYHA Class II-III systolic heart failure
receiving optimal pharmacological therapy, especially in those 65 years of age or older.
The International EECP® Patient Registry (IEPR ™)
In 1998 we sponsored the International Patient EECP ® Registries (IEPR™) with the Department of Epidemiology Data Center at the University of
Pittsburgh, Graduate School of Public Health as the coordinating center responsible for data collection, processing, as well as performing error and consistency
checks and analysis. The IEPR™ is a voluntary registry recording consecutive patients enrolled in clinical sites undergoing for at least 1 hour of EECP ®
therapy. The objective of IEPR™ was to document the baseline characteristics, safety and effectiveness of EECP ® therapy in the treatment of chronic
angina. Over 5,000 patients have been enrolled from 84 sites, constituting Phase I of the International EECP® Patient Registry (IEPR ™-1). Patients in IEPR™-1
were to be followed for 3 years, and the data collection was completed in September 2004. Phase II of the International EECP® Patient Registry (IEPR ™-2) was
initiated in January 2002 and reached the target enrollment of 2,500 patients in September 2004. Data captured at the beginning of treatment include patient
demographic characteristics, medical history and pre-treatment quality of life (Duke Activity Status Index, or DASI). IEPR™-2 also added heart failure specific data
(including the Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire). After treatment completion, data was collected on improvement in anginal symptoms, quality of life,
and on any adverse events occurring during the treatment period. Patients were contacted for follow-up at 6 and 12 months and then annually up to 2 years.
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There are 26 papers published in medical peer-reviewed journals and more than 85 presentations in major scientific/clinical conferences using data
collected in IEPR™.
IEPR™-1
The design, methods, baseline characteristics of patients enrolled in IEPR ™-1 and acute results of the first 978 patients was published in Clinical
Cardiology in June 2001, reporting data on patients considered to be candidates for revascularization compared with those not considered suitable. Of the 978
patients analyzed, 70% had Canadian Cardiovascular Society Classification (CCSC) class III or IV angina before starting EECP® treatment, and 62% used
nitroglycerin. Most (81%) had been previously revascularized, and 69% were considered unsuited for either PCI or CABG at the time of starting EECP®
treatment. A full treatment course (usually 35 hours) was completed in 86% of the patients, of whom 81% reported improvement of at least one angina class
immediately after the last treatment. In a broad patient population, EECP® therapy has been shown to be a safe and effective treatment.
Follow-up results of the two-year outcomes of 1,097 patients from the IEPR ™-1 were published in American Journal of Cardiology
2004. Seventy-three percent (73%) of patients in this cohort had a decrease in their angina symptom status upon completion of EECP® therapy and
number of angina episodes for the group was reduced from 10.6 to 2.8 per week. The improvement was significant and correlated with the reduction
Cardiovascular Society Classification.
The authors summarized the results by stating “Most patients experienced a significant reduction in
improvement in quality of life after EECP® therapy, and this reduction was sustained in most patients at 2-year follow-up.”

in February
the average
in Canadian
angina and

Three-year outcomes of 1,424 patients from 36 centers registered in the IEPR ™-1 were published in Clinical Cardiology in April 2008, with a median of
follow-up of 37 months. Two hundred and twenty patients (15.4%) died, while 1,061 patients (74.4%) completed their follow-up. The mean age was 66±11 years
and 72% were men. Seventy-six percent (76%) had multivessel coronary disease for 11±8 years. Eighty-eight percent (88%) had a prior percutaneous or surgical
revascularization and 82% were unsuitable for further coronary intervention. Immediately post-EECP® treatment, the proportion of patients with severe angina
CCS class III/IV was reduced from 89% to 25%. The CCS class was improved by at least 1 class in 78% of the patients and by at least 2 classes in 38% of the
patients. This was sustained in 74% of the patients during follow-up. Thirty-six percent (36%) of the patients had CCS II or less angina, which was better than preEECP® state without a major adverse cardiovascular event during follow-up. More severe baseline angina and a history of heart failure or diabetes were
independent predictors of unfavorable outcome. EECP® treatment improves angina and quality of life immediately after a course of treatment. For most of the
patients, these beneficial effects are sustained for 3 years.
IEPR™-2
Results of the two-year clinical outcomes from IEPR ™-2 in 363 patients who had refractory angina and left ventricular dysfunction (LVD – a form of heart
failure) with ejection fraction less than or equal to 35% were published in American Journal of Cardiology in January 2006. Most patients in this cohort reported
quality of life as poor. After completion of treatment, there was a significant decrease in severity of angina class, and 72% of patients improved from severe angina
to no angina or mild angina. Fifty-two percent (52%) of patients discontinued nitroglycerin use. Quality of life improved substantially. At 2 years this decrease in
angina was maintained in 55% of patients. The 2-year survival rate was 83%, and the major adverse cardiovascular event-free survival rate was 70%. Forty-three
percent (43%) had not reported cardiac hospitalization; 81% had no reported congestive heart failure events. Repeat EECP® treatment was performed in 20% of
these patients. The only significant independent predictor of repeat EECP® in a proportional hazard model was failure to complete the first EECP treatment course
(hazard ratio 2.9, 95% confidence interval 1.7 to 4.9). Improvements in angina symptoms and quality of life were maintained at 2 years. In conclusion, for patients
who have high-risk LVD, EECP® therapy offers an effective, durable therapeutic approach for refractory angina. Decreased angina and improvement in quality of
life were maintained at 2 years, with modest repeat EECP® treatment and low major cardiovascular event rates.
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In addition to collecting data on patients with history of heart failure, IEPR ™-2 also gathered data on patients who failed to complete an initial 35-hour
EECP® treatment course, published in Cardiology in November 2006. In 2,311 patients, 86.5% completed their EECP ® treatment course (Complete cohort) and
13.5% patients failing to complete (Incomplete cohort). The predictors of failure to complete the initial course of EECP® treatment course were: female gender,
heart failure, use of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers, and use of nitroglycerin. For the Complete group, 83.4% had a
reduction of at least one CCS class after their initial EECP® course, vs. 21.7% in the Incomplete group. After repeat EECP ® treatment, 66.2% of the Incomplete
group achieved at least one CCS class reduction vs. 69.4% of the Complete group undergoing retreatment. The independent predictors for those who return to
successfully complete their second course were patients who stopped their first course because of clinical events, and candidacy for coronary artery bypass
grafting at the time of initial treatment. The results of retreatment of those who failed to complete their initial EECP® course were comparable to those who
completed their initial treatment, with similar reductions of CCS angina class.
Significant Economic Benefits of EECP ® therapy
IEPR-2 also examined the economic impact of EECP ® treatment by collecting data on emergency department (ED) visits and hospitalizations in patients
with refractory angina and LVD. Patients with refractory angina and LVD exert an enormous burden on health care resources primarily because of the number of
recurrent emergency department (ED) visits and hospitalizations. Results from 450 patients with LVD (ejection fraction no more than 40%) treated with EECP®
therapy for their refractory angina with data on all-cause ED visits and hospitalization rates within 6-months before EECP® therapy were compared with those at 6months after EECP® therapy were analyzed and published in Congestive Heart Failure in February 2007. Despite the unfavorable risk profile, refractory angina
patients with LVD achieved a substantial reduction in all-cause ED visits and hospitalization rates at 6-month follow-up. The proportion of patients reporting at
least 1 ED visit in the 6 months after the start of treatment was 11.8%, and the proportion of patients reporting at least 1 hospital admission was 23.5%. The mean
number of ED visits per patient decreased from 0.9±2.0 pre-EECP to 0.2±0.7 at 6 months, and hospitalizations were reduced from 1.1±1.7 to 0.3±0.9, a reduction of
82%. EECP® therapy has the potential to save billions in healthcare costs each year, and the Company is educating payers on these benefits as part of its
campaign to expand reimbursement.
Registry data, while considered a valuable source of complementary clinical data, is deemed by researchers and others to be less convincing than data
from randomized and blinded clinical trials and from certain other well-controlled clinical study designs. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able
to obtain regulatory, reimbursement or other types of approvals, or a favorable standing in medical professional practice guidelines, based only upon results
observed in patients enrolled in registries.
Other studies and publications
There are at least 155 papers published in peer-reviewed medical journals related to external counterpulsation therapy since 1992, and many more
published in scientific and medical conferences all over the world. Most of these journal publications are clinical reports on the results in patients with chronic
stable angina and/or heart failure. With only a few exceptions, these reports are generated using Vasomedical EECP® therapy systems. In summary, this body of
literature contains evidence from a variety of institutions and investigators demonstrating the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying the benefits of EECP®
therapy and the beneficial clinical outcomes of EECP® therapy, as follows:
Mechanisms of Action
In the past five years, the mechanisms of action of EECP ® therapy have been the subjects of many investigations. It is now clear that during EECP ® therapy
the hemodynamic effect increases the pressure gradient across coronary stenosis, induces higher shear stress on the endothelial monolayer, promotes
angiogenesis and collateral development, improves endothelial functions, and reduces circulating proinflammatory cytokines, arterial stiffness and smooth muscle
cells proliferation and migration, slowing down the progression of atherosclerotic processes. EECP ® therapy:
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produces significant increase in coronary blood flow, cardiac output, LV unloading documented by in intracoronary pressure ultrasound Doppler
study;
stimulates development of angiogenesis and arteriogenesis resulting in recruitment of collateral circulation documented by intracoronary pressure
wire measurements;
improves endothelial function by increased plasmas nitric oxide and decreased endothelin-1 levels, producing vasodilation;
neutralizes reactive oxygen species by reduction of 8-isoprostance and asymmetrical dimethylarginine, reducing cells injury;
reduces inflammatory cytokines including tumor necrosis factor-α, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, soluble vascular cell adhesion molecule and
high-sensitivity C-reactive protein;
increases release of endothelial progenitor cell, improves endothelial functions and reduces smooth muscle cells migration and proliferation;
increases release of neurohormonal factors including angiotensin-II, ANP, BNP, improving control of vascular tone;
reduces arterial stiffness, reducing blood pressure and resistance to blood flow; and
increases flow-mediated dilation of the brachial and femoral arteries.
Beneficial clinical outcomes of EECP® therapy
increases myocardial perfusion to ischemic regions of the heart in patients with coronary artery disease (CAD), documented by radionuclide stress
tests, improving cardiac functions;
eliminates or reduces angina and heart failure symptoms;
improves exercise capacity in patients with CAD;
improves angina function class determined by Canadian Cardiovascular Society, improving functional capacity in patients with CAD and heart
failure;
reduces frequency of angina episodes and nitroglycerin usage in patients with refractory angina;
improves quality of life in patients with angina and heart failure;
eliminates or reduces the use of anti-angina medications;
Benefits are sustained for up to three to five years.
Sales and Marketing - EECP ®
Domestic Operations
We sell EECP ® therapy systems to treatment providers such as hospitals, clinics and physician private practices in the United States through a
combination of employees and independent sales representatives managed by a vice president of sales and marketing, along with in-house administrative
support. The efforts of our sales organization are further supported by clinical educators who are responsible for the onsite training of physicians and therapists as
new centers are established. This clinical applications group also engages in training and certification of new personnel at each site, as well as in updating
providers on new clinical developments relating to EECP® therapy.
Our marketing activities support physician education and physician outreach programs, exhibition at national, international and regional medical
conferences, as well as sponsorship of seminars at professional association meetings. These programs are designed to support our field sales organization and
increase awareness of EECP® therapy in the medical community. Our marketing activities also include promotion of awareness among third-party payers and
potential patients of the benefits of EECP® treatment for patients suffering from CHF as well as angina. Additional marketing projects completed this year include
an iPhone App for EECP® therapy and the creation of an online company store to promote the online sale of specific products, accessories and supplies. The
Company’s marketing resources have been expanded to include an additional marketing manager and an in-house telemarketing group.
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We employ service technicians responsible for the repair and maintenance of EECP ® systems and, in some instances, on-site training of a customer’s
biomedical engineering personnel. We provide a service arrangement (usually one year) that includes: service by factory-trained service representatives, material
and labor costs, emergency and remedial visits, software upgrades, technical phone support and preferred response times. We service our customers after the
service arrangement expires either under separately purchased annual service contracts or on a fee-for-service basis.
International Operations
We distribute our products in the international market primarily through a network of independent distributors . It has generally been our policy to appoint
distributors with exclusive marketing rights to EECP® therapy systems in their respective countries or regions, in exchange for their commitment to meet the duties
and responsibilities required of a distributor. Each distribution agreement contains a number of requirements that must be met for the distributor to retain
exclusivity, including minimum performance standards. Duties of the distributors include registering the product and obtaining any required regulatory or clinical
approvals to support local registration or reimbursement for EECP® therapy, as well as clinical and technical support to the therapy providers in their respective
territories.
Our international marketing activities include, among other things, assisting distributors in obtaining regulatory clearance and national or third-party
healthcare insurance reimbursement approval, participating in trade shows and medical conferences to create greater awareness and acceptance of EECP®
therapy by clinicians, and identifying additional distribution channels in those countries in which we do not currently have a presence.
International sales may be subject to certain risks, including export/import licenses, tariffs, and other trade regulations. However, tariff and trade policies,
domestic and foreign tax and economic policies, currency exchange rate fluctuations and international monetary conditions have not significantly affected our
business to date. In addition, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in maintaining our existing distribution agreements or entering into any
additional distribution agreements, or that our international distributors will be successful in marketing EECP® therapy.
Competition - EECP®
Presently, we are aware of at least three direct competitors with an external counterpulsation device on the market. Some other companies have also
received FDA 510(k) clearance for external counterpulsation systems since 1998, although we have not seen these systems commercially available in the
marketplace. While we believe that these competitors’ involvement in the market is limited, there can be no assurance that these companies will not become a
significant competitive factor or that other companies will not enter the external counterpulsation market.
We view other companies engaged in the development of device-related, biotechnological or pharmacological approaches to the management of
cardiovascular disease as potential competitors in the marketplace as well. These include such common and well-established medical devices and treatments as
the intra-aortic balloon pump (IABP), ventricular assist devices (VAD), coronary artery bypass graft surgery (CABG), coronary angioplasty, mechanical circulatory
support (MCS), transmyocardial laser revascularization (TMR), total artificial hearts, cardiac resynchronization devices, ranolazine and nesiritide (Natrecorâ); as
well as newer technologies such as gene therapy and spinal cord stimulation (SCS).
Government Regulations - EECP®
We are subject to extensive regulation by numerous government regulatory agencies, including the FDA and similar foreign agencies. Where applicable,
we are required to comply with laws, regulations and standards governing the development, preclinical and clinical testing, manufacturing, quality testing, labeling,
promotion, import, export, and distribution of our medical devices.
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Premarket Review
Our EECP ® therapy systems are currently classified by the US FDA as Class III devices, which include devices for which there is insufficient information
demonstrating that general and special controls will provide reasonable assurance of safety and effectiveness and which are life-sustaining, life-supporting or
implantable devices, are of substantial importance in preventing impairment of human health, or pose a potential unreasonable risk of illness or injury. The FDA
generally must clear a Class III device for marketing in the United States by a premarket approval or PMA, unless it is considered as a preamendments device –
device that was commercially distributed before May 28, 1976 – and thus can be cleared by premarket notification, or 510(k). The company’s initial
system received FDA 510 (k) clearance in 1995, with later models receiving clearance at various times between 2000 and 2003.
Modifications to a previously cleared medical device that do not significantly affect its safety and effectiveness or constitute a major change in the intended
use can be made without having to submit a new 510(k). Vasomedical followed relevant FDA guidance and concluded that the changes incorporated into its Model
TS4 did not require a new 510(k) prior to its introduction to market. Vasomedical subsequently obtained a 510(k) that applied to the Model TS4 and all of its models
in March 2004, when it made changes to the labeling of all of its EECP® therapy systems. In November 2004, Model Lumenair and AngioNew ®-VI were introduced,
and again it was concluded that the changes did not require a new 510(k).
There can be no assurance that all the necessary FDA clearances or approvals, including approval of any PMA required by the promulgation of a
regulation, will be granted for our products, future-generation upgrades or newly developed products, on a timely basis or at all. Failure to receive, or delays in
receipt of such clearances, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Clinical Trials
If human clinical trials of a device are required, whether to support a 510(k) or PMA application, the trials’ sponsor, which is usually the manufacturer of the
device, first must obtain the approval of the appropriate institutional review boards. If a trial is of a significant risk device, the sponsor also must obtain an
investigational device exemption, or IDE, from the FDA before the trial may begin. For all clinical testing, the sponsor must obtain informed consent from the
patients participating in each trial. There is no guarantee that the sponsor, whether Vasomedical or others, will obtain all necessary approvals, exemptions and
consents before future clinical trials, and furthermore, the results of clinical testing that a sponsor undertakes may be insufficient to obtain clearance or approval of
the tested product.
Pervasive and Continuing FDA Regulation
We are also subject to other FDA regulations that apply prior to and after a product is commercially released. These include the current Good
Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) requirements, set forth in FDA’s Quality System Regulation (QSR), that require manufacturers to have a quality system for the
design, manufacture, packaging, labeling, storage, installation and servicing of medical devices intended for commercial distribution in the United States. This
regulation covers various areas including management and organization, device design, purchase and handling of components, production and process controls
such as those related to buildings and equipment, packaging and labeling control, distribution, installation, complaint handling, corrective and preventive action,
servicing, and records. We are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA for compliance with the cGMP requirements and Quality System Regulation.
The FDA also enforces post-marketing controls that include the requirement to submit medical device reports to the agency when a manufacturer becomes
aware of information suggesting that any of its marketed products may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury, or any of its products has
malfunctioned and that a recurrence of the malfunction would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury. The FDA relies on medical device reports to
identify product problems and utilizes these reports to determine, among other things, whether it should exercise its enforcement powers. The FDA also may
require post-market surveillance studies for specified devices.
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We are subject to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act’s, or FDCA’s, general controls, including establishment registration, device listing, and labeling
requirements. If we fail to comply with any requirements under the FDCA, we, including our officers and employees, could be subject to, among other things, fines,
injunctions, civil penalties, and criminal prosecution. We also could be subject to recalls or product corrections, total or partial suspension of production, denial of
premarket notification clearance or PMA approval, and rescission or withdrawal of clearances and approvals. Our products could be detained or seized, the FDA
could order a recall, repair, replacement, or refund of our devices, and the agency could require us to notify health professionals and others that the devices present
unreasonable risks of substantial harm to the public health.
The advertising of our products is subject to regulation by the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC. The FTC Act prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or
practices in or affecting commerce. Violations of the FTC Act, such as failure to have substantiation for product claims, would subject us to a variety of enforcement
actions, including compulsory process, cease and desist orders and injunctions, which can require, among other things, limits on advertising, corrective advertising,
consumer redress and restitution, as well as substantial fines or other penalties.
As a sales channel partner, we are subject to various federal, state and local laws targeting fraud and abuse in the healthcare industry, including antikickback and false claims laws.
Foreign Regulation
In most countries to which we seek to export our EECP ® systems, a local regulatory clearance must be obtained. The regulatory review process varies
from country to country and can be complex, costly, uncertain, and time-consuming. Vasomedical EECP ® systems are all manufactured in accordance with ISO
13485, the international standard for medical devices. All our current systems are UL listed, as well as CE marking certified for European Union countries, and
covered by our Health Canada license.
We are also subject to periodic audits by organizations authorized by foreign countries to determine compliance with laws, regulations and standards that
apply to the commercialization of our products in those markets. Examples include auditing by a European Union Notified Body organization (authorized by a
member state’s Competent Authority) to determine conformity with the Medical Device Directives (MDD) and by an organization authorized by the Canadian
government to determine conformity with the Canadian Medical Devices Regulations (CMDR).
There can be no assurance that we will obtain desired foreign authorizations to commercially distribute our products in those markets or that we will comply
with all laws, regulations and standards that pertain to our products in those markets. Failure to receive or delays in receipt of such authorizations or determinations
of conformity could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Patient Privacy
Federal and state laws protect the confidentiality of certain patient health information, including patient records, and restrict the use and disclosure of that
protected information. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) published patient privacy rules under the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA privacy rule) and the regulation was finalized in October 2002. Currently, the HIPAA privacy rule affects us only indirectly in that
patient data that we access, collect and analyze may include protected health information. Additionally, we have signed some Business Associate Agreements with
Covered Entities that contractually bind us to protect protected health information, consistent with the HIPAA privacy rule’s requirements. We do not expect the
costs and impact of the HIPAA privacy rule to be material to our business.
Practice Guidelines
Medical professional societies periodically issue Practice Guidelines to their members and make them available publicly. The American College of
Cardiology (ACC) and the American Heart Association (AHA) have jointly engaged in developing practice guidelines since 1980 to critically evaluate the use of
diagnostic procedures and therapies in the management or prevention of cardiovascular diseases. These guidelines are meant to “improve the effectiveness of
care, optimize patient outcomes and affect the overall cost of care favorably by focusing resources on the most effective strategies.” Recommendations
incorporated into the guidelines are based upon an assessment of the strength of evidence for or against a treatment or procedure and estimates of expected
health outcomes stemming from a formal review of peer-reviewed published literature. These guidelines may not be updated for some time.
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T h e ACC/AHA 2002 Guideline Update for the Management of Patients with Chronic Stable Angina was issued in 2003. Comments on external
counterpulsation appear in a section entitled Recommendations for Alternative Therapies for Chronic Stable Angina in Patients Refractory to Medical Therapy Who
Are Not Candidates for Percutaneous Intervention or Surgical Revascularization and include a so-called Class IIb recommendation. ACC/AHA guideline
classifications I, II and III are used to “provide final recommendations for both patient evaluation and therapy” and a Class IIb rating is defined as
“Usefulness/efficacy is less well established by evidence/opinion.”
An Update to the 2002 ACC/AHA Guidelines has been under review by the ACC Guidelines Committee for the Guideline Update for the Management of
Patients with Chronic Stable Angina and was originally scheduled for release in spring 2011. Based upon the publication of numerous randomized, controlled
studies in the last five years on the mechanisms of action of EECP® therapy, the Company made a formal request, and has contacted all domestic EECP®
providers and key opinion leaders in the field of cardiology to support its request, for an upgrade from the Class IIb classification to a IIa level, consistent with the
current published scientific evidence. The update has been delayed with no new release date available.
The ACC/AHA 2005 Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Chronic Heart Failure in the Adult was issued in 2005. External counterpulsation is
listed as one of the devices under investigation in a section entitled “Drugs and Interventions Under Active Investigation.” The 2006 Comprehensive Heart Failure
Practice Guideline, issued in February 2006 by the Heart Failure Society of America, does not include any comments on the use of external counterpulsation
therapy for treating heart failure patients.
In summary, while there is still some reluctance in the cardiology community about the broader use of EECP ® therapy, positive evaluations of its
application for patients with chronic angina and heart failure continue to appear in presentations at major scientific meetings and in peer-reviewed publications each
year. We believe the new evidence from completed and ongoing studies regarding the efficacy of EECP® therapy and its long lasting effect will be sufficient to
warrant a modification of practice guidelines to a more favorable recommendation, increased acceptance by the medical community, and broader reimbursement
coverage.
Reimbursement for EECP® Therapy
In addition to regulatory approvals by government agencies for commercialization, reimbursement coverage and payment rates are factors in the sales of
our products and we depend in large part on the availability of reimbursement programs. Medicare, Medicaid, as well as private health care insurance and
managed-care plans determine eligibility for coverage of a product or therapy based on a number of factors, including the payer’s determination that the product is
reasonable and necessary for the diagnosis or treatment of the illness or injury for which it is administered according to the scope of clinical evidence available,
accepted standards of medical care in practice, the product’s cost effectiveness, whether the product is experimental or investigational, impact on health outcomes
and whether the product is not otherwise excluded from coverage by law or regulation. The decision process for Medicare reimbursement is legislated by
Congress and administered by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), and is highly variable in the commercial market. There may be significant
delays in obtaining coverage for newly-approved products, and coverage may be more limited than the purposes for which the product is approved or cleared by
FDA. Even when we obtain clearance from the US FDA or a foreign authority to begin commercial distribution of a device, there may be limited demand for the
device until reimbursement approval is granted by governmental and private third-party payers. Moreover, eligibility for coverage does not imply that a product will
be reimbursed in all cases or at a rate that allows us to market our EECP ® systems at a price that will enable us to make a profit or even cover our
costs. Reimbursement rates may vary according to the use of the product and the clinical setting in which it is used, may be based on payments allowed for lowercost products that are already reimbursed, may be incorporated into existing payments for other products or services, and may reflect budgetary constraints and/or
imperfections in Medicare or Medicaid data. In addition, demand for products may be driven more by the scope of peer-reviewed evidence and acceptance,
endorsement by regulatory and clinical bodies, or foreign country authorities than by the reimbursement rates available. Securing coverage at adequate
reimbursement rates from government and third party payers can be a time consuming and costly process that could require us to provide supporting scientific,
clinical, and cost-effectiveness data for the use of our products to each payer. If favorable coverage and profitable reimbursement rates from government-funded
and private payers for our products are not obtained in a timely manner and maintained, there may be a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
operating results.
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Our reimbursement strategies are currently focused in the following areas: expanding coverage to include heart failure and mild angina, modifying
reimbursement policy language to allow for EECP ® therapy as a first line treatment for severe angina, increasing the reimbursement rate of current coverage, and
obtaining coverage in selected international markets.
Current Medicare Coverage in Angina
In February 1999, CMS, the federal agency that administers the Medicare program for more than 46.6 million beneficiaries now, issued a national coverage
policy under HCPCS code G0166 for the use of the EECP® therapy system. Key excerpts from the coverage read as follows:
“Although ECP devices are cleared by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for use in treating a variety of cardiac conditions, including stable or
unstable angina pectoris, acute myocardial infarction and cardiogenic shock, the use of this device to treat cardiac conditions other than stable
angina pectoris is not covered, since only that use has developed sufficient evidence to demonstrate its medical effectiveness.”
“… for patients who have been diagnosed with disabling angina (class III or class IV, Canadian Cardiovascular Society Classification or equivalent
classification) who, in the opinion of a cardiologist or cardiothoracic surgeon, are not readily amenable to surgical interventions such as balloon
angioplasty and cardiac bypass because:
1. their condition is inoperable, or at high risk of operative complications or post-operative failure;
2. their coronary anatomy is not readily amenable to such procedures; or
3. they have co-morbid states, which create excessive risk.”
The physician office setting and the hospital outpatient facility are the only entities currently authorized to receive reimbursement for the EECP ® therapy
under the Medicare program and reimbursement is not permitted to other individuals or entity types, which include, but are not limited to, nurse practitioners,
physical therapists, ambulatory surgery centers, nursing homes, comprehensive outpatient rehabilitation facilities, outpatient dialysis facilities, and independent
diagnostic testing facilities. The 2011 national average payment rate per hourly EECP® therapy session in the physician office setting and the hospital outpatient
facility is $153.23 and $101.62, respectively. Actual reimbursement rates vary throughout the country and range from $140 to $216 per hourly EECP® therapy
session in the physician office setting. The national average payment rate varied considerably (from $130 in 2000 to $208 in 2003 for physician offices), but has
become stable since 2004, as in the summary below:

Year
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011

Physician Office
$137
$138
$138
$147
$156
$150
$148
$153

Hospital
$113
$102
$104
$107
$109
$102
$104
$102

If there were any material change in the availability of Medicare coverage, or if the reimbursement level for treatment procedures using the EECP ® therapy
system is determined to be inadequate, it would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, we are unable to forecast
what additional legislation or regulation, if any, relating to the health care industry or Medicare coverage and payment level may be enacted in the future, or what
effect such legislation or regulation would have on our business.
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Application to Expand Medicare Coverage to include Class II Angina and Class II/III CHF
On May 31, 2005, we submitted to CMS, and on June 20, 2005, CMS accepted our application for expansion of reimbursement coverage of EECP ® therapy
to include patients with NYHA Class II/III stable heart failure symptoms with an ejection fraction of less than or equal to 35%, i.e. chronic, stable, mild-to-moderate
systolic heart failure as a primary indication, as well as patients with CCSC II, i.e. chronic, stable mild angina.
On March 20, 2006, CMS issued their Decision Memorandum regarding the applications with the opinion “that the evidence is not adequate to conclude
that external counterpulsation therapy is reasonable and necessary for the treatment of” the additional indications as requested. They did, however, reiterate in the
Decision Memorandum that “Current coverage as described in Section 20.20 of the Medicare National Coverage Determination (NCD) manual will remain in effect”
for refractory angina patients. We had subsequently submitted to CMS more data and publications from our PEECH™ study and were advised to continue to
gather more clinical evidence for future submission.
Based on the new clinical evidence in the past five years, we have started an initiative campaigning for a positive medical necessity decision in support of
the use of EECP® therapy in the treatment of heart failure. At the same time, we will continue to educate the marketplace that EECP® therapy is a therapy for
ischemic cardiovascular disease and that patients with a primary diagnosis of heart failure, diabetes, peripheral vascular disease, etc., are also eligible for
reimbursement under the current coverage policy, provided the primary indication for treatment with EECP ® therapy is angina or angina equivalent symptoms and
the patient satisfies other listed criteria.
Coverage with Other Third-Party Payers
Since the establishment of reimbursement for EECP ® therapy by the federal government, an increasing number of private third-party payers have routinely
provided coverage for the use of EECP® therapy for the treatment of angina and have issued positive coverage policies, which are generally similar to Medicare’s
coverage policy in scope. We estimate that over 300 private insurers are providing reimbursement coverage for EECP® therapy for the treatment of angina today at
favorable payment levels, and we expect that the number of private insurers and their related health plans that provide for EECP ® therapy as a covered benefit will
continue to increase. In addition, some third-party payers began limited coverage of EECP® therapy for the treatment of CHF. On the other hand, there are private
insurance carriers that continue to adjudicate EECP ® treatment claims on a case-by-case basis.
We continue to pursue a constructive dialogue with many private insurers for the establishment of positive and expanded coverage policies for EECP ®
treatment that include CHF patients and have engaged a consulting firm to assist us in co-sponsoring a study with a major commercial healthcare third-party payer
demonstrating the efficacy, efficiency, and/or cost effectiveness of EECP ® therapy for NYHA Class II/III heart failure.
If there were any significant reduction in the availability of third-party private insurers or the adequacy of the reimbursement level for treatment procedures
using the EECP® therapy system, it would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, we are unable to forecast what
additional legislation or regulation, if any, relating to the health care industry or third-party private insurers’ coverage and payment levels may be enacted in the
future or what effect such legislation or regulation would have on us.
Reimbursement in International Markets
The reimbursement environment for EECP ® therapy in international markets is fragmented and coverage varies. Our reimbursement strategy has changed
to be more proactive and create opportunities through our distribution partners. Our current efforts on behalf of EECP® therapy in both the private and public
healthcare sectors of selected international markets are being initiated jointly by the company and its distributors in their designated territories. We do not
anticipate a significant impact on financial performance in the next fiscal year, given the long lead time from submission to approval of international dossiers for
each reimbursement authority.

16

Other Medical Equipment
In our effort to diversify our medical equipment offering, in May 2008 we first obtained exclusive distribution rights for BIOX series ECG Holter and ambulatory blood
pressure monitoring products in the North American market. The growing market for ECG Holter and ambulatory blood pressure monitoring products worldwide is
expected to exceed $150 million by 2015. While there are multiple competitors in the marketplace, we believe that due to certain special features of our products,
and through our sales and marketing efforts in niche markets, we will increase sales revenue and create opportunities for other products the Company
manufactures or distributes.
In April 2009 the Company received its first 510(k) clearance to begin marketing the BIOX Model 1305 3-Channel ECG Holter and CB Series Analysis Software. In
April 2010, the Company received its 510(k) clearance to market its Model 2301 Combined 3-Channel ECG Holter and Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitor,
believed to be the first of its kind ever cleared by the US FDA. In June 2011, the Company received 510(k) clearances for four additional BIOX series products:
Model 2302 Combined 12-Channel ECG Holter and Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitor; Model 1804 Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitor; Model 1304 12-Channel
ECG Holter Recorder; and the Model 1303 Ultra Compact 3-Channel ECG Holter Recorder, one of the world’s smallest and lightest ECG Holter recorders. The
Company’s BIOX product line now offers the clinician a complete and unique line of diagnostic products to meet all their ambulatory monitoring needs.
The BIOX series ECG Holter and ambulatory blood pressure monitoring products are manufactured by BIOX Instruments Co. Ltd. in Wuxi, China, under the current
Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) requirements as set forth in the FDA Quality System Regulation as well as ISO 13485 standard, the international quality
standard for medical devices. BIOX’ manufacturing facility has also been certified to conform to full quality assurance system requirements of the EU Medical
Device Directive and other requirements by various government authorities. These medical products have been classified by the U.S. FDA as Class II products.
In cooperation with BIOX Instruments Co. Ltd., the Company is also promoting its joint R&D and manufacturing capabilities to secure OEM opportunities in the
United States, as well as pursue international sales opportunities for the product line through its global distribution channel outside of its designated North American
territory.
Additionally, the Company continues to distribute a line of private label patient management products first introduced in April 2009. These products include the
hand held EZ ECG™ Monitor, the EZ O2™ Adult and EZ O2™ Pediatric Pulse Oximeters, and the EZ O2™ Wrist Oximeter.
VasoHealthcare Business
In April 2010 we established VasoDiagnostics (d/b/a VasoHealthcare), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vasomedical, Inc. as a professional specialized sales
channel partner for the healthcare industry. On May 19, 2010 we signed our first sales representative agreement with GE Healthcare (GEHC), the healthcare
business unit of GE, to sell certain GEHC diagnostic imaging products, financial services, and point of sale maintenance agreements on an exclusive basis to
assigned healthcare providers in the 48 contiguous states of the United States and District of Columbia. The GEHC Agreement is for an initial term of three years
commencing July 1, 2010, subject to extension and also earlier termination under certain circumstances. We report VasoHealthcare activities under our Sales
Representation reportable segment.
The Company earns commissions under the GEHC Agreement based upon achieving certain calendar year targets. Our commission rate increases as
targets are met, resulting in higher rates, should we meet our targets, as the year progresses. The progressive nature of our agreement can thus result in
significantly higher commissions due us in our fourth and first fiscal quarters as compared to the second and third fiscal quarters.
Sales and Marketing
We sell diagnostic imaging products to our assigned market through a nationwide team of sales employees managed by a vice president of sales and several
regional managers, supported by in-house administrative support and product specialists, as well as applicable GEHC employees.
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Competition
In the U.S. diagnostic imaging market, our main competitors are Philips, Siemens, Hologic and Toshiba. Key competitive factors in the market include price,
quality, delivery speed, service and support, innovation, distribution network, breadth of product and service offerings and brand name recognition. We believe
GEHC is a leading competitor in this market.

Strategic Objectives
Our short- and long-term plans for the growth of the Company and its stockholder value are:
a) Maintain and grow our equipment business, by
i) Continuing to align the cost structure with revenue growth, including increased funding of marketing initiatives;
ii) Expanding our direct sales force to significantly increase revenue, particularly from EECP ® equipment and service sales; and
iii) Increasing our international efforts to grow international sales of all our device offerings.
b) Continue to diversify our product offerings, by
i) Identifying and introducing other medical device products and opportunities that fit into our target market; and
ii) Working with select partners to develop our medical device OEM business.
c) Work with consultants to expand reimbursement coverage for EECP ® therapy, by
i) Submitting up-to-date treatment effectiveness data and cost saving evidence to CMS and third party payers for consideration of EECP ® as a first
line treatment option for angina and for expansion of coverage to include heart failure; and
ii) If necessary, organizing and/or conducting clinical trials to demonstrate the cost saving benefits of EECP ® therapy.
d) Maintain and improve business performance in our sales representation segment by expanding the GE Healthcare product modalities we represent,
and possibly building new teams to represent other vendors.
The above-listed strategic objectives are forward-looking statements. We review, modify and change our strategic objectives from time to time based upon
changing business conditions. There can be no assurance that we will be able to achieve our strategic objectives and, even if these results are achieved, risks and
uncertainties could cause actual results to differ materially from anticipated results. Financial resource availability may reduce our ability to achieve these strategic
objectives. Please see the section of this Form 10-K entitled “Risk Factors” for a description of certain risks, among others that may cause our actual results to vary
from the forward-looking statements.
Patents and Trademarks
We own eleven US patents including eight utility and three design patents that expire at various times between now and 2023. We will from time to time file
other patent applications regarding specific enhancements to the current EECP® models, future generation products, and methods of treatment in the
future. Moreover, trademarks have been registered for the names “EECP”, “AngioNew”, “Natural Bypass”, “Vasomedical”, “Vasomedical EECP” and
“VasoHealthcare”.
We pursue a policy of seeking patent protection, both in the US and abroad, for our proprietary technology. We believe that we have a solid patent
foundation in the field of external counterpulsation devices and that the number of patents and applications demonstrates our technical leadership, dating back to
the mid-1980s. Our patent portfolio focuses on the areas of external counterpulsation control and the overall design and arrangement of the external
counterpulsation apparatus, including the console, treatment bed, fluid distribution, and inflatable cuffs. None of our current competitors have a significant patent
portfolio in the area of external counterpulsation devices.
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There can be no assurance that our patents will not be violated or that any issued patents will provide protection that has commercial significance. As with
any patented technology, litigation could be necessary to protect our patent position. Such litigation can be costly and time-consuming, and there can be no
assurance that we will be successful. The loss or violation of our EECP® patents and trademarks could have a material adverse effect upon our business.
Employees
As of May 31, 2011, we employed 109 full-time persons. None of our employees are represented by a labor union. We believe that our employee relations
are good.
The Company also uses several part-time employees and consultants from time to time for various purposes.
Manufacturing
Vasomedical maintains its manufacturing capacity in the Westbury, NY location to satisfy domestic and international needs for the TS4 and Lumenair
EECP® systems, and contracts with Life Enhancement Technology Co. Ltd. for the manufacture of AngioNew ® and Lumenair EECP ® systems. Life Enhancement
Technology was, until 2009, the manufacturing facility of AngioNew® systems for Living Data Technology Corp., a stockholder of Vasomedical. All EECP ® systems
that it makes now are exclusively for Vasomedical.
All manufacturing operations in Vasomedical and Life Enhancement Technology are conducted under the current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP)
requirements as set forth in the FDA Quality System Regulation as well as ISO 13485 standard, the international quality standard for medical device
manufacturers. We are also certified to conform to full quality assurance system requirements of the EU Medical Device Directive and can apply the CE marking to
some of our products ourselves. Lastly, we are certified to comply with the requirements of the Canadian Medical Device Regulations (CMDR) and with all UL
safety requirements. All these regulations and standards subject us to inspections to verify compliance and require us to maintain documentation and controls for
the manufacturing and quality activities.
We believe our manufacturing capacity and warehouse facility are adequate to meet the current and immediately foreseeable future demand for the
production of EECP ® systems. We believe our suppliers of the other medical devices we distribute or represent are capable of meeting our demand for the
foreseeable future.
Subsequent Event
Effective August 19, 2011, the Company, through its newly formed subsidiary, Vasomedical Acquisition Corp., signed an agreement to purchase Life Enhancement
Technology Limited and Biox Instruments Co., Ltd., both of which are based in the People’s Republic of China.
The purchase agreement for these acquisitions provides for a cash payment at closing of $1,000,000 and the issuance of 5,000,000 restricted shares of the
Company’s common stock together with two year purchase warrants to acquire an aggregate of 1,500,000 additional shares of common stock at market price, as
defined, but in no event at a price less than $.50 per share nor greater than $1.00 per share. The sellers also have the right to acquire up to 2,400,000 additional
shares of common stock entirely based on calendar 2011 financial performance.
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ITEM 1A - RISK FACTORS
Investing in our common stock involves risk. You should carefully consider the following information about these risks together with the other information
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business could be harmed. This could cause the price of our stock to
decline, and you may lose part or all of your investment.
Financial Risks
We have incurred recurring losses over the past few years and may continue to sustain losses.
During the last few fiscal years we incurred large operating losses, and we may continue to sustain operating losses. Our ability to achieve profitability is
dependent on many factors, including the sufficient and timely generation and recognition of revenue in our Sales Representation segment, the success of our
marketing and sales efforts in the Equipment segment, as well as the success of our other strategic initiatives.
Risks Related to Our Business
We currently derive a significant amount of our revenue from our agreement with GEHC and our continued growth is relationship dependent.
On May 19, 2010, we signed a sales representation agreement with GEHC, the healthcare business unit of the General Electric Company, for the sale of
select GEHC diagnostic imaging products. Under the GEHC Agreement, we have been appointed the exclusive representative for these products to specific
market segments in the 48 contiguous states of the United States and the District of Columbia. The GEHC Agreement has an initial term of three years
commencing July 1, 2010, subject to extension and also subject to earlier termination under certain circumstances.
A significant amount of our fiscal 2011 revenue arose from activities under this contract. Moreover, our growth depends partially on the territories assigned to
VasoHealthcare by GEHC, and thus relies on our ability to demonstrate our added value as a channel partner, and maintain a positive relationship with GEHC. We
believe we have met or exceeded the contractual obligations and expectations of this agreement and have built a positive relationship with GEHC; however, there is
no assurance that the agreement will be renewed before it expires. Should GEHC not renew the contract, it would have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.
We are materially dependent on the expansion of medical reimbursement for treatment procedures using EECP ® therapy in order to achieve
significant growth in the domestic EECP® market.
Our domestic EECP® business is dependent on current medical reimbursement policies, which provide coverage for a restricted class of heart
patients. While we continue our dialogue with CMS and commercial payers to obtain expanded coverage for EECP® therapy, there is no assurance that the
Company will succeed in such efforts.
If we do not receive expanded medical coverage for the use of EECP

®

therapy, it will adversely affect our domestic EECP® therapy business.
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Material changes in the availability of Medicare, Medicaid or third-party reimbursement at adequate price levels could adversely affect our
domestic EECP® business.
Health care providers, such as hospitals and physician private practices in the U.S., that purchase or lease medical devices such as the EECP ® therapy
system for use on their patients generally rely on third-party payers, principally Medicare, Medicaid and private health insurance plans, to reimburse all or part of
the costs and fees associated with the procedures performed with these devices. If there were any significant reduction in the availability of Medicare, Medicaid or
other third-party coverage or the adequacy of the reimbursement level for treatment procedures using the EECP® therapy system, it would adversely affect our
domestic EECP® business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, we are unable to forecast what additional legislation or regulation, if any, relating
to the health care industry or Medicare or Medicaid coverage and payment level may be enacted in the future or what effect such legislation or regulation would
have on our business. Even if a device has FDA clearance, Medicare, Medicaid and other third-party payers may deny reimbursement if they conclude that the
device is not “reasonable and necessary” according to their criteria. In addition, reimbursement may not be at, or remain at, price levels adequate to allow medical
professionals and hospitals in the U.S. to realize an appropriate return on the purchase of our products.
Increased acceptance of EECP® therapy by the medical community is important for the growth of our EECP ® business.
While positive evaluations of the application of EECP ® therapy continue to appear in presentations at major scientific meetings and in peer-reviewed
publications each year, there is still skepticism concerning EECP ® therapy methodology. The American Heart Association and the American College of Cardiology
Practice Guidelines currently list EECP® as a therapy currently under investigation for treatment of heart failure and have a classification rating of IIb as a treatment
for angina patients who are refractory to medical therapy and are not candidates for percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) or coronary artery bypass grafting
(CABG). A classification rating of IIb indicates the usefulness/efficacy of EECP® therapy is less well established by evidence/opinion. The medical community
utilizes these guidelines when considering the various treatment options for their patients. Certain cardiologists, in cases where the EECP® therapy is a viable
alternative, still appear to prefer percutaneous coronary interventions (e.g. balloon angioplasty and stenting) and cardiac bypass surgery for their patients. Additional
evidence regarding the efficacy of EECP® therapy continues to evolve, however the evidence may not be sufficient to warrant a modification of these guidelines to
a more favorable recommendation and increased acceptance by the medical community. We are dependent on consistency of favorable research findings about
EECP® therapy and increasing acceptance of EECP ® therapy as a safe, effective and cost effective alternative to other available products by the medical
community for growth.
We face competition from other companies and technologies.
We compete with other companies that market medical devices in the global medical device marketplace. We do not know whether these companies, or
other potential competitors who may be developing medical devices, may succeed in developing technologies or products that are more efficient than those offered
by us, and that would render our technology and existing products obsolete or non-competitive. Potential new competitors may also have substantially greater
financial, manufacturing and marketing resources than those possessed by us. In addition, other technologies or products may be developed that have an entirely
different approach or means of accomplishing the intended purpose of our products. Accordingly, the life cycles of our products are difficult to estimate. To compete
successfully, we must keep pace with technological advancements, respond to evolving consumer requirements and achieve market acceptance.
We may not continue to receive necessary FDA clearances or approvals, which could hinder our ability to market and sell our products.
If we modify our medical devices and the modifications significantly affect safety or effectiveness, or if we make a change to the intended use, we will be
required to submit a new premarket notification, or 510(k), to FDA. We would not be able to market the modified device in the U.S. until FDA issues a clearance for
the 510(k).
Additionally, if FDA publishes a regulation requiring a premarket approval (PMA) application for the medical devices we market, we would then need to
submit a PMA, and have it filed with the agency, by the date specified by FDA in its regulation. A PMA requires us to prove the safety and effectiveness of a device
to the FDA. The process of obtaining PMA approval may require a clinical study and is expensive, time-consuming, and uncertain. If we did obtain PMA approval,
any change after approval affecting the safety or effectiveness of the device will require approval of a PMA supplement.
If we offer new products that require 510(k) clearance or PMA approval, we will not be able to commercially distribute those products until we receive such
clearance or approval. Regulatory agency approval or clearance for a product may not be received or may entail limitations on the device’s indications for use that
could limit the potential market for the product. Delays in receipt of, or failure to obtain or maintain, regulatory clearances and approvals, could delay or prevent our
ability to market or distribute our products. Such delays could have a material adverse effect on our equipment business.
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If we are unable to comply with applicable governmental regulations, we may not be able to continue our operations.
We also must comply with current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) requirements as set forth in the Quality System Regulation (QSR) to receive FDA
approval to market new products and to continue to market current products. The QSR imposes certain procedural and documentation requirements on us with
respect to manufacturing and quality assurance activities, including packaging, storage, and record keeping. Our products and activities are subject to extensive,
ongoing regulation, including regulation of labeling and promotion activities and adverse event reporting. Also, our FDA registered facilities are subject to inspection
by the FDA and other governmental authorities. Any failure to comply with regulatory requirements could delay or prevent our ability to market or distribute our
products. Violation of FDA statutory or regulatory requirements could result in enforcement actions, such as voluntary or mandatory recalls, suspension or
withdrawal of marketing clearances or approvals, seizures, injunctions, fines, civil penalties, and criminal prosecutions, all of which could have a material adverse
effect on our business. Most states also have similar post-market regulatory and enforcement authority for devices.
As a sales channel partner, we are subject to various federal, state and local laws targeting fraud and abuse in the healthcare industry, including antikickback and false claims laws.
We cannot predict the nature of any future laws, regulations, interpretations, or applications, nor can we predict what effect additional governmental
regulations or administrative orders, when and if promulgated, would have on our business in the future. We may be slow to adapt, or we may never adapt to
changes in existing requirements or adoption of new requirements or policies. We may incur significant costs to comply with laws and regulations in the future or
compliance with laws or regulations may create an unsustainable burden on our business.
We may not receive approvals by foreign regulators that are necessary for international sales.
Sales of medical devices outside the United States are subject to foreign regulatory requirements that vary from country to country. Premarket approval or
clearance in the United States does not ensure regulatory approval by other jurisdictions. If we, or any international distributors, fail to obtain or maintain required
pre-market approvals or fail to comply with foreign regulations, foreign regulatory authorities may require us to file revised governmental notifications, cease
commercial sales of our products in the applicable countries or otherwise cure the problem. Such enforcement action by regulatory authorities may be costly.
In order to sell our products within the European Union, we must comply with the European Union’s Medical Device Directive. The CE marking on our
products attests to this compliance. Future regulatory changes may limit our ability to use the CE mark, and any new products we develop may not qualify for the
CE mark. If we lose this authorization or fail to obtain authorization on future products, we will not be able to sell our products in the European Union.
We depend on suppliers for the supply of certain products.
We depend on suppliers for parts, components and certain finished goods. While we do not foresee any difficulties in timely receiving products at
competitive prices, the inability of not receiving products in timely fashion or at competitive prices would adversely affect our business. In addition, as a GEHC
channel partner, we could be negatively impacted by interruptions or delays to equipment installations, production and quality issues, and other customer concerns
related to GEHC.
We depend on management and other key personnel.
We are dependent on a limited number of key management and technical personnel. The loss of one or more of our key employees may harm our
business if we are unable to identify other individuals to provide us with similar services. We do not maintain “key person” insurance on any of our employees. In
addition, our success depends upon our ability to attract and retain additional highly qualified sales, management, manufacturing and research and development
personnel. We face competition in our recruiting activities and may not be able to attract or retain qualified personnel.
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We may not have adequate intellectual property protection.
Our patents and proprietary technology may not be able to prevent competition by others. The validity and breadth of claims in medical technology patents
involve complex legal and factual questions. Future patent applications may not be issued, the scope of any patent protection may not exclude competitors, and our
patents may not provide competitive advantages to us. Our patents may be found to be invalid and other companies may claim rights in or ownership of the patents
and other proprietary rights held or licensed by us. Also, our existing patents may not cover products that we develop in the future. Moreover, when our patents
expire, the inventions will enter the public domain. There can be no assurance that our patents will not be violated or that any issued patents will provide protection
that has commercial significance. Litigation may be necessary to protect our patent position. Such litigation may be costly and time-consuming, and there can be no
assurance that we will be successful in such litigation.
The loss or violation of certain of our patents and trademarks could have a material adverse effect upon our business.
Since patent applications in the United States are maintained in secrecy until such patent applications are issued, our current product development may
infringe patents that may be issued to others. If our products were found to infringe patents held by competitors, we may have to modify our products to avoid
infringement, and it is possible that our modified products would not be commercially successful.
We do not intend to pay dividends in the foreseeable future.
We do not intend to pay any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
Risks Related to Our Industry
Our growth could suffer if the markets into which we sell products decline, do not grow as anticipated or experience cyclicality.
Our growth depends in part on the growth of the healthcare markets which we serve. Our quarterly sales and profits depend substantially on the volume
and timing of orders installed during the fiscal quarter, and the installation of such orders is difficult to forecast. Product demand is dependent upon the customer’s
capital spending budget as well as government funding policies, and matters of public policy as well as product and economic cycles that can affect the spending
decisions of these entities. These factors could adversely affect our growth, financial position, and results of operations.
Technological change is difficult to predict and to manage.
We face the challenges that are typically faced by companies in the medical device field. Our product line has required, and any future products will require,
substantial development efforts and compliance with governmental clearance or approval requirements. We may encounter unforeseen technological or scientific
problems that force abandonment or substantial change in the development of a specific product or process.
We are subject to product liability claims and product recalls that may not be covered by insurance.
The nature of our business exposes us to risks of product liability claims and product recalls. Medical devices as complex as ours frequently experience
errors or failures, especially when first introduced or when new versions are released.
We currently maintain product liability insurance at $5,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 in the aggregate. Our product liability insurance may not be
adequate. In the future, insurance coverage may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. In addition, product liability claims or product recalls
could damage our reputation even if we have adequate insurance coverage.
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We do not know the effects of healthcare reform proposals.
The healthcare industry is undergoing fundamental changes resulting from political, economic and regulatory influences. In the United States,
comprehensive programs have been suggested seeking to increase access to healthcare for the uninsured, control the escalation of healthcare expenditures within
the economy and use healthcare reimbursement policies to balance the federal budget.
We expect that the United States Congress and state legislatures will continue to review and assess various healthcare reform proposals, and public
debate of these issues will likely continue. There have been, and we expect that there will continue to be, a number of federal and state proposals to constrain
expenditures for medical products and services, which may affect payments for products such as ours. We cannot predict which, if any of such reform proposals will
be adopted and when they might be effective, or the effect these proposals may have on our business. Other countries also are considering health reform.
Significant changes in healthcare systems could have a substantial impact on the manner in which we conduct our business and could require us to revise our
strategies.
Risks Related to our Securities
The application of the "penny stock" rules could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and increase your transaction costs to
sell those shares.
As long as the trading price of our common shares is below $5 per share, the open-market trading of our common shares will be subject to the "penny
stock" rules. The "penny stock" rules impose additional sales practice requirements on broker-dealers who sell securities to persons other than established
customers and accredited investors (generally those with assets in excess of $1,000,000 or annual income exceeding $200,000 or $300,000 together with their
spouse). For transactions covered by these rules, the broker-dealer must make a special suitability determination for the purchase of securities and have received
the purchaser's written consent to the transaction before the purchase. Additionally, for any transaction involving a penny stock, unless exempt, the broker-dealer
must deliver, before the transaction, a disclosure schedule prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission relating to the penny stock market. The brokerdealer also must disclose the commissions payable to both the broker-dealer and the registered representative and current quotations for the securities. Finally,
monthly statements must be sent disclosing recent price information on the limited market in penny stocks. These additional burdens imposed on broker-dealers
may restrict the ability or decrease the willingness of broker-dealers to sell our common shares, and may result in decreased liquidity for our common shares and
increased transaction costs for sales and purchases of our common shares as compared to other securities.
Our common stock is subject to price volatility.
The market price of our common stock historically has been and may continue to be highly volatile. Our stock price could be subject to wide fluctuations in
response to various factors beyond our control, including, but not limited to:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

medical reimbursement;
quarterly variations in operating results;
announcements of technological innovations, new products or pricing by our competitors;
the rate of adoption by physicians of our technology and products in targeted markets;
the timing of patent and regulatory approvals;
the timing and extent of technological advancements;
results of clinical studies;
the sales of our common stock by affiliates or other shareholders with large holdings; and
general market conditions.

Our future operating results may fall below the expectations of securities industry analysts or investors. Any such shortfall could result in a significant
decline in the market price of our common stock. In addition, the stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have affected the
market price of the stock of many medical device companies and that often have been unrelated to the operating performance of such companies. These broad
market fluctuations may directly influence the market price of our common stock.
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Additional Information
We are subject to the reporting requirements under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are required to file reports and information with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC), including reports on the following forms: annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form
8-K, and amendments to those reports files or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934.
ITEM 2 – PROPERTIES
We owned our 18,000 square foot headquarters and manufacturing facility at 180 Linden Avenue, Westbury, New York 11590, until August 15, 2007 when
we sold it under a five-year leaseback agreement for $1.4 million. The net proceeds from the sale was approximately $425,000, after payment in full of the two
secured notes on our facility, brokers fees, closing costs, and the opening of a certificate of deposit in accordance with the provisions of the new lease. The annual
rental expense for the lease is approximately $150,000. We believe that this facility, which houses our Equipment segment and corporate headquarters, is
adequate to meet our current needs and should continue to be adequate for the immediately foreseeable future.
Our Sales Representation segment operates from a facility in Greensboro, North Carolina, where we lease 2,600 square feet of office space at an annual
rental expense of approximately $48,000.
ITEM 3 – LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
There were no material legal proceedings.
PART II
ITEM 5 – MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Our common stock currently trades on OTCQB, the middle tier of the OTC marketplace reserved for fully reporting issuers, under the symbol
VASO.PK. On May 26, 2006, our common stock ceased trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market tier of the NASDAQ Stock Market and began trading on the
NASD Pink Sheets. Effective June 20, 2006, our common stock began trading on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board (OTCBB). On February 22, 2011, our
common stock was delisted from OTCBB and was quoted solely on OTC Link. The number of record holders of common stock as of August 22, 2011, was
approximately 1,000, which does not include approximately 11,000 beneficial owners of shares held in the name of brokers or other nominees. The table below
sets forth the range of high and low trade prices of the common stock for the fiscal periods specified.

Fiscal 2011
High
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

$
$
$
$

0.24
0.21
0.31
0.74

The last bid price of the Company's common stock on August 22, 2011, was $0.31 per share.
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Fiscal 2010
Low

$
$
$
$

High
0.18
0.18
0.18
0.34

$
$
$
$

Low
0.09
0.09
0.08
0.31

$
$
$
$

0.07
0.06
0.05
0.05

Dividend Policy
We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

ITEM 7 –MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains descriptions of our expectations regarding future
trends affecting our business. These forward looking statements and other forward-looking statements made elsewhere in this document are made under the safe
harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Please read the section titled “Risk Factors” in “Item One – Business” to review certain
conditions, among others, which we believe could cause results to differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements.
Except for historical information contained in this report, the matters discussed are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. When
used in this report, words such as “anticipates”, “believes”, “could”, “estimates”, “expects”, “may”, “plans”, “potential”, “intends”, and similar expressions, as they
relate to the Company or its management, identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based on the beliefs of the Company’s
management, as well as assumptions made by and information currently available to the Company’s management. Among the factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially are the following: the effect of business and economic conditions; the effect of the dramatic changes taking place in the healthcare
environment; the impact of competitive procedures and products and their pricing; medical insurance reimbursement policies; unexpected manufacturing or supplier
problems; unforeseen difficulties and delays in the conduct of clinical trials and other product development programs; the actions of regulatory authorities and thirdparty payers in the United States and overseas; uncertainties about the acceptance of a novel therapeutic modality by the medical community; continuation of the
GEHC agreement; and the risk factors reported from time to time in the Company’s SEC reports. The Company undertakes no obligation to update forward-looking
statements as a result of future events or developments.
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Overview
Vasomedical, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in July 1987. Unless the context requires otherwise, all references to “we”, “our”, “us”, “Company”,
“registrant”, “Vasomedical” or “management” refer to Vasomedical, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Since 1995, we have been primarily engaged in designing,
manufacturing, marketing and supporting EECP® Enhanced External Counterpulsation systems based on our unique proprietary technology currently indicated by
the United States Food & Drug Administration (FDA) for use in cases of stable or unstable angina, congestive heart failure (CHF), acute myocardial infarction (i.e.,
heart attack, (MI)) and cardiogenic shock. In April 2010, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Vaso Diagnostics d/b/a VasoHealthcare, organized a
group of medical device sales professionals in the anticipation of entering into the sales representation business for other equipment manufacturers. On May 19,
2010, VasoHealthcare signed a sales representative agreement with GE Healthcare (the “GEHC Agreement”), the healthcare business unit of General Electric
Company (NYSE: GE), for the sale of select GE Healthcare Diagnostic Imaging products. Under the GEHC Agreement, VasoHealthcare has been appointed the
exclusive representative for these products to specific market segments in the 48 contiguous states of the United States and the District of Columbia. The GEHC
Agreement has an initial term of three years commencing July 1, 2010, subject to extension and also subject to earlier termination under certain
circumstances. We now report VasoHealthcare activities under our Sales Representation reportable segment and EECP ® and other medical device operations
under our Equipment reportable segment (see Note C).
During the last several years, the Company has incurred operating losses. We have sought to achieve profitability by launching the VasoHealthcare
business, and by expanding our U.S. market product portfolio to include ambulatory monitoring devices (the BIOX series ECG Holter recorders, ambulatory blood
pressure monitors and analysis software) and patient management devices (the EZ ECG and EZ O2 products). We also are looking for accretive acquisitions in
the medical device market.

26

In fiscal 2011, the Company’s aggregate revenues increased from $4,205,942 to $16,373,424 oe 289% from. the prior fiscal year. While the Company
incurred operating losses due in large part to the revenue recognition rules associated with its VasoHealthcare business, it generated significant operating cash
flows in excess of $4.1 million.
Results of Operations – Fiscal Years Ended May 31, 2011 and 2010
Net revenues increased by $12,167,482, or 289%, to $16,373,424 in fiscal 2011, from $4,205,942 in fiscal 2010. We reported a net loss applicable to
common stockholders of $4,319,132 in fiscal 2011 as compared to $1,892,073 in fiscal 2010. Our total net loss was $0.04 and $0.02 per basic and diluted
common share for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Revenues
Revenue in our Equipment segment increased 25% to $5,260,291 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2011 from $4,205,942 for the fiscal year ended May
31, 2010. Equipment segment revenue from equipment sales increased approximately 43% to $3,029,177 for fiscal 2011 as compared to $2,119,270 for fiscal
2010. The increase in equipment sales is due primarily to a 55% increase in the number of EECP ® units sold internationally, as well as a 33% increase in domestic
EECP® units shipped. In addition, revenue from other medical equipment increased 363% in fiscal year 2011 as compared to the prior fiscal year.
Average selling prices for EECP equipment were slightly higher in fiscal 2011. We anticipate that demand for EECP ® systems would remain soft
domestically unless there is greater clinical acceptance for the use of EECP® therapy in treating patients with angina or angina equivalent symptoms who meet the
current reimbursement guidelines, or a favorable change in current reimbursement policies by CMS or third party payors to consider EECP therapy as a first-line
treatment option for angina or cover some or all Class II & III heart failure patients. Patients with angina or angina equivalent symptoms eligible for reimbursement
under current policies include many with serious comorbidities, such as heart failure, diabetes, peripheral vascular disease and/or others.
Equipment segment revenue from equipment rental and services increased 7% to $2,231,114 in fiscal 2011 from $2,086,672 in fiscal year 2010. Revenue
from equipment rental and services represented 42% of total Equipment segment revenue in fiscal 2011 and 50% in fiscal 2010. The increase in revenue
generated from equipment rentals and services is due primarily to increased on-demand service and equipment rental revenues.
Commission revenues in the Sales Representation segment were $11,113,133 in fiscal 2011. No revenues were recorded in fiscal 2010 as the GEHC
contract had not yet begun. As discussed in Note B, the Company defers recognition of commission revenue until underlying equipment acceptance is
complete. As of May 31, 2011, $10,805,767 in deferred commission revenue was recorded in the Company’s consolidated condensed balance sheet, of which
$756,404 is long-term.
Gross Profit
The Company recorded gross profit of $10,912,852, or 67% of revenue, in fiscal 2011 compared to $2,211,512, or 53% of revenue, in fiscal 2010. The
increase of $8,701,340 was due primarily to both higher gross profit rates and higher absolute dollars in the Sales Representation segment.
Equipment segment gross profit increased to $2,413,344, or 46% of Equipment segment revenues, for fiscal 2011 compared to $2,211,512, or 53% of
Equipment segment revenues, for fiscal 2010 due mainly to higher sales volume. The increase in absolute dollars was partially offset by a decrease in gross profit
percentage, which arose primarily from higher manufacturing overhead costs, including personnel and transportation charges. Equipment segment gross profits
are dependent on a number of factors, particularly the mix of new and refurbished EECP® systems and the mix of models sold, their respective average selling
prices, the ongoing costs of servicing EECP ® systems, and certain fixed period costs, including facilities, payroll and insurance.
Sales Representation segment gross profit was $8,499,508 for fiscal 2011. Cost of commissions of $2,613,625 reflects commission expense associated
with recognized commission revenues. Commission expense associated with deferred revenue is recorded as deferred commission expense until the related
commission revenue is earned.
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Operating Loss
Operating loss was $3,932,638 for fiscal 2011 as compared to an operating loss of $1,979,860 for fiscal 2010. The increase in the operating loss was
primarily attributable to an operating loss of $2,961,788 in our Sales Representation segment for fiscal 2011, as compared to an operating loss of $1,056,982 for
fiscal 2010 in that segment. The increased segment loss reflects additional start-up costs and the deferral of commission revenue and expense in fiscal 2011.
Equipment segment operating loss in fiscal 2011 was $525,200, includng $309,054 in share-based expenses, as compared to an operating loss of $489,532,
including $55,224 in share-based expenses, in fiscal 2010.
Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses for fiscal 2011 and 2010 were $14,383,380, or 88% of revenues, and $3,772,569, or 90% of
revenues, respectively, reflecting an increase of $10,610,811 or approximately 281%. The increase in SG&A expenditures in fiscal 2011 resulted primarily from
increased wages, benefits, commissions, and insurance expenses related to the Sales Representation segment, which began operations in the last two months of
fiscal 2010 and ramped up in early fiscal 2011.
During fiscal 2011, the Company recorded a provision for doubtful accounts and commission adjustments of $1,149,986 as compared to fiscal year 2010
when the Company recorded a provision for doubtful accounts and commission adjustments of $71,277. Of the fiscal 2011 provision, $1,132 was to reverse the
accrual for bad debt expense, $58,200 were direct write-offs, net of recovery, and $1,209,318 was to reduce gross deferred revenues for estimated adjustments.
Research and development (“R&D”) expenses of $462,110, or 3% of revenues, for fiscal 2011 increased by $43,307, or 10%, from $418,803, or 10% of
revenues, for fiscal 2010. The increase is primarily attributable to an increase in product development expenses.
Interest and Financing Costs
Interest and financing costs for fiscal 2011 was $32,220 compared to $5,383 in fiscal 2010. Interest and financing costs consisted of interest on a shortterm note to finance the Company’s insurance premiums and interest charged on trade payable to related party.
Interest and Other Income, Net
Interest and other income for fiscal 2011 and 2010, were $27,839 and $79,871, respectively. In fiscal year 2010 other income primarily consisted of a cash
settlement of a lawsuit against one of the Company’s competitors. Interest income reflects interest earned on the Company’s cash balances and financing
receivables.
Amortization of Deferred Gain on Sale-leaseback of Building
The amortization of deferred gain on sale-leaseback of building for fiscal years 2011 and 2010 was $53,245. The gain resulted from the Company’s saleleaseback of its facility.
Income Tax Benefit/(Expense), Net
During fiscal year 2011, we recorded income tax expense of $6,755 compared to fiscal year 2010, when the Company recorded an income tax benefit of
$35,952. The fiscal 2010 income tax benefit was primarily a research and development credit associated with the federal stimulus package of 2009.
Ultimate realization of any or all of the deferred tax assets is not assured due to significant uncertainties and material assumptions associated with
estimates of future taxable income during the carry-forward period. In the future, such assessments may change due to the introduction of the distribution and
representation business of VasoHealthcare.

28

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash and Cash Flow
We have financed our operations primarily from working capital, and the issuance of the Company’s Series E Preferred Stock. At May 31, 2011, we had
cash and cash equivalents of $8,130,031, short-term investments of $109,709 and working capital of $2,836,509 compared to cash and cash equivalents of
$481,679, short-term investments of $68,850 and working capital of $1,262,422 at May 31, 2010.
Cash provided by operating activities was $4,139,840 during fiscal year 2011, which consisted of a net loss after adjustments to reconcile net loss to net
cash of $1,924,066, and cash provided by operating assets and liabilities of $6,063,906. The changes in the account balances primarily reflect increases in accrued
commissions of $1,934,662, and deferred revenue of $10,894,867, partially offset by an increase in deferred commission expense of $2,532,048 and accounts and
other receivables of $4,694,680. These changes in account balances are due mainly to the operations of our Sales Representation segment. Net trade receivables
for our Equipment Segment were 18% of revenues for fiscal 2011, as compared to 10% of revenues for fiscal 2010. Trade receivables turnover for our Equipment
Segment was 5.71 times for fiscal 2011 as compared to 5.57 times for fiscal 2010. As discussed in Note B, the Company defers recognition of commission
revenue until underlying equipment acceptance is complete.
Standard payment terms on our domestic equipment sales are generally net 30 to 90 days from shipment and do not contain “right of return”
provisions. We have historically offered a variety of extended payment terms, including sales-type leases, in certain situations and to certain customers in order to
expand the market for our EECP® products in the US and internationally. Such extended payment terms were offered in lieu of price concessions, in competitive
situations, when opening new markets or geographies and for repeat customers. Extended payment terms cover a variety of negotiated terms, including payment
in full - net 120, net 180 days or some fixed or variable monthly payment amount for a six to twelve month period followed by a balloon payment, if
applicable. During fiscal 2011 and 2010, there were no revenues generated from sales in which initial payment terms were greater than 90 days. During fiscal year
2011 one sales-type lease with a period of three years generated $42,000 in Equipment Segment revenue and $2,958 in interest income. There were no salestype leases offered during fiscal year 2010. In general, reserves are calculated on a formula basis considering factors such as the aging of the receivables, time
past due, and the customer’s credit history and their current financial status. In most instances where reserves are required, or accounts are ultimately written-off,
customers have been unable to successfully implement their EECP® program. As we are creating a new market for the EECP ® therapy and recognizing the
challenges that some customers may encounter, we have opted, at times, on a customer-by-customer basis, to recover our equipment instead of pursuing other
legal remedies, which has resulted in our recording of a reserve or a write-off.
Investing activities during fiscal 2011 used cash of $175,097 for purchases of property and equipment and investment in a certificate of deposit.
Financing activities during fiscal 2011 provided cash of $3,683,609 consisting of net proceeds from issuance of preferred stock. Notes payable of $250,000 were
issued and subsequently repaid during fiscal 2011.
Liquidity
During the last several years, the Company has incurred operating losses. We have sought to achieve profitability by launching the VasoHealthcare
business, and by expanding our U.S. market product portfolio to include ambulatory monitoring devices (the BIOX series ECG Holter recorders, ambulatory blood
pressure monitors and analysis software) and patient management devices (the EZ ECG and EZ O2 products).
In fiscal 2011, the Company issued Series E convertible preferred stock (see Note N) to finance the initial operation of its Sales Representation segment
and ultimately generated in excess of $4.1 in operating cash flow by fiscal year end. While we expect to continue to generate significant operating cash flows in
fiscal 2012, as described in Section 1A “Risk Factors”, the progressive nature of the GEHC Agreement can cause related cash inflows to vary widely during the
fiscal year.
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In addition, under the terms of our agreement with GEHC, we are entitled to commissions on certain undelivered sales orders received by GEHC prior to
our agreement and transferred to us from GEHC as of September 30, 2010. These transferred orders, though subject to various risks including potential
cancellation and changes in credit worthiness and availability, as well as the Company's continued compliance under the GEHC Agreement, generated commission
revenue of $2.4 million from October 2010 to May 2011, and are expected to generate additional commission revenues estimated to range from $3.4 million to $4.3
million over approximately one or more years.
Based on our current operations through May 31, 2011, we believe internally generated funds from our Equipment and Sales Representation segments will
be sufficient for the Company to continue operations through at least June 1, 2012.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as
structured finance or special purpose entities (SPES), which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes. As of May 31, 2011, we are not involved in any unconsolidated SPES.
Related Party Transactions
On June 21, 2007, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Kerns Manufacturing Corp. (“Kerns”). Concurrently with our entry into the
Securities Purchase Agreement, we also entered into a Distribution Agreement and a Supplier Agreement with Living Data Technology Corporation (“Living Data”),
an affiliate of Kerns.
Pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, as amended, we have become the exclusive worldwide distributor of the AngioNew EECP ® systems manufactured
by Living Data. As additional consideration for such agreement, we agreed to issue a total of 9,990,840 shares of our common stock to Living Data. The Distribution
Agreement has an initial term extending through May 31, 2012.
Pursuant to the Supplier Agreement, Living Data became our exclusive supplier of the external counterpulsation therapy systems that we market under the
registered trademark EECP®. On February 28, 2010, the Supplier Agreement was terminated and, in connection with the termination, the Company purchased
Living Data’s remaining inventory at cost ($469,450), which was paid in 7,824,167 shares of common stock valued at the closing price on the termination
date. Prior to termination, the Company purchased in fiscal 2010 additional EECP ® therapy systems for $40,000 from Living Data. Payment terms on certain
purchases prior to 2010, plus $2,260 in commissions for sales of certain BIOX products, leave a balance of $265,863 and $240,000 in Trade Payable to Related
Party on the accompanying consolidated condensed balance sheets as of May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively. The payable balance due Living Data
was satisfied through a cash payment in August 2011.
On February 28, 2011, David Lieberman and Edgar Rios were appointed by the Board of Directors as directors of the Company. Mr. Lieberman, a
practicing attorney in the State of New York for in excess of 35 years specializing in corporation and securities law, was appointed to serve as the Vice Chairman of
the Board. He is currently a senior partner at the law firm of Beckman, Lieberman & Barandes, LLP, which firm performs certain legal services for the
Company. Mr. Rios currently is President of Edgary Consultants, LLC, and was appointed in conjunction with the Company’s consulting agreement with Edgary
Consultants, LLC.
The consulting agreement (the “Agreement”) between Vasomedical, Inc. and Edgary Consultants, LLC (“Consultant”) commenced on March 1, 2011 and
terminates on February 28, 2013. The Agreement provides for the engagement of Consultant to assist the Company in seeking broader reimbursement coverage
of EECP® therapy. More specifically, Consultant will be assisting the Company in the following areas:
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1. Engaging the adoption of EECP® therapy as a first line option for FDA cleared indications as it relates to CCS Class III/IV angina with a major commercial
healthcare third-party payer.
2. Engaging a major commercial healthcare payer to formally collaborate and co-sponsor a study with Vasomedical for the efficacy, efficiency and/or cost
effectiveness of the EECP® therapy for NYHA Class II/III heart failure.
3. Engaging final approval from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) of EECP® therapy as a first line treatment for CCS Class III/IV
angina.
4. Engaging final approval from CMS to extend coverage and provide for the reimbursement of EECP® therapy for CCS Class II angina; and
5. Engaging final approval from CMS to extend coverage and provide for the reimbursement of EECP® therapy for NYHA Class II/III heart failure.
In consideration for the services to be provided by Consultant under the Agreement, the Company has agreed to issue to Consultant or its
designees, approximately 10% of the outstanding capital stock of the Company, of which the substantial portion (in excess of 82%) is performance based as
referenced above. In conjunction with the Agreement, 3,000,000 shares of restricted common stock valued at $1,020,000 were issued in March 2011. In
connection with this Agreement, Mr. Lieberman received 600,000 of these restricted shares. The Company has recorded the fair value of the shares issued to
Consultant as a prepaid expense and is amortizing the cost ratably over the two year agreement. The unamortized value is reported as Due from Related Party in
our accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of May 31, 2011.
During fiscal 2011 the Company sold, or issued as dividends, 246,870 shares of Series E Preferred Stock (see Note N) to directors, management, and
other related parties of the Company.
Effects of Inflation
We believe that inflation and changing prices over the past two years have not had a significant impact on our revenue or on our results of operations.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Note B of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements includes a summary of our significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of
our financial statements. In preparing these financial statements, we have made our best estimates and judgments of certain amounts included in the financial
statements, giving due consideration to materiality. The application of these accounting policies involves the exercise of judgment and use of assumptions as to
future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could differ from these estimates. Our critical accounting policies are as follows:
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or service has been rendered, the price is
fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. In the United States, we recognize revenue from the sale of our EECP ® systems in the period in
which we deliver the system to the customer. Revenue from the sale of our EECP ® systems to international markets is recognized upon shipment of the product to
a common carrier, as are supplies, accessories and spare parts delivered to both domestic and international customers. Returns are accepted prior to the inservice and training subject to a 10% restocking charge or for normal warranty matters, and we are not obligated for post-sale upgrades to these systems. In
addition, we use the installment method to record revenue based on cash receipts in situations where the account receivable is collected over an extended period
of time and in our judgment the degree of collectability is uncertain.
In most cases, revenue from domestic EECP ® system sales is generated from multiple-element arrangements that require judgment in the areas of
customer acceptance, collectability, the separability of units of accounting, and the fair value of individual elements. We follow the FASB Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 605 “Revenue Recognized” (“ASC 605”) which outlines a framework for recognizing revenue from multi-deliverable arrangements. The
principles and guidance outlined in ASC 605 provide a framework to determine (a) how the arrangement consideration should be measured (b) whether the
arrangement should be divided into separate units of accounting, and (c) how the arrangement consideration should be allocated among the separate units of
accounting. We determined that the domestic sale of our EECP® systems includes a combination of three elements that qualify as separate units of accounting:
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· EECP® equipment sale;
· provision of in-service and training support consisting of equipment set-up and training provided at the customer’s facilities; and
· a service arrangement (usually one year), consisting of: service by factory-trained service representatives, material and labor costs, emergency and
remedial service visits, software upgrades, technical phone support and preferred response times.
Each of these elements represent individual units of accounting as the delivered item has value to a customer on a stand-alone basis, objective and reliable
evidence of fair value exists for undelivered items, and arrangements normally do not contain a general right of return relative to the delivered item. We determine
fair value based on the price of the deliverable when it is sold separately, or based on third-party evidence, or based on estimated selling price. Assuming all other
criteria for revenue recognition have been met, we recognize revenue for:
· EECP® equipment sales, when delivery and acceptance occurs based on delivery and acceptance documentation received from independent shipping
companies or customers;
· in-service and training, following documented completion of the training; and
· service arrangement, ratably over the service period, which is generally one year.
In-service and training generally occurs within a few weeks of shipment and our return policy states that no returns will be accepted after in-service and
training has been completed. The amount related to in-service and training is recognized as service revenue at the time the in-service and training is completed
and the amount related to service arrangements is recognized ratably as service revenue over the related service period, which is generally one year. Costs
associated with the provision of in-service and training and the service arrangement, including salaries, benefits, travel, spare parts and equipment, are recognized
in cost of equipment sales as incurred.
The Company also recognizes revenue generated from servicing EECP ® systems that are no longer covered by the service arrangement, or by providing
sites with additional training, in the period that these services are provided. Revenue related to future commitments under separately priced extended service
agreements on our EECP ® system are deferred and recognized ratably over the service period, generally ranging from one year to four years. Costs associated
with the provision of service and maintenance, including salaries, benefits, travel and spare parts, and equipment, are recognized in cost of sales as incurred.
Amounts billed in excess of revenue recognized are included as deferred revenue in the consolidated balance sheets.
Revenues from the sale of EECP ® systems through our international distributor network are generally covered by a one-year warranty period. For these
customers we accrue a warranty reserve for estimated costs to provide warranty parts when the equipment sale is recognized.
Revenue and Expense Recognition for VasoHealthcare
The Company recognizes commission revenue in its Sales Representation segment when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, service has been
rendered, the price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. These conditions are deemed to be met when the underlying equipment has
been accepted at the customer site in accordance with the specific terms of the sales agreement. Consequently, amounts billable under the agreement with GE
Healthcare in advance of the customer acceptance of the equipment are recorded as accounts receivable and deferred revenue in the consolidated condensed
balance sheet. Similarly, commissions payable to our sales force related to such billings are recorded as deferred commission expense when the associated
deferred revenue is recorded. Commission expense is recognized when the corresponding commission revenue is recognized.
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Accounts Receivable, net
The Company’s accounts receivable are due from customers engaged in the provision of medical services and from GEHC. Credit is extended based on
evaluation of a customer’s financial condition and, generally, collateral is not required. Accounts receivable are generally due 30 to 90 days from shipment and are
stated at amounts due from customers net of allowances for doubtful accounts, returns, term discounts and commission adjustments. Accounts that remain
outstanding longer than the contractual payment terms are considered past due. Estimates are used in determining the allowance for doubtful accounts based on
the Company’s historical collections experience, current trends, credit policy and a percentage of its accounts receivable by aging category. In determining these
percentages, we look at historical write-offs of our receivables. The Company also looks at the credit quality of their customer base as well as changes in their
credit policies. The Company continuously monitors collections and payments from our customers, and writes off receivables when all efforts at collection have
been exhausted. While credit losses have historically been within expectations and the provisions established, the Company cannot guarantee that it will continue
to experience the same credit loss rates that they have in the past.
Inventories, net
The Company values inventory at the lower of cost or estimated market, with cost being determined on a first-in, first-out basis. The Company often places
EECP® systems at various field locations for demonstration, training, evaluation, and other similar purposes at no charge. The cost of these EECP ® systems is
transferred to property and equipment and is amortized over the next two to five years. The Company records the cost of refurbished components of EECP ®
systems and critical components at cost plus the cost of refurbishment. The Company regularly reviews inventory quantities on hand, particularly raw materials and
components, and records a provision for excess and obsolete inventory based primarily on existing and anticipated design and engineering changes to its products
as well as forecasts of future product demand.
We comply with the provisions of ASC Topic 330, “Inventory”. The statement clarifies that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs,
and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current-period charges and requires the allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory based on
the normal capacity of the production facilities.
Deferred Revenues
The Company records revenue on extended service contracts ratably over the term of the related contract period. In accordance with the provisions of
ASC Topic 605, we defer revenue related to EECP® system sales for the fair value of installation and in-service training to the period when the services are
rendered and for warranty obligations ratably over the service period, which is generally one year.
Amounts billable under the agreement with GE Healthcare in advance of customer acceptance of the equipment are recorded initially as deferred revenue,
and commission revenue is subsequently recognized as customer acceptance of such equipment is reported to us by GEHC.
Warranty Costs
Equipment sold is generally covered by a warranty period of one year. Under the provisions of ASC Topic 605, for certain arrangements, a portion of the
overall system price attributable to the first year service arrangement is deferred and recognized as revenue over the service period. As such, we do not accrue
warranty costs upon delivery but rather we recognize warranty and related service costs as incurred.
Equipment sold to international customers through our distributor network is generally covered by a one-year warranty period. For these customers the
Company accrues an allowance for estimated warranty costs of providing a parts only warranty when the equipment sale is recognized.
The factors affecting our warranty liability included the number of units sold and historical and anticipated rates of claims and costs per claim.
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Net Loss per Common Share
Basic loss per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding without consideration of potential common stock. Diluted
loss per share is based on the weighted number of common and potential dilutive common shares outstanding. The calculation takes into account the shares that
may be issued upon the exercise of stock options and warrants, reduced by the shares that may be repurchased with the funds received from the exercise, based
on the average price during the period. Options and warrants to purchase shares of common stock, as well as convertible preferred stock and unvested common
stock grants, are excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes are recognized for temporary differences between financial statement and income tax bases of assets and liabilities and loss carry
forwards for which income tax benefits are expected to be realized in future years. A valuation allowance is established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax
assets to the amount expected to be realized. In estimating future tax consequences, we generally consider all expected future events other than an enactment of
changes in the tax laws or rates. Deferred tax assets are continually evaluated for realizability. To the extent our judgment regarding the realization of the deferred
tax assets changes, an adjustment to the allowance is recorded, with an offsetting increase or decrease, as appropriate, in income tax expense. Such adjustments
are recorded in the period in which our estimate as to the realizability of the assets changed that it is “more likely than not” that all of the deferred tax assets will be
realized. The “more likely than not” standard is subjective and is based upon our estimate of a greater than 50% probability that the deferred tax asset will be
realized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current based on the classification of the related asset or liability for financial reporting. A
deferred tax asset or liability that is not related to an asset or liability for financial reporting, including deferred tax assets related to carryforwards, are classified
according to the expected reversal date of the temporary difference.
The Company also complies with the provisions of the ASC Topic 740, “Income Taxes”, which prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement
attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized,
a tax position must be more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related
to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. No amounts were accrued for the payment of interest and penalties at May 31, 2011 and May 31,
2010. Management is currently unaware of any issues under review that could result in significant payments, accruals or material deviations from its position.
Share-based Employee Compensation
The Company complies with ASC Topic 718 “Compensation – Stock Compensation” (“ASC 718”), which requires all companies to recognize the cost of
services received in exchange for equity instruments, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values. For purposes of estimating the fair
value of each option on the date of grant, the Company utilized the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
Vasomedical accounts for share-based compensation in accordance with fair value recognition provisions, under which the Company uses the BlackScholes option pricing model which requires the input of subjective assumptions. These assumptions include estimating the length of time employees will retain
their stock options before exercising them (“expected term”), the estimated volatility of the Company’s common stock price over the expected term and the number
of options that will ultimately not complete their vesting requirements. The Company estimates the expected term and forfeitures based on the terms set forth in the
option agreements and no assumption that any options will not complete their vesting period, which approximates actual historical behavior, and it estimates
volatility of the Company’s stock based on the Company’s historical stock price performance over the past five years. Changes in the subjective assumptions could
materially affect the estimate of fair value of stock-based compensation; however management believes changes in certain assumptions that could be reasonably
possible in the near term, would not have a material effect on the expense recognized for fiscal 2011.
Equity instruments issued to non-employees in exchange for goods, fees and services are accounted for under the fair value-based method of ASC Topic
505 “Equity” (ASC 505).
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Effective June 1, 2010, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-13, “Revenue Recognition (Topic 605)”, which revised the
authoritative guidance for revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables. This revised authoritative guidance requires companies to allocate revenue in
arrangements involving multiple deliverables based on the estimated selling price of each deliverable, even though such deliverables are not sold separately either
by a company itself or other vendors. This revised authoritative guidance eliminates the requirement that all undelivered elements must have objective and reliable
evidence of fair value before a company can recognize the portion of the overall arrangement fee that is attributable to items that already have been delivered. As a
result, the new guidance may allow some companies to recognize revenue on transactions that involve multiple deliverables earlier than under previous
requirements. This revised authoritative guidance was effective for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after
December 15, 2009. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated condensed financial statements.
In July 2010, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2010-20, “Receivables (Topic 310): Disclosures about the Credit Quality of
Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Credit Losses,” (ASU 2010-20). ASU 2010-20 requires enhanced disclosures about an entity’s credit quality of
financing receivables and the related allowance for credit losses. The provisions of ASU 2010-20 will require expansion of the Company’s disclosures on the credit
quality of its financing receivables and the allowance for credit losses. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated
condensed financial statements.
ITEM 8 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements are filed as part of this report.
ITEM 9 - CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A - CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Report on Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures reporting as promulgated under the Exchange Act is defined as controls and procedures that are designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act are recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Our CEO and our CFO have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of May 31, 2011 and
have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of May 31, 2011.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
of the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Internal control involves maintaining records
that accurately represent our business transactions, providing reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of company assets are made in accordance
with management authorization, and providing reasonable assurance that unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of company assets that could have a material
effect on our financial statements would be detected or prevented on a timely basis.
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Because of its innate limitations, internal control over our financial statements is not intended to provide absolute guarantee that a misstatement can be
detected or prevented on the statements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation and presentation. Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in condition, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this evaluation and those criteria,
the Company’s CEO and CFO concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting were effective as of May 31, 2011. This annual report does
not include an attestation report of the Company’s Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management’s
report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm pursuant to temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission that permit the Company to provide only Management’s report in this Annual Report.
ITEM 9B – OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART III
The information required by Part III is intended to be included in our definitive Proxy Statement, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission in connection with our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.
PART IV
ITEM 15 – EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules
(1) See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1 at beginning of attached financial statements.
(a) Exhibits
(2)
(3.1)
(4)
(10)

(a)
(b)
(a)
(b)
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)
(k)
(l)
(m)
(n)
(o)
(p)

Restated Certificate of Incorporation (2)
By-Laws (1)
Certificate of Designations of Preferences and Rights of Series E Convertible Preferred Stock (9)
Specimen Certificate for Common Stock (1)
Specimen Certificate for Series E Convertible Preferred Stock
1995 Stock Option Plan (3)
Outside Director Stock Option Plan (3)
1997 Stock Option Plan, as amended (4)
1999 Stock Option Plan, as amended (5)
2004 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (6)
Securities Purchase Agreement dated June 21, 2007 between Registrant and Kerns Manufacturing Corp. (7)
Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant to dated June 21, 2007 (7)
Registration Rights Agreement dated June 21, 2007 between Registrant, Kerns Manufacturing Corp. and Living Data Technology
Corporation. (7)
Purchase and Sale Agreement dated June 1, 2007 between 180 Linden Avenue Corp and 180 Linden Realty LLC. (8)
Lease Agreement dated August 15, 2007 between 180 Linden Realty LLC and Registrant (8)
Form of Stock Purchase Agreement (9)
Redacted Sales Representative Agreement between GE Healthcare Division of General Electric Company and Vaso Diagnostics, Inc.
d/b/a VasoHealthcare, a subsidiary of Vasomedical, Inc. dated as of May 19, 2010 (10)
2010 Stock Plan (11)
Consulting Agreement dated March 1, 2011 between Vasomedical, Inc. and Edgary Consultants, LLC. (12)
Employment Agreement entered into as of March 21, 2011 between Vasomedical, Inc. and Jun Ma (13)
Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 19, 2011 among Vasomedical, Inc., Fast Growth Enterprises Limited (FGE) and the FGE
Shareholders
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(21)

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Name
Viromedics, Inc
Vaso Diagnostics, Inc.
Vasomedical Acquisition Corp.

(31)
(32)

State of Incorporation
Delaware
New York
New York

Percentage Owned by Company
61%
100%
100%

Certification Reports pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a - 14
Certification Reports pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

__________________________
(1) Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-18, No. 33-24095.
(2) Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-1, No. 33-46377 (effective 7/12/94).
(3) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K dated January 24, 1995.
(4) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1999
(5) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2000.
(6) Incorporated by reference to Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders dated October 28, 2004.
(7) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K dated June 21, 2007.
(8) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007.
(9) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K dated June 21, 2010.
(10) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K/A dated May 29, 2010 and filed November 9, 2010.
(11) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2010.
(12) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K dated March 4, 2011.
(13) Incorporated by reference to Report on Form 8-K dated March 21, 2011.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we have duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on the 29th day of August 2011.

VASOMEDICAL, INC.
By: /s/ Jun Ma
Jun Ma
President, Chief Executive Officer,
and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below on August 29th, 2011, by the following persons in the
capacities indicated:
/s/ Jun Ma
Jun Ma

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Jonathan Newton
Jonathan Newton

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Simon Srybnik
Simon Srybnik

Chairman of the Board

/s/ David Lieberman
David Lieberman

Vice Chairman of the Board

/s/ Edgar Rios
Edgar Rios

Director

/s/ Behnam Movaseghi
Behnam Movaseghi

Director

Director
William Dempsey
/s/ Peter C. Castle
Peter C. Castle

Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Vasomedical, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Vasomedical, Inc. and Subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) as of May 31, 2011 and 2010,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Vasomedical, Inc.
and Subsidiaries as of May 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Rothstein, Kass & Company, P.C.

Roseland, New Jersey
August 26, 2011
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Vasomedical, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
May 31, 2011

May 31, 2010

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts and other receivables, net of an allowance for doubtful
accounts and commission adjustments of $1,296,947 at May 31, 2011,
and $146,961 at May 31, 2010
Inventories, net
Financing receivables, net
Deferred commission expense
Deferred related party consulting expense - current portion
Other current assets
Total current assets

$

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net of accumulated depreciation of
$1,633,290 at May 31, 2011, and $1,612,098 at May 31, 2010
DEFERRED DISTRIBUTOR COSTS, net of accumulated amortization of
$464,402 at May 31, 2011, and $338,818 at May 31, 2010
FINANCING RECEIVABLES, net
DEFERRED RELATED PARTY CONSULTING EXPENSE
OTHER ASSETS
$
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued commissions
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Sales tax payable
Deferred revenue - current portion
Deferred gain on sale-leaseback of building - current portion
Accrued professional fees
Trade payable due to related party
Total current liabilities

$

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Notes payable
Deferred revenue
Accrued rent expense
Deferred gain on sale-leaseback of building
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities

8,130,031
109,709

$

481,679
68,850

4,018,572
1,786,057
18,425
2,532,048
510,000
267,235
17,372,077

473,878
2,063,769
91,848
3,180,024

366,199

303,038

124,474
27,133
382,500
282,162
18,554,545

250,058
130,390
3,863,510

480,661
1,963,826
632,374
160,321
10,917,732
53,245
61,550
265,863
14,535,572

$

$

271,620
29,164
240,301
141,884
854,403
53,245
86,985
240,000
1,917,602

1,004,483
3,001
8,874
94,835
1,111,193

1,250,000
172,945
16,386
62,121
11,900
1,513,352

2,990

-

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE Q)
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized;
299,024 issued and outstanding at May 31, 2011
Common stock, $.001 par value; 250,000,000 shares authorized;
117,078,704 shares at May 31, 2011 and 110,271,131 at
May 31, 2010 issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
$
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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117,079
55,743,295
(52,955,584)
2,907,780
18,554,545

$

110,271
48,958,737
(48,636,452)
432,556
3,863,510

Vasomedical, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Year ended May 31,
2011
2010
Revenues
Equipment sales
Equipment rentals and services
Commissions
Total revenues

$

3,029,177
2,231,114
11,113,133
16,373,424

$

2,119,270
2,086,672
4,205,942

Cost of revenues
Cost of sales, equipment
Cost of equipment rentals and services
Cost of commissions
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit

1,937,903
909,044
2,613,625
5,460,572
10,912,852

1,163,020
831,410
1,994,430
2,211,512

Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Total operating expenses
Operating loss

14,383,380
462,110
14,845,490
(3,932,638)

3,772,569
418,803
4,191,372
(1,979,860)

(32,220)
27,839

(5,383)
79,871

Other income (expenses)
Interest and financing costs
Interest and other income, net
Amortization of deferred gain on
sale-leaseback of building
Total other income, net

53,245
48,864

Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit/(expense), net
Net loss
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest
Preferred stock dividends
Net loss applicable to common stockholders
Loss per common share
- basic and diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding
- basic and diluted

$

(3,883,774)
(6,755)
(3,890,529)
(428,603)
(4,319,132)

$

(1,852,127)
35,952
(1,816,175)
75,898
(1,892,073)

$

(0.04)

$

(0.02)

111,978,478

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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53,245
127,733

101,776,390

Vasomedical, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred Stock
Shares
Balance at May 31, 2009
Common stock issued
for inventory purchase
Common stock issued to
Director for fiscal
year 2009 compensation
and meeting fees
Share-based
compensation
Options granted as
compensation to one
officer and
one director
Net income/(loss)
Balance at May 31, 2010
Common stock issued to
directors for fiscal
year 2011 compensation
and meeting fees
Share-based
compensation
Shares granted for
consulting agreements
Shares issued on
exercise of warrant
Preferred shares sold
(including converted
notes payable)
Preferred shares
issued as dividends
Beneficial conversion
feature of Preferred
shares
Preferred share
dividends
Conversion of
Preferred shares
Net loss
Balance at May 31, 2011

Additional
Paid-in-

Common Stock

Amount

Shares

Noncontrolling

Total
Stockholders’

Capital

Deficit

99,843

$ 48,281,711

$ (46,744,379)

7,824,167

7,824

461626

469,450

1,937,292

1,937

148,663

150,600

666,668

667

39,333

40,000

99,843,004

Amount

Accumulated

$

Interest
$

Equity

(75,898)

$

27,404
-

$

-

110,271,131

$

110,271

750,000

$

750

$ 48,958,737

$

(1,892,073)
$ (48,636,452)

$

75,898
-

176,750

$

$

1,561,277

27,404
(1,816,175)
432,556

177,500

995,000

995

267,091

268,086

3,116,279

3,116

1,086,259

1,089,375

383,794

384

(384)

-

308,351

3,084

4,930,525

4,933,609

6,298

63

100,705

100,768

225,018

225,018

(15,625)
299,024

(157)
$

2,990

1,562,500
117,078,704

1,563
$

117,079

(428,603)

(428,603)

(3,890,529)
$ (52,955,584)

(3,890,529)
2,907,780

(1,406)
$ 55,743,295

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

-

$

Vasomedical, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
May 31, 2011
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
provided by/(used in) operating activities
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment
Amortization of deferred gain on sale-leaseback of building
Provision for doubtful accounts
Amortization of deferred distributor costs
Share-based compensation
Amortization of deferred consulting expense
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts and other receivables
Inventories, net
Finance receivables
Deferred commission expense
Other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued commissions
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Sales tax payable
Deferred revenue
Accrued rent expense
Accrued professional fees
Trade payable due to related party
Other long-term liabilities
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

$

May 31, 2010

(3,890,529)

$

(1,816,175)

144,536
(53,247)
1,149,986
125,584
445,586
154,018

123,704
(53,246)
51,988
125,585
218,004
-

(4,694,680)
247,762
(45,558)
(2,532,048)
(133,389)
(194,422)
209,041
1,934,662
289,256
18,437
10,894,867
(13,385)
(25,435)
25,863
82,935
4,139,840

166,626
(287,320)
50,722
158,739
(703)
(122,993)
(1,809)
(260,359)
1,615
77,235
(20,000)
(1,588,387)

(135,097)
(40,000)
(175,097)

(25,664)
(68,850)
370,523
276,009

Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of note payable
Repayment of note payable
Proceeds from preferred stock
Net cash provided by financing activities

250,000
(250,000)
3,683,609
3,683,609

1,250,000
1,250,000

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period

$

7,648,352
481,679
8,130,031

$

(62,378)
544,057
481,679

SUPPLIMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH INFORMATION
Interest paid

$

7,852

$

109

Income taxes paid

$

7,526

$

6,349

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Inventories transferred to property and equipment, attributable to operating leases, net

$

29,950

$

172,726

Conversion of notes payable to preferred stock

$

1,250,000

$

-

Accrued preferred stock dividends

$

(428,603)

$

-

Conversion of preferred stock to common stock

$

1,563

$

-

Common shares issued for consulting agreements

$

1,070,000

$

-

Issuance of preferred stock in satisfaction of accrued dividend

$

100,768

$

-

Trade payable due to related party paid in common stock

$

-

$

469,450

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of short-term investments
Redemption of short-term investments
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
F-6

Vasomedical, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2011 and 2010
NOTE A – DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND LIQUIDITY
Vasomedical, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in July 1987. Unless the context requires otherwise, all references to “we”, “our”, “us”, “Company”,
“registrant”, “Vasomedical” or “management” refer to Vasomedical, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Since 1995, we have been primarily engaged in designing,
manufacturing, marketing and supporting EECP® Enhanced External Counterpulsation systems based on our unique proprietary technology currently indicated by
the United States Food & Drug Administration (FDA) for use in cases of stable or unstable angina, congestive heart failure (CHF), acute myocardial infarction (i.e.,
heart attack, (MI)) and cardiogenic shock. In April 2010, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Vaso Diagnostics d/b/a VasoHealthcare, organized a
group of medical device sales professionals in the hope of entering into the sales representation business for other equipment manufacturers. On May 19, 2010,
VasoHealthcare signed a sales representative agreement with GE Healthcare (the “GEHC Agreement”), the healthcare business unit of General Electric Company
(NYSE: GE), for the sale of select GE Healthcare Diagnostic Imaging products. Under the GEHC Agreement, VasoHealthcare has been appointed the exclusive
representative for these products to specific market segments in the 48 contiguous states of the United States and the District of Columbia. The GEHC Agreement
has an initial term of three years commencing July 1, 2010, subject to extension and also subject to earlier termination under certain circumstances. We report
VasoHealthcare activities under our Sales Representation reportable segment and EECP® and other medical device operations under our Equipment reportable
segment (see Note C).
During the last several years, the Company has incurred operating losses. We have sought to achieve profitability by launching the VasoHealthcare
business, and by expanding our U.S. market product portfolio to include ambulatory monitoring devices (the BIOX series ECG Holter recorders, ambulatory blood
pressure monitors and analysis software) and patient management devices (the EZ ECG and EZ O2 products).
In fiscal 2011, the Company issued Series E convertible preferred stock (see Note N) to finance the initial operation of its Sales Representation segment
and ultimately generated in excess of $4.1 million in operating cash flow by fiscal year end. While we expect to continue to generate significant operating cash
flows in fiscal 2012, the progressive nature of the GEHC Agreement can cause related cash inflows to vary widely during the fiscal year.
In addition, under the terms of our agreement with GEHC, we are entitled to commissions on certain undelivered sales orders received by GEHC prior to
our agreement and transferred to us from GEHC as of September 30, 2010. These transferred orders, though subject to various risks including potential
cancellation and changes in credit worthiness and availability, as well as the Company's continued compliance under the GEHC Agreement, generated commission
revenue of $2.4 million from October 2010 to May 2011, and are expected to generate additional commission revenues estimated to range from $3.4 million to $4.3
million over approximately one or more years.
Based on our current operations through May 31, 2011, we believe internally generated funds from our Equipment and Sales Representation segments will
be sufficient for the Company to continue operations through at least June 1, 2012.
NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A summary of the significant accounting policies consistently applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are as follows:
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiary and its inactive majority-owned subsidiary.
Significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
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Vasomedical, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2011 and 2010
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant
estimates and assumptions relate to estimates of collectibility of accounts receivable, the realizability of deferred tax assets, and the adequacy of inventory and
warranty reserves. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or service has been rendered, the price is
fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. In the United States, we recognize revenue from the sale of our EECP ® systems in the period in
which we deliver the system to the customer. Revenue from the sale of our EECP ® systems to international markets is recognized upon shipment of the product to
a common carrier, as are supplies, accessories and spare parts delivered to both domestic and international customers. Returns are accepted prior to the inservice and training subject to a 10% restocking charge or for normal warranty matters, and we are not obligated for post-sale upgrades to these systems. In
addition, we use the installment method to record revenue based on cash receipts in situations where the account receivable is collected over an extended period
of time and in our judgment the degree of collectability is uncertain.
In most cases, revenue from domestic EECP ® system sales is generated from multiple-element arrangements that require judgment in the areas of
customer acceptance, collectability, the separability of units of accounting, and the fair value of individual elements. We follow the FASB Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 605 “Revenue Recognition” (“ASC 605”) which outlines a framework for recognizing revenue from multi-deliverable arrangements. The
principles and guidance outlined in ASC 605 provide a framework to determine (a) how the arrangement consideration should be measured (b) whether the
arrangement should be divided into separate units of accounting, and (c) how the arrangement consideration should be allocated among the separate units of
accounting. We determined that the domestic sale of our EECP® systems includes a combination of three elements that qualify as separate units of accounting:
· EECP® equipment sale;
· provision of in-service and training support consisting of equipment set-up and training provided at the customer’s facilities; and
· a service arrangement (usually one year), consisting of: service by factory-trained service representatives, material and labor costs, emergency and
remedial service visits, software upgrades, technical phone support and preferred response times.
Each of these elements represent individual units of accounting as the delivered item has value to a customer on a stand-alone basis, objective and reliable
evidence of fair value exists for undelivered items, and arrangements normally do not contain a general right of return relative to the delivered item. We determine
fair value based on the price of the deliverable when it is sold separately, or based on third-party evidence, or based on estimated selling price. Assuming all other
criteria for revenue recognition have been met, we recognize revenue for:
· EECP® equipment sales, when delivery and acceptance occurs based on delivery and acceptance documentation received from independent shipping
companies or customers;
· in-service and training, following documented completion of the training; and
· service arrangement, ratably over the service period, which is generally one year.
In-service and training generally occurs within a few weeks of shipment and our return policy states that no returns will be accepted after in-service and
training has been completed. The amount related to in-service and training is recognized as service revenue at the time the in-service and training is completed
and the amount related to service arrangements is recognized ratably as service revenue over the related service period, which is generally one year. Costs
associated with the provision of in-service and training and the service arrangement, including salaries, benefits, travel, spare parts and equipment, are recognized
in cost of equipment sales as incurred.
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Vasomedical, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2011 and 2010
The Company also recognizes revenue generated from servicing EECP ® systems that are no longer covered by the service arrangement, or by providing
sites with additional training, in the period that these services are provided. Revenue related to future commitments under separately priced extended service
agreements on our EECP ® system are deferred and recognized ratably over the service period, generally ranging from one year to four years. Costs associated
with the provision of service and maintenance, including salaries, benefits, travel and spare parts, and equipment, are recognized in cost of sales as incurred.
Amounts billed in excess of revenue recognized are included as deferred revenue in the consolidated balance sheets.
Revenues from the sale of EECP ® systems through our international distributor network are generally covered by a one-year warranty period. For these
customers we accrue a warranty reserve for estimated costs to provide warranty parts when the equipment sale is recognized.
Revenue and Expense Recognition for VasoHealthcare
The Company recognizes commission revenue in its Sales Representation segment (see Note C) when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
service has been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. These conditions are deemed to be met when the underlying
equipment has been accepted at the customer site in accordance with the specific terms of the sales agreement. Consequently, amounts billable under the
agreement with GE Healthcare in advance of the customer acceptance of the equipment are recorded as accounts receivable and deferred revenue in the
consolidated balance sheet. Similarly, commissions payable to our sales force related to such billings are recorded as deferred commission expense when the
associated deferred revenue is recorded. Commission expense is recognized when the corresponding commission revenue is recognized.
Shipping and Handling Costs
All shipping and handling expenses are charged to cost of sales. Amounts billed to customers related to shipping and handling costs are included as a
component of sales.
Research and Development
Research and development costs attributable to development are expensed as incurred. Included in research and development costs is amortization
expense related to the capitalized cost of EECP ® systems under loan for clinical trials.
Share-Based Employee Compensation
The Company complies with ASC Topic 718 “Compensation – Stock Compensation” (“ASC 718”), which requires all companies to recognize the cost of
services received in exchange for equity instruments, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values.
During fiscal 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors granted, under the 2010 Stock Plan (see Note O), 4,440,000 restricted shares of common stock
valued at $876,200 to employees and consultants. 355,000 shares valued at $72,350 vested immediately and the remainder vest over three years. During fiscal
2011, 4,116,279 shares of common stock valued at $1,325,000 were granted to outside directors and consultants, of which 250,000 shares valued at $77,500 will
vest over one year. During the fiscal year ended May 31, 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors granted 666,668 shares of common stock to two officers of the
Company in lieu of a portion of their calendar year 2010 salaries, which was amortized over the remainder of calendar year 2010.
During fiscal 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors did not grant any non-qualified stock options. During fiscal year 2010 the Company’s Board of
Directors granted options for 250,000 shares of common stock to one officer and options for 200,000 shares to one director of the company, pursuant to the 2004
Stock Option Plan. These options have an exercise price of $0.08 per share and expire five years from date of grant.
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Vasomedical, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2011 and 2010
Share-based compensation expense recognized for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 was $445,586 and $218,004, respectively. Expense for
share-based arrangements was $154,018 for the year ended May 31, 2011. Unrecognized expense related to existing share-based arrangements is approximately
$1.5 million at May 31, 2011.
Vasomedical accounts for share-based compensation in accordance with fair value recognition provisions, under which the Company uses the BlackScholes option pricing model which requires the input of subjective assumptions. These assumptions include estimating the length of time employees will retain
their stock options before exercising them (“expected term”), the estimated volatility of the Company’s common stock price over the expected term and the number
of options that will ultimately not complete their vesting requirements. The Company estimates the expected term and forfeitures based on the terms set forth in the
option agreements and no assumption that any options will not complete their vesting period, which approximates actual historical behavior, and it estimates
volatility of the Company’s stock based on the Company’s historical stock price performance over the past five years. Changes in the subjective assumptions could
materially affect the estimate of fair value of share-based compensation; however management believes changes in certain assumptions that could be reasonably
possible in the near term, would not have a material effect on the expense recognized for fiscal 2010.
The fair value of the Company’s stock options was estimated using the following weighted-average assumptions for options granted during the year ended
May 31, 2010:

Expected dividend yield
Average risk free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility

0.00%
2.24%
5 years
102.31%

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents represent cash and short-term, highly liquid investments either in certificates of deposit, treasury bills, money market funds, or
investment grade commercial paper issued by major corporations and financial institutions that generally have maturities of three months or less from the date of
acquisition. Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned. The cost of securities sold is calculated using the specific identification method.
Short-Term Investments
The Company’s short-term investments consist of certificates of deposit with original maturities less than 3 months. They are bought and held principally for
the purpose of selling them in the near-term and are classified as trading securities. Trading securities are recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance
sheets in current assets, with the change in fair value during the years included in earnings.
Accounts Receivable, net
The Company’s accounts receivable are due from customers engaged in the provision of medical services and from GEHC. Credit is extended based on
evaluation of a customer’s financial condition and, generally, collateral is not required. Accounts receivable are generally due 30 to 90 days from shipment and are
stated at amounts due from customers net of allowances for doubtful accounts, returns, term discounts and other allowances. Accounts that remain outstanding
longer than the contractual payment terms are considered past due. Estimates are used in determining the allowance for doubtful accounts based on the
Company’s historical collections experience, current trends, credit policy and a percentage of its accounts receivable by aging category. In determining these
percentages, the Company reviews historical write-offs of their receivables. The Company also looks at the credit quality of their customer base as well as changes
in their credit policies. The Company continuously monitors collections and payments from our customers, and writes off receivables when all efforts at collection
have been exhausted. While credit losses have historically been within expectations and the provisions established, the Company cannot guarantee that it will
continue to experience the same credit loss rates that they have in the past.
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The changes in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts and commission adjustments are as follows:
May 31, 2011
$
146,961
(1,132)
(58,200)
1,209,318
$
1,296,947

Beginning Balance
Provision on losses on account receivable
Direct write-offs, net of recoveries
Commission adjustments
Ending Balance

May 31, 2010
$
94,973
71,194
(19,206)
$
146,961

Concentrations of Credit Risk
We market our equipment principally to hospitals and physician private practices. We perform credit evaluations of our customers’ financial condition and, as
a consequence, believe that our receivable credit risk exposure is limited. For the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, no customer in our Equipment segment
accounted for 10% or more of revenues or accounts receivable. In our Sales Representation segment, 100% of our revenues and accounts receivable are with the
General Electric Company (GE); however, we believe this risk is acceptable based on GE’s financial position.
The Company maintains cash balances in certain financial institutions, which, at time, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not
experienced any losses on these accounts and believes it is not subject to any significant credit risk on these accounts.
Our revenues were derived from the following geographic areas:

May 31, 2011
$
14,414,888
1,958,536
$
16,373,424

Domestic (United States)
Non-domestic (foreign)

May 31, 2010
$
2,953,672
1,252,270
$
4,205,942

Inventories, net
The Company values inventory at the lower of cost or estimated market, with cost being determined on a first-in, first-out basis. The Company often places
EECP® systems at various field locations for demonstration, training, evaluation, and other similar purposes at no charge. The cost of these EECP ® systems is
transferred to property and equipment and is amortized over two to five years. The Company records the cost of refurbished components of EECP® systems and
critical components at cost plus the cost of refurbishment. The Company regularly reviews inventory quantities on hand, particularly raw materials and components,
and records a provision for excess and obsolete inventory based primarily on existing and anticipated design and engineering changes to its products as well as
forecasts of future product demand.
We comply with the provisions of ASC Topic 330 “Inventory”. The statement clarifies that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs,
and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current-period charges and requires the allocation of fixed production overhead to inventory based on the
normal capacity of the production facilities.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Major improvements are capitalized and minor replacements,
maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Upon retirement or disposal of assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed
from the consolidated balance sheets. Depreciation is expensed over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from two to twenty years, on a straightline basis. Accelerated methods of depreciation are used for tax purposes. We amortize leasehold improvements over the useful life of the related leasehold
improvement or the life of the related lease, whichever is less. (See Note G)
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Deferred Revenue
We record revenue on extended service contracts ratably over the term of the related service contracts. Under the provisions of ASC 605, we began to
defer revenue related to EECP® system sales for the fair value of installation and in-service training to the period when the services are rendered and for service
obligations ratably over the service period, which is generally one year. (See Note I)
Amounts billable under the agreement with GE Healthcare in advance of customer acceptance of the equipment are recorded initially as deferred revenue,
and commission revenue is subsequently recognized as customer acceptance of such equipment is reported to us by GEHC.
Warranty Costs
Equipment sold is generally covered by a warranty period of one year. In accordance with ASC Topic 450 “Loss Contingencies”, we accrue a warranty
reserve for estimated costs of providing a parts only warranty when the equipment sale is recognized.
The factors affecting our warranty liability include the number of units sold and the historical and anticipated rates of claims and costs per claim. (See Note
K)
Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes are recognized for temporary differences between financial statement and income tax bases of assets and liabilities and loss
carryforwards for which income tax benefits are expected to be realized in future years. A valuation allowance is established, when necessary, to reduce deferred
tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. In estimating future tax consequences, we generally consider all expected future events other than an enactment
of changes in the tax laws or rates. Deferred tax assets are continually evaluated for realizability. To the extent our judgment regarding the realization of the
deferred tax assets changes, an adjustment to the allowance is recorded, with an offsetting increase or decrease, as appropriate, in income tax expense. Such
adjustments are recorded in the period in which our estimate as to the realizability of the assets changed that it is “more likely than not” that all of the deferred tax
assets will be realized. The “realizability” standard is subjective and is based upon our estimate of a greater than 50% probability that the deferred tax asset can be
realized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current based on the classification of the related asset or liability for financial reporting. A
deferred tax asset or liability that is not related to an asset or liability for financial reporting, including deferred tax assets related to carryforwards, are classified
according to the expected reversal date of the temporary difference.
The Company also complies with the provisions of ASC Topic 740 “Income Taxes”, which prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute
for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax
position must be more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by the relevant taxing authority based on the technical merits. The tax benefit recognized
is measured as the largest amount of benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing
authority. Derecognition of a tax benefit previously recognized results in the Company recording a tax liability that reduces ending retained earnings. Based on its
analysis, the company has determined that it has not incurred any liability for unrecognized tax benefits as of May 31, 2011 and 2010. The Company recognizes
accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. No amounts were accrued for the payment of interest and penalties at
May 31, 2011 and 2010. Generally, the Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations by major taxing authorities for years before 2007. Management
is currently unaware of any issues under review that could result in significant payments, accruals or material deviations from its position.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company complies with the provisions of ASC 820 “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” (“ASC 820”). Under ASC 820, fair value is defined as
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date.
In determining fair value, the Company uses various valuation approaches. ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair
value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when
available. Observable inputs are those that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market data obtained from sources independent
of the Company. Unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s assumptions about the inputs market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed
based on the best information available in the circumstances. The fair value hierarchy is categorized into three levels based on the inputs as follows:
Level 1 - Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access. Valuation
adjustments and block discounts are not applied to Level 1 securities. Since valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in an
active market, valuation of these securities does not entail a significant degree of judgment.
Level 2 - Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 - Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.
Valuation Techniques
The Company values investments in securities and securities sold short that are freely tradable and are listed on a national securities exchange or reported
on the NASDAQ national market at their last sales price as of the last business day of the fiscal year.
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value due to the short-term maturities of
the instruments.
Net Loss Per Common Share
Basic loss per common share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding without consideration of potential common stock.
Diluted loss per common share is based on the weighted number of common and potential dilutive common shares outstanding. The diluted calculation takes into
account the shares that may be issued upon the exercise of stock options and warrants, reduced by the shares that may be repurchased with the funds received
from the exercise, based on the average price during the period.
The following table represents common stock equivalents that were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended May
31, 2011 and 2010, because the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
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2011
1,863,776
4,285,714
30,545,000
3,912,500
40,606,990

Stock options
Warrants
Convertible preferred stock
Common stock grants

2010
2,963,776
6,968,823
9,932,599

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform with the current year presentation.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
The Company continually assesses any new accounting pronouncements to determine their applicability to the Company. Where it is determined that a new
accounting pronouncement affects the Company’s financial reporting, the Company undertakes a study to determine the consequence of the change to its financial
statements and assures that there are proper controls in place to ascertain that the Company’s financials properly reflect the change. New pronouncements
assessed by the Company recently are discussed below:
Effective June 1, 2010, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-13, “Revenue Recognition (Topic 605)”, which revised the
authoritative guidance for revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables. This revised authoritative guidance requires companies to allocate revenue in
arrangements involving multiple deliverables based on the estimated selling price of each deliverable, even though such deliverables are not sold separately either
by a company itself or other vendors. This revised authoritative guidance eliminates the requirement that all undelivered elements must have objective and reliable
evidence of fair value before a company can recognize the portion of the overall arrangement fee that is attributable to items that already have been delivered. As a
result, the new guidance may allow some companies to recognize revenue on transactions that involve multiple deliverables earlier than under previous
requirements. This revised authoritative guidance was effective for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after
December 15, 2009. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In July 2010, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2010-20, “Receivables (Topic 310): Disclosures about the Credit Quality of
Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Credit Losses,” (ASU 2010-20). ASU 2010-20 requires enhanced disclosures about an entity’s credit quality of
financing receivables and the related allowance for credit losses. The provisions of ASU 2010-20 will require expansion of the Company’s disclosures on the credit
quality of its financing receivables and the allowance for credit losses. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
No other recently issued, but not yet effective, pronouncement is expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
NOTE C – SEGMENT REPORTING
The Company views its business in two segments – the Equipment segment and the Sales Representation segment. The Equipment segment is engaged
in designing, manufacturing, marketing and supporting EECP® enhanced external counterpulsation systems both domestically and internationally, as well as the
marketing of other medical devices. The Sales Representation segment operates through the VasoHealthcare subsidiary and is engaged solely in the execution of
the Company’s responsibilities under our agreement with GEHC. The Company evaluates segment performance based on operating income. Administrative
functions such as finance, human resources, and information technology are centralized and related expenses allocated to each segment. There are no
intersegment revenues. Summary financial information for the segments is set forth below:
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Equipment
Segment
Revenues from external customers
Operating loss
Total assets
Accounts and other receivables, net
Deferred commission expense

$
$
$
$
$

5,260,291
525,200
4,504,370
932,034
-

Equipment
Segment
Revenues from external customers
Operating loss
Total assets
Accounts and other receivables, net
Deferred commission expense

$
$
$
$
$

4,205,942
489,532
3,337,632
473,878
-

As of or for the year ended May 31, 2011
Sales
Representation
Segment
Corporate
Consolidated
$
$
$
$
$

11,113,133
2,961,788
5,920,144
3,086,538
2,722,632

$
$
$
$
$

445,650
8,130,031
-

$
$
$
$
$

16,373,424
3,932,638
18,554,545
4,018,572
2,722,632

As of or for the year ended May 31, 2010
Sales
Representation
Segment
Corporate
Consolidated
$
$
$
$
$

1,056,982
44,199
-

$
$
$
$
$

433,346
481,679
-

$
$
$
$
$

4,205,942
1,979,860
3,863,510
473,878
-

Long term deferred commission expense of $190,584 is included in other assets on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
NOTE D – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Company’s assets recorded at fair value have been categorized based upon a fair value hierarchy in accordance with ASC 820.
The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value as of May 31, 2011:

Assets
Cash equivalents invested in money market funds (included in
cash and cash equivalents)
Investment in certificates of deposit (included in short-term
investments)

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
for

Significant Other

Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Balance as of
May 31, 2011

$

21,245

$

-

$

-

$

21,245

$

109,709
130,954

$

-

$

-

$

109,709
130,954

The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value as of May 31, 2010:
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Quoated
Prices in
Active Markets
for
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)
Assets
Cash equivalents invested in money market funds (included in cash and
cash equivalents)
Investment in certificates of deposit (included in short-term investments)

$

21,516
68,850
90,366

$

$
$

Significant Other

Significant

Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)

-

$

Balance as of
May 31, 2010

-

$

$
$

21,516
68,850
90,366

The fair values of the Company’s cash equivalents invested in money market funds are determined through market, observable and corroborated sources.
NOTE E – ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
The following table presents information regarding the Company’s accounts and other receivables as of May 31, 2011 and 2010:

Trade receivables
Due from employees
Allowance for doubtful accounts and
commission adjustments

$

$

May 31, 2011
5,194,953
120,566
(1,296,947)
4,018,572

May 31, 2010
$
587,898
32,941

$

(146,961)
473,878

Trade receivables include amounts due for shipped products and services rendered. Amounts currently due under the GEHC Agreement are subject to
adjustment in subsequent periods should the underlying sales order amount, upon which the receivable is based, change.
Allowance for doubtful accounts and commission adjustments include estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required
payments, and adjustments arising from subsequent changes in sales order amounts that may reduce the amount the Company will ultimately receive under the
GEHC Agreement. Due from employees primarily reflects commission advances made to sales personnel.
NOTE F – INVENTORIES, NET
Inventories, net of reserves consisted of the following:
May 31, 2011
Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods

$

$

514,387
484,798
786,872
1,786,057

May 31, 2010
$

$

At May 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company maintained reserves for excess and obsolete inventories of $409,490 and $358,972, respectively.
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NOTE G – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment is summarized as follows:

Office, laboratory and other equipment
EECP® systems under operating leases
or under loan for clinical trials
Furniture and fixtures
Less: accumulated depreciation
Property and equipment, net

$

May 31, 2011
1,004,876

May 31, 2010
$
942,476

$

800,489
194,124
1,999,489
1,633,290
366,199

823,195
149,465
1,915,136
1,612,098
303,038

$

Depreciation expense amounted to $101,769 and $76,800 for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
NOTE H – INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Company owns eleven US patents including eight utility and three design patents that expire at various times between now and 2023. Costs incurred
for submitting the applications to the United States Patent and Trademark Office and other foreign authorities for these patents have been capitalized. Patent costs
are being amortized using the straight-line method over the related 10-year lives. The Company begins amortizing patent costs once a filing receipt is received
stating the patent serial number and filing date from the Patent Office or other foreign authority.
The Company’s intangible assets are as follows:
May 31, 2011
Patent Costs
Costs
Accumulated amortization
$

Intangible assets are included in other assets on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
Amortization expense amounted to $42,767 and $46,904 for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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(393,320)
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May 31, 2010

$

469,043
(350,553)
118,490
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NOTE I – DEFERRED REVENUE
The changes in the Company’s deferred revenues are as follows:

Deferred revenue at the beginning of the period
Additions:
Deferred extended service contracts
Deferred in-service and training
Deferred service arrangements
Deferred commission revenues
Recognized as revenue:
Deferred extended service contracts
Deferred in-service and training
Deferred service arrangements
Deferred commission revenues
Deferred revenue at end of period
Less: current portion
Long-term deferred revenue at end of period

For the year ended May 31,
2011
2010
1,027,348
$
1,287,707

$

$

1,280,902
32,500
98,000
19,557,994

1,047,290
22,500
70,500
-

(1,238,738)
(22,500)
(61,064)
(8,752,227)
11,922,215
10,917,732
1,004,483

(1,253,532)
(30,000)
(117,117)
1,027,348
854,403
172,945

$

NOTE J – SALE-LEASEBACK
In August 2007, the Company sold its warehouse and corporate facility for $1,400,000. Under the agreement, the Company is leasing back the property
from the purchaser over a period of five years. The Company is accounting for the leaseback as an operating lease. The gain of $266,226 realized in this
transaction was deferred and is being amortized to income ratably over the term of the lease. The unamortized deferred gain of $62,121 and $115,366 as of May
31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, is shown as deferred gain on sale-leaseback of building in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The short-term portion of
$53,245 is shown in current liabilities and the long-term portion is in other long-term liabilities. The amount amortized in fiscal 2011 and 2010 was $53,245.
NOTE K – WARRANTY LIABILITY
The changes in the Company’s product warranty liability are as follows:

Warranty liability at the beginning of the period
Expense for new warranties issued
Warranty claims
Warranty liability at the end of the period
Long-term warranty liability at the end of the period

$

$

Years ended May 31,
2011
2010
26,500 $
23,250
75,000
47,500
(71,667)
(44,250)
29,833
26,500
- $
-

Warranty liability is included in accrued expenses and other liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
NOTE L – NOTES PAYABLE
At May 31, 2010, the Company had $1,250,000 in notes payable to finance the start-up costs related to VasoHealthcare. Certain of the Company’s
beneficial owners executed promissory notes with the Company on various dates during April and May of 2010 carrying an interest rate of 5% per annum and
maturing on various dates in July 2010. These promissory notes were settled in June 2010 through the issuance of Series E preferred stock (see Note N).
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NOTE M – RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
On June 21, 2007, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Kerns Manufacturing Corp. (“Kerns”). Concurrently with our entry into the
Securities Purchase Agreement, we also entered into a Distribution Agreement and a Supplier Agreement with Living Data Technology Corporation (“Living Data”),
an affiliate of Kerns. Pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, as amended, we have become the exclusive worldwide distributor of the AngioNew EECP® systems
manufactured by Living Data. The Distribution Agreement has an initial term extending through May 31, 2012.
Pursuant to the Supplier Agreement, Living Data became our exclusive supplier of the external counterpulsation therapy systems that we market under the
registered trademark EECP®. On February 28, 2010, the Supplier Agreement was terminated and, in connection with the termination, the Company purchased
Living Data’s remaining inventory at cost ($469,450), which was paid in 7,824,167 shares of common stock valued at the closing price on the termination
date. Prior to termination, the Company purchased in fiscal 2010 additional EECP ® therapy systems for $40,000 from Living Data. Payment terms on certain
purchases prior to 2010, plus $2,260 in commissions for sales of certain BIOX products, leave a balance of $265,863 and $240,000 in Trade Payable due to
Related Party on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of May 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The payable balance due Living Data included
interest charges of $23,603 and $0 at May 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and was satisfied through a cash payment in August 2011.
On February 28, 2011, David Lieberman and Edgar Rios were appointed by the Board of Directors as directors of the Company. Mr. Lieberman, a
practicing attorney in the State of New York, was appointed to serve as the Vice Chairman of the Board. He is currently a senior partner at the law firm of
Beckman, Lieberman & Barandes, LLP, which performs certain legal services for the Company. Fees of approximately $42,000 were paid to the firm through the
three months ending May 31, 2011, at which time no unpaid amounts were outstanding. Mr. Rios currently is President of Edgary Consultants, LLC, and was
appointed in conjunction with the Company’s consulting agreement with Edgary Consultants, LLC.
The consulting agreement (the “Agreement”) between Vasomedical, Inc. and Edgary Consultants, LLC (“Consultant”) commenced on March 1, 2011 and
terminates on February 28, 2013. The Agreement provides for the engagement of Consultant to assist the Company in seeking broader reimbursement coverage
of EECP® therapy. More specifically, Consultant will be assisting the Company in the following areas:
1. Engaging the adoption of EECP® therapy as a first line option for FDA cleared indications as it relates to CCS Class III/IV angina with a major commercial
healthcare third-party payer.
2. Engaging a major commercial healthcare payer to formally collaborate and co-sponsor a study with Vasomedical for the efficacy, efficiency and/or cost
effectiveness of the EECP® therapy for NYHA Class II/III heart failure.
3. Engaging final approval from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) of EECP® therapy as a first line treatment for CCS Class III/IV
angina.
4. Engaging final approval from CMS to extend coverage and provide for the reimbursement of EECP® therapy for CCS Class II angina; and
5. Engaging final approval from CMS to extend coverage and provide for the reimbursement of EECP® therapy for NYHA Class II/III heart failure.
In consideration for the services to be provided by Consultant under the Agreement, the Company has agreed to issue to Consultant or its
designees, approximately 10% of the outstanding capital stock of the Company, of which the substantial portion (in excess of 82%) is performance based as
referenced above. In conjunction with the Agreement, 3,000,000 shares of restricted common stock valued at $1,020,000 were issued in March 2011. In
connection with the Agreement, Mr. Lieberman received 600,000 of these restricted shares. The Company has recorded the fair value of the shares issued to
Consultant as a prepaid expense and is amortizing the cost ratably over the two year agreement. The unamortized value is reported as deferred related party
consulting expense in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of May 31, 2011.
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In addition, two directors performed consulting services for the company during fiscal 2011, aggregating approximately $57,000.
During fiscal 2011, the Company sold, or issued as dividends, 246,870 shares of Series E Preferred Stock (see Note N) to directors, management, and
other related parties of the Company.
NOTE N – STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND WARRANTS
Common stock and warrants
See Note M for discussion of common stock issued in fiscal 2011 and 2010 in connection with related party agreements. The Company also issued
1,861,279 and 2,603,960 shares of common stock to directors, officers, employees, and/or consultants during fiscal year 2011 and 2010, respectively.
On July 19, 2005, we granted warrants for the purchase of 2,254,538 shares of common stock to investors and consultants. The warrants, with an
exercise price of $0.69 per share for a term of five years, expired unexercised on July 19, 2010.
On June 21, 2007, a five-year warrant to purchase 4,285,714 shares of our common stock at an initial exercise price of $0.08 per share was issued to
Kerns under the Securities Purchase Agreement. Additionally, we granted warrants for the purchase of 428,571 shares of common stock to a consultant in
conjunction with the Kerns Securities Purchase Agreement. The initial exercise price was $0.07 per share for a term of five years, and a cashless exercise was
made in April 2011 resulting in the issuance of 383,790 shares of common stock.
Warrant activity for the years ended May 31, 2010 and 2011 is summarized as follows:

Employees
Balance at May 31, 2009
Warrants expired
Warrants issued
Balance at May 31, 2010
Warrants expired
Warrants issued
Warrants exercised
Number of shares exercisable at May 31, 2011

-

Consultants
6,968,823
6,968,823
(2,254,538)
(428,571)
4,285,714

Total
6,968,823
6,968,823
(2,254,538)
(428,571)
4,285,714

Weighted
Average Price
$
0.27

$
$

0.27
0.69

$
$

0.07
0.08

Preferred stock
At May 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized. There were 299,024 shares of Series E preferred stock
issued and outstanding at May 31, 2011 and no shares issued and outstanding at May 31, 2010.
On June 24, 2010, the Company filed a Certificate of Designations of Preferences and Rights of Series E Convertible Preferred Stock (“Certificate of
Designations”), as authorized by the Board of Directors, designating 350,000 shares of its 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock as Series E Convertible Preferred
Stock (“Series E Preferred”). The following is a summary of the powers, designations, preferences and other rights of the Series E Preferred.
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i. Face Amount. The face amount per share of the Series E Preferred is $16.00.
ii. Dividends. Cumulative dividends will accrue at a rate of 5% per annum, payable semi-annually in additional shares of the Series E Preferred. Dividends
on the Series E Preferred will be paid in preference to any dividends paid to the holders of the Company’s common stock or any other series of the
Company’s preferred stock made junior to the Series E Preferred.
iii. Liquidation Preference. On any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, the holders of the Series E Preferred will receive payment of
twice the aggregate face amount thereof, plus all accrued and unpaid dividends, before any payments or distributions are paid or provided for the
Company’s common stock or any other series of the Company’s preferred stock made junior to the Series E Preferred. In the event of a sale of all or
substantially all the Company’s stock or assets, the holders of the Series E Preferred will receive payment of 1.2 times the aggregate face amount
thereof, plus all accrued and unpaid dividends, before any payments or distributions are paid or provided for the Company’s common stock or any
other series of the Company’s preferred stock made junior to the Series E Preferred.
iv. Conversion Rights. Each share of the Series E Preferred will be convertible at any time on or after January 1, 2011, at the holder’s option into 100
shares of common stock (an exercise price of $.16 per share of common stock, the “Conversion Price”), subject to anti-dilution adjustment as set forth
below. Each share of outstanding Series E Preferred shall automatically be converted into shares of common stock on or after July 1, 2011, at the
then effective applicable conversion ratio, if, at any time following the Issuance Date, the price of the common stock for any 30 consecutive trading
days equals or exceeds three times the Conversion Price and the average daily trading volume for the Company’s common stock for the 30
consecutive trading days exceeds 250,000 shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Series E Preferred shall be automatically converted into
common stock on June 1, 2015.
v. Voting Rights. Investors in the Series E Preferred will have voting rights in the ratio of 100 votes for each share of Series E Preferred and shall vote
together with the common stock as a single class.
vi. Anti-Dilution Adjustments. The 100-to-1 conversion ratio of the Series E Preferred will be subject to proportional adjustment for stock dividends, stock
splits and other similar changes in capitalization. If the Company issues or sells shares of its capital stock for consideration of a price of less than the
lesser of its then current market price or the applicable Conversion Price, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted to be such lower price at which the
Company issued or sold shares of its capital stock; provided, however, that the Company shall have the right to issue shares and options under its
option plans.
During the year ended May 31, 2011, the Company issued an aggregate of 314,649 shares of its Series E Preferred. 78,125 of the shares were issued to
cover the cancellation of the Notes Payable outstanding at May 31, 2010. Dividends totaling $203,584 have been accrued for the year ended May 31, 2011 of
which $100,768 were paid on January 1, 2011 through the issuance of 6,298 shares of the Company’s Series E Preferred pursuant to the Certificate of
Designations. Additional dividends totaling $225,019 were recorded in recognition of the embedded beneficial conversion feature associated with the Series E
Preferred during the year ended May 31, 2011.
Pursuant to the Series E Preferred conversion rights, 15,625 shares were converted into 1,562,500 shares of common stock in April 2011.
NOTE O - OPTION PLANS
1999 Stock Option Plan
In July 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the "1999 Plan"), for which the Company reserved an aggregate of
2,000,000 shares of common stock. The 1999 Plan provides that a committee of the Board of Directors of the Company will administer it and that the committee
will have full authority to determine the identity of the recipients of the options and the number of shares subject to each option. Options granted under the 1999
Plan may be either incentive stock options or non-qualified stock options. The option price shall be 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date
of the grant (or in the case of incentive stock options granted to any individual principal stockholder who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the total
combined voting power of all voting stock of the Company, 110% of such fair market value). The term of any option may be fixed by the committee but in no event
shall exceed ten years from the date of grant. Options are exercisable upon payment in full of the exercise price, either in cash or in common stock valued at fair
market value on the date of exercise of the option. In July 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors increased the number of shares authorized for issuance under
the 1999 Plan by 1,000,000 shares to 3,000,000 shares. In December 2001, the Board of Directors of the Company increased the number of shares authorized for
issuance under the 1999 Plan by 2,000,000 shares to 5,000,000 shares.
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In May 2006, the Board of Directors accelerated the vesting period for all unvested options to May 31, 2006.
The term for which options may be granted under the 1999 Plan expired July 12, 2009.
In fiscal 2010, options to purchase 30,000 shares of common stock under the 1999 Plan at an exercise price of $1.69 were retired or cancelled.
In fiscal 2011, options to purchase 1,100,000 shares of common stock under the 1999 Plan at an exercise price ranging from $3.88 to $0.09 were retired or
cancelled.
2004 Stock Option and Stock Issuance Plan
In October 2004, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2004 Stock Option and Stock Issuance Plan (the "2004 Plan"), for which the Company
reserved an aggregate of 2,500,000 shares of common stock. The 2004 Plan is divided into two separate equity programs: (i) the Option Grant Program under
which eligible persons (“Optionees”) may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, be granted options to purchase shares of common stock; and (ii) the Stock
Issuance Program under which eligible persons (“Participants”) may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, be issued shares of common stock directly, either
through the immediate purchase of such shares or as a bonus for services rendered to the Company.
Options granted under the 2004 Plan shall be non-qualified or incentive stock options and the exercise price is the fair market value of the common stock
on the date of grant except that for incentive stock options it shall be 110% of the fair market value if the Optionee owns 10% or more of our common stock. The
term of any option may be fixed by the Board of Directors or committee but in no event shall exceed ten years from the date of grant. Stock options granted under
the 2004 Plan may become exercisable in one or more installments in the manner and at the time or times specified by the committee. Options are exercisable
upon payment in full of the exercise price, either in cash or in common stock valued at fair market value on the date of exercise of the option. The term for which
options may be granted under the 2004 Plan expires July 12, 2014.
Under the stock issuance program, the purchase price per share shall be fixed by the Board of Directors or committee but cannot be less than the fair
market value of the common stock on the issuance date. Payment for the shares may be made in cash or check payable to us, or for past services rendered to us
and all shares of common stock issued thereunder shall vest upon issuance unless otherwise directed by the committee. The number of shares issuable is also
subject to adjustments upon the occurrence of certain events, including stock dividends, stock splits, mergers, consolidations, reorganizations, recapitalizations, or
other capital adjustments. The term for which shares may be issued under the 2004 Plan expires July 12, 2014.
The 2004 Plan provides that a committee of the Board of Directors of the Company will administer it and that the committee will have full authority to
determine and designate the individuals who are to be granted stock options or qualify to purchase shares of common stock under the 2004 Plan, the number of
shares to be subject to options or to be purchased and the nature and terms of the options to be granted. The committee also has authority to interpret the 2004
Plan and to prescribe, amend and rescind the rules and regulations relating to the 2004 Plan.
In May 2006, the Board of Directors accelerated the vesting period for all unvested options to May 31, 2006.
In fiscal 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors granted non-qualified stock options under the 2004 Plan to one director to purchase an aggregate of
200,000 shares of common stock, at an exercise price of $0.08 per share (which represented the fair market value of the underlying common stock at the time of
the respective grants) and the Company’s Board of Directors granted non-qualified stock options under the 2004 Plan to one officer to purchase an aggregate of
250,000 shares of common stock, at an exercise price of $0.08 per share (which represented the fair market value of the underlying common stock at the time of
the respective grants). These options expire five years from the date of grant. In fiscal 2010, options to purchase 449,463 shares of common stock under the 2004
Plan at exercise prices ranging from $0.57 to $3.96 were retired or cancelled.
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In fiscal 2011 there was no activity under the 2004 plan.
At May 31, 2011, there were 785,224 shares available for future grants under the 2004 Plan.
2010 Stock Option and Stock Issuance Plan
On June 17, 2010 the Board of Directors approved the 2010 Stock Plan (the “2010 Plan”) for officers, directors, employees and consultants of the
Company. The stock issuable under the 2010 Plan shall be shares of the Company’s authorized but unissued or reacquired common stock. The maximum
number of shares of common stock which may be issued under the 2010 Plan is 5,000,000 shares.
The 2010 Plan is comprised of two separate equity programs, the Options Grant Program, under which eligible persons may be granted options to
purchase shares of common stock, and the Stock Issuance Program, under which eligible persons may be issued shares of common stock directly, either through
the immediate purchase of such shares or as a bonus for services rendered to the Company.
The 2010 Plan provides that the Board of Directors, or a committee of the Board of Directors, will administer it with full authority to determine the identity of
the recipients of the options or shares and the number of options or shares. Options granted under the 2010 Plan may be either incentive stock options or nonqualified stock options. The option price shall be 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date of the grant ( or in the case of incentive stock
options granted to any individual stockholder possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all voting stock of the Company, 110% of such fair
market value). The term of any option may be fixed by the Board of Directors, or its authorized committee, but in no event shall it exceed five years from the date
of grant. Options are exercisable upon payment in full of the exercise price, either in cash or in common stock valued at fair market value on the date of exercise of
the option.
As of May 31, 2011, 3,790,000 restricted shares of common stock were granted under the 2010 Plan to non-officer employees and consultants of the
Company. As of May 31, 2011, 360,000 shares have been forfeited. In September 2010, 650,000 restricted shares of common stock were granted under the 2010
Plan to officers of the Company. No options were issued under the 2010 Plan during fiscal 2011 or 2010.
Stock option and stock grant activity under all the plans for the years ended May 31, 2010 and 2011 is summarized as follows:

Shares
Available for
Grant
3,266,125
(450,000)
479,463
(2,510,364)
785,224
920,000
1,705,224

Balance at June 1, 2009
Options granted
Options canceled
Expiration of 1999 Stock option plan
Balance at May 31, 2010
Options granted
Options canceled
Available under 2010 Plan
Balance at May 31, 2011

Outstanding Options
Range of
Weighted
Number of
Exercise Price
Average
Shares
per Share
Exercise Price
2,993,239 $ 0.09 - $3.96 $
1.34
450,000 $
0.08 $
0.08
(479,463) $ 3.96 - $0.57 $
1.24
2,963,776
(1,100,000)

$

0.08 - $3.96

$

0.57

$

0.09 - $3.88

$

0.94

1,863,776

$

0.08 - $3.96

$

0.34

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at May 31, 2011:

F-23

Vasomedical, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2011 and 2010

Range of Exercise
Prices
$
0.08 - $0.58
$
0.71 - $0.95
$
1.00 - $1.31
2.91 - $3.96
$

Number Outstanding
at May 31, 2011
1,689,776
30,000
90,000
54,000

Options Outstanding
Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual
Life (yrs.)
4.9
1.8
3.1
0.1

1,863,776

4.6

Options Exercisable

$
$
$
$

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
0.18
0.84
1.11
3.96

Number Exercisable at
May 31, 2011
1,689,776
30,000
90,000
54,000

$
$
$
$

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
0.18
0.84
1.11
3.96

$

0.34

1,863,776

$

0.34

There were 121,981,582 remaining authorized shares of common stock after reserves for all stock option plans and stock warrants.
NOTE P - INCOME TAXES
As of May 31, 2011, the recorded deferred tax assets were $19,495,900, reflecting a decrease of $1,470,475 during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2011,
which was offset by a valuation allowance of the same amount.
The Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) are summarized as follows:
2011
Net operating loss carryforwards
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred rent
Deferred gain on sale of building
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Reserve for obsolete inventory
Total gross deferred taxes
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

$

$

2010
19,301,250
(60
4,570
21,120
29,790
139,230
19,495,900
(19,495,900
-

$
)

)
$

20,783,805
(34,670
6,000
39,220
49,970
122,050
20,966,375
(20,966,375
-

)

)

At May 31, 2011, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of approximately $50.7 million expiring at
various dates from 2012 through 2031. In fiscal 2011 and 2010, approximately $5.4 million and $2.5 million, respectively, of net operating loss carryforwards
expired. Future expirations of net operating loss carryforwards are approximately as follows:
Fiscal Year
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereafter
Total

$

$

Amount
6,100,000
4,400,000
40,200,000
50,700,000

Income tax expense for the year ended May 31, 2011 consists primarily of accruals for state taxes and adjustments for amounts paid or accrued in excess
of actual income tax liabilities. The components of income tax benefit for the year ended May 31, 2010 include federal research and development credits of
approximately $17,400. The remaining income tax benefit for the year ended May 31, 2010 consist primarily of federal and state refunds and adjustments for
amounts paid or accrued in excess of actual income tax liabilities.
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Under current tax law, the utilization of tax attributes will be restricted if an ownership change, as defined, were to occur. Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code provides, in general, that if an “ownership change” occurs with respect to a corporation with net operating and other loss carryforwards, such
carryforwards will be available to offset taxable income in each taxable year after the ownership change only up to the “Section 382 Limitation” for each year
(generally, the product of the fair market value of the corporation’s stock at the time of the ownership change, with certain adjustments, and a specified long-term
tax-exempt bond rate at such time). The Company’s ability to use its loss carryforwards will be limited in the event of an ownership change.
The following is a reconciliation of the effective income tax rate to the federal statutory rate:

Federal statutory rate
State income taxes
Change in valuation allowance
relating to operations
Other

2011
%
(34.00)
(6.00)

2010
%
(34.00)
(6.00)

40.00
0.17

40.00
(1.90)

0.17

(1.90)

NOTE Q - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Sales Representation ASgreement
The GEHC Agreement is for an initial term of three years commencing July 1, 2010, subject to extension and also subject to earlier termination under
certain circumstances. These circumstances include not materially achieving certain sales goals, not maintaining a minimum number of sales representatives, and
various legal and GEHC policy requirements. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company is required to lease dedicated computer equipment from GEHC for
connectivity to their network. Activities under this agreement are conducted by our Sales Representation segment, and 100% of commission revenues and cost of
commissions, as presented in our consolidated statements of operations, relate to these activities.
Leases
On August 15, 2007, we sold our Westbury, New York facility under a five-year leaseback agreement, expiring in August 2012. VasoHealthcare rents an
office in Greensboro, North Carolina pursuant to a lease which expires in May 2013. Future rental payments under the operating leases are as follows:
For the years ended May 31,

2012
2013
Total

$
$

Rent expense related to these leases for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 was approximately $196,000 and $150,000, respectively.
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Employment Agreement
On March 21, 2011, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with its President and Chief Executive Officer, for a three-year term ending on
March 14, 2014 (the “Employment Agreement”). The Employment Agreement provides for annual compensation of $200,000, eligibility for annual bonuses and
long-term incentive awards, and certain severance benefits in the event of termination prior to the expiration date of the Employment Agreement.
Litigation
The Company is currently, and has been in the past, a party to various routine legal proceedings incident to the ordinary course of business. The Company
believes that the outcome of all such pending legal proceedings in the aggregate is unlikely to have a material adverse effect on the business or consolidated
financial condition of the Company.
NOTE R - 401(K) PLAN
In April 1997, the Company adopted the Vasomedical, Inc. 401(k) Plan to provide retirement benefits for its employees. As allowed under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code, the plan provides tax-deferred salary deductions for eligible employees. Employees are eligible to participate in the next quarter enrollment
period after employment. Participants may make voluntary contributions to the plan up to 15% of their compensation. In fiscal years 2011 and 2010, the Company
made discretionary contributions of approximately $27,000 and $3,000, respectively, to match a percentage of employee contributions.
NOTE S – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Automatic Conversion of Series E Preferred Stock
The Series E Preferred is subject to automatic conversion on or after July 1, 2011 if, at any time following the Issuance Date, the price of the common stock for any
30 consecutive trading days equals or exceeds three times the Conversion Price and the average daily trading volume for the Company’s common stock for the 30
consecutive trading days exceeds 250,000 shares. This condition was met in the 30 trading days ended May 10, 2011. As a result, the Company expects to
convert all preferred shares to common stock.
Lease Agreement
In June 2011, the Company began taking deliveries under a closed-end master lease agreement for the provision of vehicles to the sales team of its Sales
Representation segment. Vehicles obtained under the terms of the agreement are leased generally for a 36 month term, and payments are fixed for each year of
the agreement, subject to readjustment at the beginning of the second and third year. Lease payments for fiscal 2012 are estimated to be $285,000 and the total
lease commitment is estimated to aggregate approximately $924,000.
Business Combination
Effective August 19, 2011, the Company, through its newly formed subsidiary, Vasomedical Acquisition Corp., signed an agreement to purchase Life
Enhancement Technology Limited and Biox Instruments Co., Ltd., both of which are based in the People’s Republic of China.
The purchase agreement for these acquisitions provides for a cash payment at closing of $1,000,000 and the issuance of 5,000,000 restricted shares of the
Company’s common stock together with two year purchase warrants to acquire an aggregate of 1,500,000 additional shares of common stock at market price, as
defined, but in no event at a price less than $.50 per share nor greater than $1.00 per share. The sellers also have the right to acquire up to 2,400,000 additional
shares of common stock entirely based on calendar 2011 financial performance.
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Fiscal Year Change
In June, 2011, the Company’s board of directors approved a change in fiscal year end from May 31 to December 31. The change is planned to take effect
December 31, 2011.

F-27

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT
AMONG
THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FAST GROWTH ENTERPRISES LIMITED
AS SELLERS
AND
VASOMEDICAL ACQUISITION CORP. AS PURCHASER
FOR
THE PURCHASE OF ALL OF THE OUTSTANDING CAPITAL STOCK
OF
FAST GROWTH ENTERPRISES LIMITED
DATED AS OF AUGUST 19, 2011

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 -

INCORPORATION OF RECITALS; CERTAIN DEFINITIONS, CONSTRUCTION

Page
1

1.1
1.2
1.3
ARTICLE 2 2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
ARTICLE 3 3.1
ARTICLE 4 4.1
4.2
ARTICLE 5 5.1
5.2
5.3
5.4
5.5
ARTICLE 6 6.1
6.2
6.3
6.4
6.5
6.6
6.7
6.8
6.9
6.10
6.11
6.12
6.13
6.14
6.15
6.16

Recitals
Certain Definitions
Gender; Number; Certain Definitions, References
PURCHASE AND SALE OF FGE SHARES; CLOSING
Agreement to Purchase and Sell.
Consideration.
Manner of Delivery of FGE Shares
Time and Place of Closing.
CERTAIN VASOMEDICAL COVENANTS
Due Diligence
CERTAIN FGE AND FGE SHAREHOLDER COVENANTS
Due Diligence
Delivery of Financial Statements
NO REGISTRATION OF VASOMEDICAL SHARES OR WARRANTS
Compliance with Regulation
Restrictions on Transfer
Instructions to Transfer Agent
Obligation to Participate in the Closing; Closing Procedures
Expenses of Transfer and Other Transactions
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF VASOMEDICAL
Corporate Existence and Power
Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws; Minute Books
Status of Purchaser.
Corporate Authorization
Vasomedical Board Consent
Governmental Authorization
Non-Contravention
Capitalization; Validity of Securities
SEC Filings
Financial Statements
Absence of Certain Changes
Compliance with Laws and Court Orders
Litigation
Taxes
Employee Benefit Plans
Environmental Matters

1
1
5
6
6
6
6
7
7
7
7
7
8
8
8
8
9
9
9
9
9
9
10
10
10
10
10
11
11
11
12
12
12
12
13
13

ARTICLE 7 7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6
7.7
7.8
7.9
7.10
7.11
7.12
7.13
7.14
7.15
7.16
7.17
7.18
ARTICLE 8 8.1
8.2
ARTICLE 9 9.1
9.2
9.3
ARTICLE 10 10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
ARTICLE 11 11.1
11.2
ARTICLE 12 12.1
12.2

REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTIES OF FGE AND THE FGE SHAREHOLDERS
Existence and Power
Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws; Minute Books
Authorization
Governmental Authorization
Non-Contravention
Capitalization; Validity of Securities
Subsidiaries
Financial Statements; Absence of Certain Changes
No Undisclosed Material Liabilities
Compliance with Laws and Court Orders
Litigation
Finder’s Fee
Taxes
Employee Benefit Plans
Environmental Matters
Intellectual Property
Beneficial Ownership of FGE Shareholders
Investment Representations
COVENANTS OF VASOMEDICAL PENDING CLOSING.
Preservation
Reservation of Shares of Vasomedical Common
COVENANTS OF FGE AND FGE SHAREHOLDERS PENDING CLOSING.
Preservation
Negative Covenants
Access and Information
CERTAIN COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES PENDING AND FOLLOWING CLOSING
Covenants of FGE Shareholders
Initial 8-K
Confidentiality
Standstill Agreement
Notification as to Certain Events
Reasonable Efforts; Further Action
Closing Report
Additional Filings
Lock-Up
DELIVERIES AT CLOSING
Vasomedical Deliveries
FGE Deliveries
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES
Conditions Precedent to Obligations of All Parties
Conditions Precedent to Obligations of Vasomedical and Purchaser

14
14
14
14
15
15
15
16
16
18
18
18
19
19
19
19
20
20
20
21
21
21
21
21
22
23
24
24
24
24
25
25
25
26
26
26
26
26
27
27
27
28

12.3
ARTICLE 13 13.1
13.2
13.3
ARTICLE 14 ARTICLE 15 15.1
15.2
15.3
15.4
15.5
15.6
15.7
ARTICLE 16 ARTICLE 17 ARTICLE 18 ARTICLE 20 ARTICLE 21 ARTICLE 22 -

Conditions to Obligations of FGE and the FGE Shareholders
TERMINATION
Right to Terminate
Termination Notice; Termination Date
Effects of Termination
NATURE AND SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS
INDEMNIFICATION
General.
FGE Shareholder’s Indemnification Obligations.
Limitation on FGE’s Shareholder Indemnification Obligations.
Vasomedical’s Indemnification Obligations.
Limitations on Vasomedical’s Indemnification Obligations.
Cooperation.
Procedures.
NOTICES
AMENDMENTS; NO WAIVERS.
GOVERNING LAW; ARBITRATION
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS; NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES
ENTIRE AGREEMENT
COUNTERPARTS

29
29
29
30
30
31
31
31
31
31
32
32
33
33
34
35
37
36
36
37

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT
THIS STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement”) is made as of August 19, 2011 by and among VASOMEDICAL, INC., a Delaware corporation
(“Vasomedical”), VASOMEDICAL ACQUISITION CORP., a wholly owned subsidiary of Vasomedical. (“Purchaser”), FAST GROWTH ENTERPRISES LIMITED, A
British Virgin Islands limited liability company (“FGE”) and the shareholders of FGE signatory hereto (“Sellers” or the “FGE Shareholders). All capitalized terms
shall have the meanings used herein, including as referenced in Article 1 hereof.
RECITALS
A.

Sellers own all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of FGE (the “ Shares”);

B.
FGE is a company that conducts its activities solely through its ownership of all the outstanding capital shares of Wuxi Jiantong Instruments Co.,
Ltd., a limited liability company (“GenTone”) formed under the laws of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and of Peace Joy Management Limited, a limited
liability company formed under the laws of the British Virgin Island (“PJM”).
C.
PJM conducts its activities solely through its ownership of all of the outstanding capital shares of Life Enhancement Technology Ltd., a limited
liability company formed under the laws of the PRC (“LET”).
D.
GenTone conducts its activities solely through the controlling interest it holds in each of BIOX Instruments Co., Ltd., a limited liability company
formed under the laws of the PRC (“BIOX”) and Foshan Litone Medical Devices Co., Ltd., a limited liability company formed under the laws of the PRC (“Litone”),
which controlling interest, as to Biox and Litone, has been established through a separate (i) exclusive technology and management consulting and service
agreement; (ii) power of attorney; (iii) pledge agreement; and (iv) option of share purchase agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1 - INCORPORATION OF RECITALS; CERTAIN DEFINITIONS, CONSTRUCTION
1.1

Recitals.
The recitals set forth above are incorporated unto this Agreement as if they were set forth in full in the body of this Agreement.

1.2

Certain Definitions.
As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:

1

“Affiliate” means (i) a Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with the
Person specified; or (ii) any relative or spouse of such Person, or any relation of such spouse, who has the same home as such Person. As used in this
definition, the term “control” (including the terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control”) means the possession, direct or indirect, of the
power, whether exercised or not, to direct or cause the acquisition and/or disposition by such Person of the assets and properties of the other Person,
whether through the ownership of voting securities or otherwise.
“Assigned Value” means, on a per share basis, the average of the daily closing price of a share of Vasomedical common stock on the OTC- Pink Sheets for
the sixty trading days ending with the third business day preceding the Closing Date.
“Blue Sky Law” means the securities laws and regulations of the various states of the United States, Puerto Rico and the District of Columbia.
“BVI” means the British Virgin Islands.
“Closing” means the closing of the purchase and sale of the FGE Shares, as contemplated by this Agreement.
“Closing Date” means the date of the Closing as set forth in Section 2.4.
“Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and any successor
law, rules and regulations.
“DGCL” means the Delaware General Corporation Law.
“Encumbrance” means any mortgage, charge, claim, community property interest, lien, option, pledge, security interest, pre-emptive right, right of first
refusal or restriction, including restriction on use, voting, transfer, receipt of income or exercise of any other attribute of ownership, or any other adverse
claim of any kind.
“Environmental Laws” means any federal, state, local or foreign law (including, without limitation, common law and the laws of the PRC and the United
States), treaty, judicial decision, regulation, rule, judgment, order, decree, injunction, permit or governmental restriction or requirement or any agreement
with any governmental authority or other third party, relating to human health and safety or the environment and arising from the use, presence, disposal,
discharge or release of pollutants, contaminants, wastes or chemicals or any toxic, radioactive, ignitable, corrosive, reactive or otherwise hazardous
substances, wastes or materials.
“Environmental Permits” mean, with respect to any person, all permits, licenses, franchises, certificates, approvals and other similar authorization of
governmental authorities relating in any way to, the business of such person as currently conducted.
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“Exchange Act” means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
“FGE” means Fast Growth Enterprises Limited, a British Virgin Islands limited liability company.
“FGE Balance Sheet” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.8____.
“FGE Balance Sheet Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.8___.
“FGE Common” means common shares of FGE, [par value $1.00 per share.]
“FGE Disclosure Schedule” means the disclosure schedule of FGE attached as Exhibit A to this Agreement.
“FGE Signatory Shareholders” means the holders of 100% of the issued and outstanding FGE Common.
“FGE Shares” means all outstanding shares of FGE Common.
“FGE PJM Shareholder” means the FGE Shareholders that formerly owned PJM.
“FGE GenTone Shareholders” means the FGE Shareholders that previously owned GenTone.
“Governmental Authority” means any court, tribunal, authority, agency, commission, bureau, department, arbitrator or official or other instrumentality of the
United States or any other country (including, without limitation, the PRC and the BVI) or any provincial, state, local, county, city or other political
subdivision.
"Governmental Permit" means any license, franchise, permit or other authorization, consent or approval of any Governmental Authority.
“Intellectual Property Right” means any right to use, whether through ownership, licensing or otherwise, or any title to, any patents, trademarks, service
marks, trade names, copyrights, trade secrets and other proprietary rights and processes.
“Lien” means any lien, pledge, hypothecation, levy, mortgage, deed of trust, security interest, claim, lease, charge, option, right of first refusal, easement, or
other real estate declaration, covenant, condition, restriction or servitude, transfer restriction under any stockholder or similar agreement, Encumbrance,
other adverse claim of any kind or any other restriction or limitation whatsoever.
“Lock-Up” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.9.
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“Material Adverse Effect” means any change, effect, event, occurrence or state of facts that has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a material
adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the entity in question and its subsidiaries, if any, taken as a whole.
“Operating Companies” means BIOX, LET and LiTone.
“OTCBB” means the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board.
“Person” means any individual, group, corporation, company, partnership, limited liability company or partnership, association, trust or other entity or
organization, including any government or political subdivision or any agency or instrumentality of either.
“Regulation S” means Regulation S promulgated under the Securities Act.
“Rule 144" means Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act as currently in effect or hereafter amended and any successor rule.
“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, or any successor body.
“Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any successor statute.
“Seller” means each FGE Shareholder.
“Standstill Agreement” means the covenants, representations and warranties of the FGE Shareholders contained in Section 10.4.
“Target” means consolidated financial results of operations for FGE for the calendar year 2011 (including operations before and after Closing) with net
revenues of $1,685,000.
“Taxes” means any and all federal, state, local, foreign or other taxes of any kind (together with any and all interest, penalties, additions to tax and
additional amounts imposed with respect thereto) imposed by any taxing authority including, without limitation, taxes or other charges on or with respect to
income, franchises, windfall or other profits, gross receipts, sales, use, capital stock, payroll, employment, social security, workers’ compensation,
unemployment compensation or net worth, and taxes or other charges in the nature of excise, withholding, ad valorem or value added.
“Termination Date” means the date of termination of this Agreement as set forth in Section 13.2.
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“Trading Day” means a day on which trades may be effected in the Pink Sheets or any system of automated dissemination of quotations of securities
prices, including the OTCBB.
“Transaction Documents” means this Agreement (including all exhibits hereto) and all other documents and instruments delivered by FGE, the Sellers, the
Purchaser and Vasomedical pursuant to this Agreement.
“Vasomedical” means Vasomedical, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
“Vasomedical Balance Sheet” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.10.
“Vasomedical Balance Sheet Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.10.
“Vasomedical Board” means the Board of Directors of Vasomedical.
“Vasomedical Common” means common stock of Vasomedical, par value $0.001 per share.
“Vasomedical Performance Shares” means Vasomedical common issued pursuant to Section 2.2.3 hereof.
“Vasomedical Purchase Shares” means the shares of Vasomedical common stock to be issued by Vasomedical as partial consideration for the purchase of
the FGE Shares at the Closing.
“Vasomedical Transaction Securities” means the Vasomedical Purchase Shares, the Vasomedical Warrant, the shares of common stock of Vasomedical
issuable upon exercise of the Vasomedical Warrant and all shares of Vasomedical common stock issuable pursuant to Section 2.2.3.
“Vasomedical SEC Filings” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.9.
“Vasomedical Warrant” means the common stock purchase warrants of Vasomedical to be issued by Vasomedical as partial consideration for the purchase
of the all FGE Shares at the Closing.
1.3

Gender; Number; Certain Definitions, References.

The headings of Sections in this Agreement are provided for convenience only and shall not affect its construction or interpretation. In this Agreement (i)
words denoting the singular include the plural and vice versa, (ii) "it" or "its" or words denoting any gender include all genders, (iii) the word "including" shall mean
"including, without limitation," whether or not expressed, (iv) any reference to a statute shall mean the statute and any regulations thereunder in force as of the date
of this Agreement or the Closing, as applicable, unless otherwise expressly provided, (v) any reference herein to a Section, Schedule or Exhibit refers to a Section
of or a Schedule or Exhibit to this Agreement, unless otherwise stated, and (vi) when calculating the period of time within or following which any act is to be done or
steps taken, the date which is the reference day in calculating such period shall be excluded and if the last day of such period is not a Business Day, then the
period shall end on the next day following that is a Business Day. Each party acknowledges that such party has been advised and represented by counsel in the
negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and accordingly agrees that if an ambiguity exists with respect to any provision of this Agreement, such
provision shall not be construed against any party because such party or its representatives drafted such provision.

5

ARTICLE 2 - PURCHASE AND SALE OF FGE SHARES; CLOSING

2.1

Agreement to Purchase and Sell.

On the basis of the representations, warranties, covenants, and agreements, and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth herein, at
the Closing, Purchaser shall purchase from Sellers, and each Seller shall sell, assign, transfer and deliver to Purchaser, all of the FGE Shares, free and clear of all
Liens. The total consideration to be given by Purchaser in connection with the acquisition of the FGE Shares shall be the sum of the payments and share and
warrant issuances described in Section 2.2 below (collectively, the “Purchase Price”).

2.2

Consideration.

2.2.1
Cash Payments at Closing. The cash payment at Closing shall equal One Million ($1,000,000) Dollars and shall be paid or satisfied at the
Closing by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such bank account(s) as Seller shall designate by written notice delivered to Purchaser not later than three
(3) business days prior to the Closing. The amount to be paid or issued at Closing to each FGE Shareholder is set forth in Schedule 2.2 hereto.
2.2.2
Securities Payment at Closing. The securities payment at closing shall consist of (i) Five million (5,000,000) shares of Common Stock of
Vasomedical; and (ii) a two year common stock purchase warrant covering one million five hundred thousand (1,500,000) shares of common stock of Vasomedical
with an initial exercise or purchase price equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Assigned Value (the “Purchase Warrant”); but in no event shall the Warrant
exercise price be less than $.50 nor greater than $1.00 per share. The amount to be paid or issued at Closing to each FGE Shareholder is set forth in Schedule 2.2
hereto.
2.2.3
Performance Based Securities Payment. A performance based securities payment of two million (2,000,000) shares of Vasomedical’s common
stock will be made in 2012 if net revenue of FGE for the year 2011 meets the Target. An additional 400,000 shares will be issued to FGE if net revenue of FGE for
the year 2011 exceeds the Target by at least thirty (30%) percent. The performance based securities payment, if any, will be calculated in 2012 following
preparation of the audited financial statements of FGE Operating Companies for the year 2011 (the “2011 FGE Financial Statements”). Performance based shares
of common stock of Vasomedical will be issued to the FGE Shareholders as set forth in Schedule 2.2 within fifteen (15) business days following the issuance of
2011 FGE Financial Statements.
2.3

Manner of Delivery of FGE Shares.

At the Closing, Seller shall deliver to Purchaser certificates evidencing the FGE Shares, accompanied by valid stock powers duly executed in blank, in
proper form for transfer and in form and substance satisfactory to Purchaser.
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2.4

Time and Place of Closing.

The transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be consummated (the “ Closing”) at such place and manner of closing as agreed upon by the parties
promptly after the satisfaction or waiver of each of the conditions set forth in Sections 12.2 and 12.3, or on such other date, or at such time or place, as shall be
mutually agreed upon in writing by Sellers and Purchaser. The date on which the Closing occurs in accordance with the preceding sentence is referred to in this
Agreement as the “Closing Date.”
ARTICLE 3 - CERTAIN VASOMEDICAL COVENANTS
3.1

Due Diligence.

Subject to compliance by the parties with the provisions of Section 10.3, from the date hereof until the Closing Date, Vasomedical shall give the FGE
Shareholders, their counsel, financial advisers, auditors and other authorized representatives (collectively, “FGE Representatives”) (a) full access to the offices,
properties, books and records of Vasomedical and its subsidiaries, (b) such financial and operating data and other information relating to Vasomedical and its
subsidiaries as such Persons may reasonably request, and (c) instruct the employees of Vasomedical and its subsidiaries and Vasomedical’s counsel, financial
advisers, auditors and other authorized representatives (collectively, the “Vasomedical Representatives”) to cooperate with the FGE Shareholders and the FGE
Representatives in their due diligence investigation of Vasomedical and its subsidiaries, their business, assets, financial condition and other matters. No
investigation by the FGE Shareholders or any of their representatives shall operate as a waiver or otherwise affect any representation, warranty or agreement given
or made by Vasomedical hereunder.
ARTICLE 4 - CERTAIN FGE AND FGE SHAREHOLDER COVENANTS
4.1

Due Diligence.

Subject to compliance by the parties with the provisions of Section 10.3, from the date hereof until the Closing Date, FGE shall give, and the FGE Shareholders
shall cause FGE to give, the Vasomedical Representatives (a) full access to the offices, properties, books and records of FGE and any subsidiaries (including the
Operating Companies), (b) such financial and operating data and other information relating to FGE and its subsidiaries (including the Operating Companies) as such
Persons may reasonably request, and (c ) instruct the employees of FGE and the FGE Representatives to cooperate with Vasomedical and the Vasomedical
Representatives in their due diligence investigation of FGE and any subsidiaries (including the Operating Companies), their business, assets, financial condition and
other matters. No investigation by Vasomedical or any of the Vasomedical Representatives shall operate as a waiver or otherwise affect any representation,
warranty or agreement given or made by FGE or any FGE Signatory Shareholder hereunder.
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4.2

Delivery of Financial Statements.

No less than ten (10) business days prior to the closing, Sellers will cause FGE to deliver to Purchaser audited consolidated financial statements of PJM for
the years 2009 and 2010 prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards for Private Entities and audited consolidated financial statements
of Operating Companies for the years 2009 and 2010 prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and China Accounting System
for Business Enterprises.
ARTICLE 5 –NO REGISTRATION OF VASOMEDICAL SHARES OR WARRANTS

5.1

Compliance with Regulation

Based on the representations by each FGE Shareholder that he or it is not a resident of the United States and that he or it is acquiring Vasomedical Transaction
Securities for its own account, has not engaged in any negotiations concerning this transaction in the United States, and has no present intention of distribution set
forth in Section 7.18, Vasomedical is issuing the Vasomedical Transaction Securities without registration under the Securities Act in reliance upon the exemption
provided by Regulation S.
5.2

Restrictions on Transfer.

The parties acknowledge and agree that none of the Vasomedical Transaction Securities shall be registered under the Securities Act or Blue Sky Laws and are
intended to be issued pursuant to an exemption therefrom under Regulation S of the Act or other applicable exemption, shall be “restricted securities” within the
meaning of Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act, and may not be resold, offered for resale, transferred, pledged, distributed or otherwise hypothecated
unless registered under the Securities Act and applicable Blue Sky Laws or exempt from such registration under the terms of Rule 144 or otherwise, and
Vasomedical receives an opinion of counsel satisfactory to Vasomedical in its reasonable discretion to the effect that such registration is not required. Each
certificate representing any Vasomedical Transaction Securities, shall bear a legend substantially in the following form:
“THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 (THE
“ACT”) OR APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS AND ARE “RESTRICTED SECURITIES” WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144
AND REGULATION S UNDER THE ACT. THE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED FOR SALE, SOLD, PLEDGED, ASSIGNED,
HYPOTHECATED OR OTHER-WISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT
UNDER THE ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, OR PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM SUCH
REGISTRATION, PROVIDED THAT THE ISSUER OF THESE SECURITIES SHALL HAVE FIRST RECEIVED AN OPINION OF
COUNSEL REASONABLY ACCEPTABLE TO THE ISSUER TO THE EFFECT THAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED.”
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5.3

Instructions to Transfer Agent.

Vasomedical shall instruct its transfer agent to annotate the applicable records to reflect the restrictions on transfer contained in this Agreement on the
Closing Date with respect to the Vasomedical Purchase Shares, the Purchase Warrant, the shares of common stock of Vasomedical issuable upon exercise of the
Purchase Warrant and the Performance Shares (collectively the “Vasomedical Transaction Securities”); and their issuance dates, with respect to any other shares
of Vasomedical common stock constituting Vasomedical Transaction Securities.
5.4

Obligation to Participate in the Closing; Closing Procedures .

On the Closing Date, each FGE Shareholder shall tender to the Purchaser for purchase all shares of FGE Common owned by such Shareholder, and
Vasomedical shall issue and deliver to each such FGE Shareholder the number of Vasomedical Purchase Shares set forth in Schedule 2.2 hereto; and a Purchase
Warrant covering the number of shares of Vasomedical Common set forth in Schedule 2.2 hereto.

5.5

Expenses of Transfer and Other Transactions.

Each party shall pay all expenses, including legal and auditing fees, incurred by such party in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of
this Agreement and consummation of the Closing and the other transactions contemplated hereby or by the other Transaction Documents.
ARTICLE 6 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF VASOMEDICAL
Vasomedical represents and warrants:
6.1

Corporate Existence and Power.

Vasomedical is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and has all corporate power
and authority and all Governmental Permits required to carry on its business as now conducted, except for those Governmental Permits, the absence of which
would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.
6.2

Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws; Minute Books .

The copies of the certificate of incorporation and by-laws of Vasomedical, each as amended, provided by Vasomedical to FGE are true, correct and
complete. The minute books of Vasomedical contain true and complete records of all meetings and consents in lieu of meetings of its Board of Directors (and any
committees thereof), or similar governing bodies, and true, correct and complete records of all meetings and consents in lieu of meetings of Vasomedical’s
stockholders since the time of its organization. The stock books of Vasomedical are true, correct and complete.
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6.3

Status of Purchaser.

The Purchaser is a recently formed limited liability company wholly owned by Vasomedical which has only conducted activities related to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.
6.4

Corporate Authorization.

The execution, delivery and performance by Vasomedical of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the consummation by it of the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby are within Vasomedical’s corporate powers and, subject to receipt of the Vasomedical Board Approval, have been
duly authorized by all necessary corporate action. No vote of the holders of the outstanding shares of Vasomedical Common, or any other securities of
Vasomedical is necessary in connection with the consummation of the Closing and the other transactions contemplated hereby to be consummated on the
Closing. Each of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents constitutes a valid and binding agreement of Vasomedical enforceable against Vasomedical
in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting the enforcement of
creditors’ rights generally now or hereafter in effect and subject to the application of equitable principles and the availability of equitable remedies.
6.5

Vasomedical Board Consent

Subject to the receipt of the Vasomedical Board Approval, the execution, delivery and performance by Vasomedical of this Agreement and each of the
other Transaction Documents will be duly authorized by Vasomedical’s Board of Directors and no vote or approval of the shareholders of Vasomedical is required.
6.6

Governmental Authorization.

The execution, delivery and performance by Vasomedical of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the consummation by Vasomedical of
the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority other than (a) filing with the SEC of
the Closing Report on Form 8-K with respect to the Closing, (b) compliance with any applicable requirements of Regulation S, and (c) any other filings, and/or
other approvals or authorizations which, if not obtained, would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on Vasomedical or materially
impair the ability of Vasomedical to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
6.7

Non-Contravention.

The execution, delivery and performance by Vasomedical of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the consummation by Vasomedical
of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not (a) violate the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of Vasomedical, (b) assuming
compliance with any matters referred to in the opinion of BVI counsel and PRC counsel referenced in Sections 12.2.3 and 12.2.4 violate any applicable law, rule,
regulation, judgment, injunction, order or decree, (c) require any consent or other action by any Person under, constitute a default under, or give rise to any right of
termination, cancellation or acceleration of any right or obligation of Vasomedical or to a loss of any benefit to which Vasomedical is entitled under any provision of
any agreement or other instrument binding upon Vasomedical or any Governmental Permit, or other similar authorization affecting, or relating in any way to, the
assets or business of Vasomedical, or (d) result in the creation or imposition of any Lien or Encumbrance on any asset of Vasomedical except, in the case of
clauses (b), (c) and (d), for such matters as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have Material Adverse Effect on Vasomedical or materially impair the ability
of Vasomedical to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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6.8

Capitalization; Validity of Securities.

As of the date hereof, the authorized capital stock of Vasomedical consists of (i) 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock of which 314,649 shares are
outstanding as of the date hereof and (ii) 250,000,000 shares of Vasomedical Common, of which 117,078,704 are issued and outstanding as of May 31, 2011 and
there are no other outstanding securities of Vasomedical. All outstanding shares of capital stock and other securities of Vasomedical have been duly authorized
and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable. The Vasomedical Transaction Securities, when issued, sold and delivered, will be duly and validly issued,
fully-paid, and non-assessable.
6.9

SEC Filings.
6.9.1 Vasomedical has delivered to FGE for delivery to the FGE shareholders (i) Vasomedical’s Annual Report for its 2009 and 2010 fiscal years, (ii) all
proxy or information statements relating to meetings of, or actions taken without a meeting by, the stockholders of Vasomedical since January 1,
2009 and (iii) all other reports, statements, schedules and registration statements filed by Vasomedical with the SEC since January 1, 2009 (all of
the documents referred to in this Section collectively, the “Vasomedical SEC Filings”).
6.9.2 As of its filing date, each Vasomedical SEC Filing complied in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the
Exchange Act and did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the
statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

6.10

Financial Statements.

The audited consolidated financial statements and unaudited consolidated condensed interim financial statements of Vasomedical included in the SEC
Filings fairly present, in conformity with GAAP (except, as to application on a consistent basis, as may be indicated in the notes thereto), the consolidated financial
position of Vasomedical as of the dates there of and the results of operations and cash flows for the periods then ended (subject to normal year-end adjustments
in the case of any unaudited interim financial statements). For purposes of this Agreement, “Vasomedical Balance Sheet” means the audited balance sheet of
Vasomedical as of May 31, 2010 set forth in Vasomedical’s Annual Report for the period ended May 31, 2010 on Form 10-K, as filed with the SEC and
“Vasomedical Balance Sheet Date” means May 31, 2010.
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6.11 Absence of Certain Changes.
Since the Vasomedical Balance Sheet Date, the business of Vasomedical has been conducted in the ordinary course consistent with past practices and
there has not been, except as set forth in any SEC Filing made between the Balance Sheet Date and the date hereof any event, occurrence, development or state
of circumstances or facts which would, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on Vasomedical.
6.12 Compliance with Laws and Court Orders .
Except as set forth in any SEC Filing made between the Balance Sheet Date and the date hereof, Vasomedical is and has been in compliance with, and to
the best knowledge of Vasomedical, is not under investigation with respect to and has not been threatened to be charged with or given notice of any violation of,
any applicable law, rule, regulation, judgment, injunction, order or decree, including, without limitation, the requirements of the Exchange Act, the Securities Act,
ERISA or any federal labor laws except for such matters as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on Vasomedical.
6.13 Litigation.
Except as set forth in any SEC Filings made between the Vasomedical Balance Sheet Date and the date hereof, there is: (a) no claim, dispute, action, suit,
proceeding or investigation pending or, to the knowledge of Vasomedical, threatened, against or affecting the business of Vasomedical, or challenging the validity
or propriety of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents, at law or in equity or admiralty or before any federal,
state, local, foreign or other governmental authority, board, agency, commission or instrumentality, nor to the knowledge of Vasomedical, has any such claim,
dispute, action, suit, proceeding or investigation been pending or threatened, during the 12 month period preceding the date hereof; (b) no outstanding judgment,
order, writ, ruling, injunction, stipulation or decree of any court, arbitrator or federal, state, local, foreign or other governmental authority, board, agency,
commission or instrumentality, against or materially affecting the business of Vasomedical; and (c) Vasomedical has not received any written or verbal inquiry from
any federal, state, local, foreign or other governmental authority, board, agency, commission or instrumentality concerning the possible violation of any law, rule or
regulation or any matter disclosed in respect of its business. The disclosure in such SEC Filings with respect to any matters covered by this Section 6.13 are true,
correct and complete in all material respects on the dates when made and on the date hereof and do not contain any misstatement of any related material fact or
omit to state any such material fact required to be stated therein in order to make the statements contained therein not misleading.
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6.14 Taxes.
Except as set forth in the Vasomedical Balance Sheet (including the notes thereto) and except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a
Material Adverse Effect on Vasomedical, (a) all tax returns, statements, reports and forms (collectively, the “Vasomedical Returns”) required to be filed with any
taxing authority by, or with respect to, Vasomedical and each affiliated, combined, consolidated or unitary group of which Vasomedical is a member are true,
correct and complete and have been filed in accordance with all applicable laws; (b) Vasomedical has timely paid all taxes shown as due and payable on the
Vasomedical Returns that have been so filed (other than taxes which are being contested in good faith and for which adequate reserves are reflected on the
Vasomedical Balance Sheet) and, as of the time of filing, the Vasomedical Returns correctly reflected the facts regarding the income, business, assets, operations,
activities and the status of Vasomedical; (c) Vasomedical has made adequate provision in accordance with GAAP for all taxes payable by Vasomedical for which
no Vasomedical Return has yet been filed; (d) the charges, accruals and reserves for taxes with respect to Vasomedical reflected on the Vasomedical Balance
Sheet are adequate under GAAP to cover the tax liabilities accruing through the date thereof; (e) there is no action, suit, proceeding, audit or claim now proposed
or pending against or with respect to Vasomedical in respect of any tax where there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse determination; (f) Vasomedical is not
and has not been a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group other than one of which Vasomedical was the common parent.
6.15 Employee Benefit Plans.
Except as set forth in the Vasomedical SEC Filings, Vasomedical does not maintain, nor has Vasomedical maintained in the past, any “employee benefit
plans” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, or any plans, programs, policies, practices, arrangements or contracts (whether group or individual) providing for
payments, benefits or reimbursements to employees of Vasomedical, former employees, their beneficiaries and dependents under which such employees, former
employees, their beneficiaries and dependents are covered through an employment relationship with Vasomedical, any entity required to be aggregated in a
controlled group or affiliated service group with Vasomedical for purposes of ERISA or the Code (including, without limitation, under Section 414(b), ( c), (m) or (o)
of the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA, at any relevant time (“Benefit Plans”).
6.16

Environmental Matters.

Except as set forth in the Vasomedical SEC Filings prior to the date hereof and except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material
Adverse Effect on Vasomedical:
6.16.1 no notice, notification, demand, request for information, citation, summons or order has been received, no complaint has been filed, no penalty has
been assessed, and no investigation, action, claim, suit, proceeding or review is pending or, to the knowledge of Vasomedical, is threatened by any
governmental entity or other person relating to or arising out of any Environmental Law;
6.16.2 Vasomedical is and has been in compliance with all Environmental Laws and all Environmental Permits; and
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6.16.3 There are no liabilities of or relating to Vasomedical of any kind whatsoever, whether accrued, contingent, absolute, determined, determinable or
otherwise arising under or relating to any Environmental Law and there are no facts, conditions, situations or set of circumstances which could
reasonably be expected to result in or be the basis for any such liability.
6.16.4 The terms “Vasomedical” shall, for purposes of this Section, include any entity which is, in whole or in part, a corporate predecessor of
Vasomedical.
ARTICLE 7 - REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTIES OF FGE AND THE FGE SHAREHOLDERS
FGE and the FGE Shareholders, jointly and severally represent and warrant (except that no FGE PJM Shareholder makes any representation as to GenTone and
its subsidiaries, and no FGE GenTone Shareholder makes any representation as to PJM and its subsidiaries) except as otherwise set forth herein or in the FGE
Disclosure Schedule:
7.1

Existence and Power .

Each Operating Company and GenTone is a limited liability company duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the People’s
Republic of China and has all corporate power and authority and all Governmental Permits required to carry on its business as now conducted. Each of FGE and
PJM is a limited liability company duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the British Virgin Islands, and has all corporate power and
authority and all Governmental Permits required to carry on its business as now conducted.

7.2

Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws; Minute Books .

The copies provided to Vasomedical by FGE of its certificate of formation and operating agreement are true, correct and complete copies thereof, each as
amended to date. The minute books of FGE contain true and complete records of all meetings and consents in lieu of meetings of its Board of Directors (and any
committees thereof), or similar governing bodies, since the time of its organization. The ownership records of FGE are true, correct and complete.
7.3

Authorization.

The execution, delivery and performance by FGE of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the consummation by FGE of the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby are within FGE’s powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate and shareholder action of
FGE. This Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents constitutes a valid and binding agreement of FGE, enforceable against FGE in accordance
with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights
generally now or hereafter in effect and subject to the application of equitable principles and the availability of equitable remedies. This Agreement and each of the
other Transaction Documents constitutes a valid and binding agreement of each FGE Shareholder, enforceable against each such FGE Shareholder in accordance
with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights
generally now or hereafter in effect and subject to the application of equitable principles and the availability of equitable remedies.
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7.4

Governmental Authorization.

The execution, delivery and performance by FGE and each FGE Shareholder of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to be executed by
FGE and the FGE Shareholders and the consummation by FGE and the FGE Shareholders of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby involving FGE and
the FGE Shareholders require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority and any other filings, approvals or authorizations which, if not
obtained, would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on FGE or materially impair the ability of FGE or any of the FGE Shareholders
to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents.
7.5

Non-Contravention.

The execution, delivery and performance by FGE and the FGE Shareholders of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the
consummation by the FGE Shareholders of the Closing and the other transactions involving the FGE Shareholders contemplated hereby or thereby do not and will
not (a) violate the formation documents of FGE, (b) violate any applicable law, rule, regulation, judgment, injunction, order or decree, (c) require any consent or
other action by any Person under, constitute a default under, or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any right or obligation of FGE or
a loss of any benefit to which FGE is entitled under any provision of any agreement or other instrument binding upon FGE or any Operating Company or any
Governmental Permit or other similar authorization affecting, or relating in any way to, the assets or business of FGE or any Operating Company, or (d) result the
creation or imposition of any Lien or Encumbrance on any asset of FGE or any Operating Company except, in the case of clauses (b), (c) and (d), for such matters
as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have Material Adverse Effect on FGE or any of the Operating Companies or materially impair the ability of the FGE
Shareholders to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents.
7.6

Capitalization; Validity of Securities.

As of the date hereof, the authorized capital stock of FGE is fifty thousand (50,000) shares, and as of the date hereof, two (2) shares are outstanding. All
outstanding shares of capital stock of FGE have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable. Except as set forth in this
Agreement, there are no outstanding (a) shares of capital stock or voting securities of FGE, (b) securities of FGE convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable
for shares of capital stock or voting securities of FGE or (c) options, restricted stock, other stock-based compensation awards or other rights to acquire from FGE
or other obligation of FGE to issue, any capital stock, voting securities or securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for capital stock or voting
securities of FGE. There are no outstanding obligations of FGE to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any securities referred to in clauses (a), (b) or (c)
above. The shares of FGE Common, when transferred and delivered pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, will be duly and validly issued, fully-paid, and nonassessable. The assignments, endorsements, stock powers and other instruments of transfer to be delivered by each Seller to the Purchaser at the Closing will be
sufficient to transfer such Seller’s entire interest, legal and beneficial, in such shares of FGE Common. Each FGE Shareholder has full power and authority to
transfer its shares of FGE Common and upon transfer to the Purchaser of the instruments representing such shares, Purchaser will receive good and marketable
title to such shares, free and clear of all Liens and Encumbrances.
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7.7

Subsidiaries.

FGE does not as of the date hereof own, directly or indirectly, any capital stock, equity or interest in any corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture or other
entity other than those of PJM, GenTone and the Operating Companies.
7.8

Financial Statements; Absence of Certain Changes.
Schedule Section 7.8 includes an income statement and balance sheet for each of the years 2009 and 2010 of LET (“LET Statements”).
Schedule Section 7.8 includes an income statement and balance sheet of BIOX for each of the years 2009 and 2010 (“BIOX Statements”).

Schedule Section 7.8 includes an income statement and balance sheet of Litone for each of the years 2009 and 2010 (“Litone Statements” and collectively
with the LET Statements and the BIOX Statements “the Existing Operating Company Statements”). The Existing Operating Company Statements are complete and
correct in all material respects, fairly present the results of operations for the operating companies for the periods involved, have been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied in the PRC and have been expressed in United States dollars in conformity with prevailing exchange
rates for the periods involved.
Except as otherwise set forth in Schedule Section 7.8 and the FGE Disclosure Schedule or required by the terms of this Agreement or any of the other
Transaction Documents, since December 31, 2010 (“FGE Balance Sheet Date”), the business of FGE and its subsidiaries (including the Operating Companies) has
been conducted in the ordinary course consistent with past practices and there has not been:
7.8.1 any event, occurrence, development or state of circumstances or facts which would, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect
on FGE, or any of the Operating Companies;
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7.8.2 any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend or other distribution with respect to any shares of capital stock of FGE;
7.8.3 any amendment of any material term of any outstanding security of FGE or any of its subsidiaries;
7.8.4 any incurrence, assumption or guarantee by FGE or any of its subsidiaries of any material indebtedness for borrowed money other than in the
ordinary course and in amounts and on terms consistent with past practices;
7.8.5 any creation or other incurrence by FGE or any of its subsidiaries of any Lien or Encumbrance on any material asset other than in the ordinary
course consistent with past practices;
7.8.6 any making of any material loan, advance or capital contributions to or investment in any person other than loans, advances or capital contributions
made in the ordinary course consistent with past practices;
7.8.7 any damage, destruction or other casualty loss (whether or not covered by insurance) affecting the business or assets of FGE or any of its
subsidiaries which would, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on FGE, or any of the Operating Companies;
7.8.8 any transaction or commitment made, or any contract or agreement entered into, by FGE or any of its subsidiaries relating to its assets or business
(including the acquisition or disposition of any assets) or any relinquishment by FGE or any of its subsidiaries of any contract or other right, in
either case, material to FGE and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, other than transactions and commitments in the ordinary course consistent with
past practices and those contemplated by this Agreement;
7.8.9 any (i) grant of any severance or termination pay to any current or former director, officer or employee of FGE or any of its subsidiaries, (ii)
increase in benefits payable under any existing severance or termination pay policies or employment agreements, (iii) entering into of any
employment, deferred compensation or other similar agreement (or any amendment to any such existing agreement) with any current or former
director, officer or employee of the Vasomedical or any of its subsidiaries, (iv) establishment, adoption or amendment (except as required by
applicable law) of any collective bargaining, bonus, profit sharing, thrift, pension, retirement, deferred compensation, compensation, stock option,
restricted stock or other benefit plan or arrangement covering any current or former director, officer or employee of FGE or any of its subsidiaries,
or (v) increase in compensation, bonus or other benefits payable or otherwise made available to any current or former director, officer or employee
of FGE or any of its subsidiaries; or
7.8.10 any material dispute or, with any officer, director or employee of FGE or any subsidiary; or any tax election or any settlement or compromise of any
tax liability, in either case that is material to FGE and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
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7.9

No Undisclosed Material Liabilities.

As of the date hereof, there are no liabilities of FGE or any of its subsidiaries including the Operating Companies of any kind whatsoever, whether accrued,
contingent, absolute, determined, determinable or otherwise, and there is no existing condition, situation or set of circumstances which could reasonably be
expected to result in such a liability, other than:
7.9.1 liabilities or obligations provided for in the Existing Operating Company Statements or disclosed in the notes thereto;
7.9.2 other liabilities or obligations, which would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on FGE, or any subsidiary;
7.9.3 liabilities or obligations under this Agreement; and
7.9.4 liabilities or obligations described in this Agreement or in Section 7.9 of the FGE Disclosure Schedule.
7.10

Compliance with Laws and Court Orders .

FGE and each of its subsidiaries, including the Operating Companies, is and has been in compliance with, and to the best knowledge of FGE and the FGE
Shareholders, is not under investigation with respect to and has not been threatened to be charged with or given notice of any violation of, any applicable law, rule,
regulation, judgment, injunction, order or decree, except for such matters as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on FGE, or
any subsidiary.
7.11

Litigation.

There is no claim, dispute, action, suit, proceeding or investigation pending or, to the knowledge of FGE and the FGE Shareholders, threatened, against or
affecting the business of FGE or any Operating Company, or challenging the validity or propriety of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, at law or in
equity or admiralty or before any federal, state, local, foreign or other governmental authority, board, agency, commission or instrumentality, nor to the knowledge
of FGE, has any such claim, dispute, action, suit, proceeding or investigation been pending or threatened, during the 12 month period preceding the date hereof;
(b) there is no outstanding judgment, order, writ, ruling, injunction, stipulation or decree of any court, arbitrator or federal, state, local, foreign or other governmental
authority, board, agency, commission or instrumentality, against or materially affecting the business of FGE or any Operating Company; and (c) FGE and each
Operating Company has not received any written or verbal inquiry from any federal, state, local, foreign or other governmental authority, board, agency,
commission or instrumentality concerning the possible violation of any law, rule or regulation or any matter disclosed in respect of its business.
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7.12

Finder’s Fee.

There is no investment banker, broker, finder or other intermediary which has been retained by or is authorized to act on behalf of FGE or any of its
subsidiaries (including the Operating Companies) who might be entitled to any fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.
7.13

Taxes.

Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on FGE or any Operating Company, (a) all tax returns, statements,
reports and forms (collectively, the “FGE Returns”) required to be filed with any taxing authority by, or with respect to, FGE and its subsidiaries (including the
Operating Companies) and each affiliated, combined, consolidated or unitary group of which FGE is a member are true, correct and complete and have been filed in
accordance with all applicable laws; (b) FGE and its subsidiaries have timely paid all taxes shown as due and payable on the FGE Returns that have been so filed
(other than taxes which are being contested in good faith and for which adequate reserves are reflected on the Existing Operating Company Statements) and, as of
the time of filing, the FGE Returns correctly reflected the facts regarding the income, business, assets, operations, activities and the status of FGE and its
subsidiaries; (c) the charges, accruals and reserves for taxes with respect to FGE and its subsidiaries reflected on the Existing Operating Company Statements are
adequate to cover the tax liabilities accruing through the date thereof; and (d) there is no action, suit, proceeding, audit or claim now proposed or pending against
or with respect to FGE or any of its subsidiaries (including the Operating Companies) in respect of any tax where there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse
determination.
7.14

Employee Benefit Plans.

Except for withholding and match requirements under applicable laws and regulations, FGE and the Operating Companies do not maintain, nor has FGE or
any Operating Company maintained in the past, any “employee benefit plans”, or any plans, programs, policies, practices, arrangements or contracts (whether
group or individual) providing for payments, benefits or reimbursements to employees of FGE or any Operating Company, former employees, their beneficiaries
and dependents under which such employees, former employees, their beneficiaries and dependents are covered through an employment relationship with FGE or
any Operating Company, any entity required to be aggregated in a controlled group or affiliated service group.
7.15

Environmental Matters.

Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on FGE or any Operating Company: (a) no notice, notification,
demand, request for information, citation, summons or order has been received, no complaint has been filed, no penalty has been assessed, and no investigation,
action, claim, suit, proceeding or review is pending or, to the knowledge of FGE, is threatened by any governmental entity or other person relating to or arising out
of any Environmental Law; and (b) there are no liabilities of or relating to FGE or any of its subsidiaries of any kind whatsoever, whether accrued, contingent,
absolute, determined, determinable or otherwise arising under or relating to any Environmental Law and there are no facts, conditions, situations or set of
circumstances which could reasonably be expected to result in or be the basis for any such liability.
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7.16 Intellectual Property.
Schedule Section 7.16 hereto sets forth a true and complete list of all (i) Trademarks, (ii) Patent Rights, (iii) Copyrights, and (iv) License Rights held by FGE
or any of its subsidiaries, including the Operating Companies. All Trademarks, Patent Rights, Copyrights, License Rights and Trade Secrets of FGE that are owned
by FGE or the Operating Companies are owned free and clear of any and all licenses, liens, claims, security interests, charges or other encumbrances or
restrictions of any kind, except as reflected on Schedule Section 7.16, and no licenses for the use of any of such rights have been granted by FGE or any
subsidiary to any third parties, except as reflected in Schedule Section 7.16 attached hereto. All of such rights are valid, enforceable and in good standing and are
reasonably sufficient and appropriate for the conduct of the business of FGE or any of its subsidiaries, including the Operating Companies as currently and
proposed to be conducted. The consummation of the other transactions contemplated hereby will not adversely affect any rights of FGE or any of its subsidiaries,
including the Operating Companies in the Intellectual Property of FGE or any of its subsidiaries, including the Operating Companies. To the knowledge of FGE and
the Operating Companies, the operation of FGE and the Operating Companies does not infringe in any way on or conflict with any registered or unregistered
patent, trademark, trade name, copyright, trade secret, contract, license or other right, of any person, and FGE and the Operating Companies do not license any
such right from others except as set forth on Schedule Section 7.16. No claim is pending or to the knowledge of FGE and the FGE Shareholders, threatened or has
been made within the past five (5) years, to the effect that any such infringement or conflict has occurred. No other Intellectual Property, other than the Intellectual
Property owned or licensed by the Operating Companies, is required by their business as conducted prior to the date hereof. No Operating Company has any
knowledge of any infringement by any third parties upon any of the Intellectual Property of such Operating Company.
7.17

Beneficial Ownership of FGE Shareholders .

The FGE Shareholder owns, in the aggregate, 100% of the shares of FGE Common issued and outstanding on the date hereof. The FGE Shareholders
shall not offer, sell, transfer, pledge, assign or otherwise dispose of any of their shares of FGE Common or securities convertible into or exchangeable for FGE
Common from the date hereof until the earlier of (a) termination of this Agreement and (b) effectuation of the Closing and related transactions.
7.18

Investment Representations.
7.18.1 Each FGE Shareholder will be acquiring Vasomedical Purchase Shares and any other Vasomedical Transaction Securities for investment for such
Shareholder’s own account and not as a nominee or agent, and not with a view to the resale or distribution of any part thereof.
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7.18.2 Each FGE Shareholder is a citizen and resident of a country other than the United States.
7.18.3 Each FGE Shareholder understands, that the offer and sale of the Vasomedical Purchase Shares and any other Vasomedical Transaction
Securities have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act on the ground that the sale and the issuance of securities hereunder is
exempt from registration under the Securities Act pursuant to Regulation S thereunder thereof, and that Vasomedical’s reliance on such exemption
is predicated on such Seller’s representations set forth in Sections 7.18.1 and 7.18.2 hereof.
7.18.4 Each FGE Shareholder acknowledges that such Person can bear the economic risk of an investment in the Vasomedical Purchase Shares and
other Vasomedical Transaction Securities.
ARTICLE 8 - COVENANTS OF VASOMEDICAL PENDING CLOSING.
Vasomedical covenants that, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, from the date hereof until the first to occur of the Closing Date and the
Termination Date:
8.1

Preservation.
Vasomedical shall:
8.1.1 maintain its corporate existence in good standing; and
8.1.2

8.2

preserve intact in all material respects its business organization, preserve its goodwill, exercise reasonable efforts to keep available the services
of Vasomedical’s current officers and employees, to preserve the goodwill of those having business relations with Vasomedical, and perform all
contracts to which Vasomedical is a party.

Reservation of Shares of Vasomedical Common.

Prior to the Closing, Vasomedical shall have reserved for issuance pursuant to this Agreement the number of shares of Vasomedical Common sufficient to
meet all of Vasomedical’s obligations hereunder.
ARTICLE 9 - COVENANTS OF FGE AND FGE SHAREHOLDERS PENDING CLOSING .
FGE and the FGE Shareholders, as applicable, covenant and agree that except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, from the date hereof until the first
to occur of the Closing Date and the Termination Date:
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9.1

Preservation.
FGE shall and the FGE Shareholders shall cause FGE to:
9.1.1 maintain its corporate existence and that of its subsidiaries in good standing;
9.1.2 cause each Operating Company to preserve intact in all material respects its business organization, preserve its goodwill, exercise reasonable
efforts to keep available the services of its current employees and managers all contracts to which each Operating Company is or becomes a party;
9.1.3 maintain in effect all of its currently existing insurance coverage, if any, or substantially equivalent insurance coverage; and
9.1.4 notify Purchaser immediately of any litigation or other proceeding in which any of the Operating Companies, FGE or any of their executive officers
or managers is named as a defendant or respondent.

9.2

Negative Covenants.

FGE shall not, and the FGE Shareholders agree they shall not, except as contemplated by this Agreement or as may be necessary to effect the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, do or propose to do or vote their shares of FGE Common Shares or otherwise consent to any of the following:
9.2.1 amend or otherwise modify FGE’s governing documents;
9.2.2 issue, sell, dispose of or subject to any Lien or Encumbrance or authorize the issuance, sale, disposition, or imposition of any Lien or
Encumbrance on, or grant or issue any option, warrant or other right to acquire, or make any agreement with respect to, any shares of any class of
capital stock of FGE or any security convertible into or exercisable for any such securities, or alter any of the terms of any outstanding security or
make any change in its authorized or outstanding capital stock or its capitalization, whether by reason of any reclassification, recapitalization, stock
split, combination, exchange or readjustment of shares, any stock dividend or otherwise, or permit the exercise of any outstanding options;
9.2.3 declare, set aside, make or pay any dividend or other distribution to any FGE Shareholder in respect of any class of capital stock of FGE;
9.2.4 as to FGE and each Operating Company, redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire any of its outstanding securities;
9.2.5 increase the compensation or other remuneration or benefits payable or to become payable to any director or executive officer of FGE or an
Operating Company, or increase the compensation or other remuneration of benefits payable or to become payable to any other employee or
consultant or agent of FGE or an Operating Company, except pursuant to existing agreements;
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9.2.6 adopt or, except as required by applicable law, amend or make any unscheduled contribution to any employee benefit plan for or with employees,
or hire any employees as to FGE and each Operating Company;
9.2.7 terminate or modify any contract, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, except for any termination upon the
expiration of any contract prior to the earlier of the Closing Date or Termination Date in accordance with the terms of such contract as to FGE and
each Operating Company;
9.2.8 as to FGE and each Operating Company, create, incur, assume or otherwise become liable for any indebtedness in an aggregate amount in
excess of seventy-five thousand dollars ($75,000), other than indebtedness incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practices;
9.2.9 cancel, compromise, release or waive any material receivable, claim or right of FGE or any Operating Company;
9.2.10 as to FGE and each Operating Company, adopt accounting principles or practices other than as required by GAAP or SEC accounting rules or as
may be recommended by FGE’s auditors;
9.2.11 permit FGE or any subsidiary including any Operating Company to make any loan or advance to any person or acquire any capital stock or other
securities, or ownership interest in or any material amount of assets, of any other business enterprise, or make any material capital investment or
expenditure or capital improvement other than in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice;
9.2.12 adopt any plan of dissolution or liquidation as to FGE or any subsidiary including any Operating Companies;
9.2.13 settle or compromise any Tax liability or agree to the extension of any statute of limitations as to FGE or any subsidiary including any Operating
Companies;
9.2.14 take any action that would render any of the representations or warranties of FGE contained in this Agreement misleading, untrue or incorrect in
any material respect (subject to any limitations on materiality set forth herein), or cause FGE or any FGE Shareholder to breach or fail to satisfy or
comply with any covenant, condition or agreement of FGE or any FGE Shareholder contained herein or in any of the other Transaction Documents
in any material respect.

9.3

Access and Information.
FGE shall comply with the provisions of Section 4.1.
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ARTICLE 10 - CERTAIN COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES PENDING AND FOLLOWING CLOSING

10.1

Covenants of FGE Shareholders

Each FGE Shareholder acknowledges and agrees that except for the transfer of securities contemplated by this Agreement, such Shareholders may not
offer, sell, transfer, pledge, assign, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of their respective securities of FGE (whether held on the date hereof or acquired at any time
from the date hereof through the Closing Date) until the transfer shall have been effected.
10.2

Initial 8-K.

Upon execution and delivery of this Agreement, if required, Vasomedical shall prepare and cause its counsel to prepare and provide to the FGE
Shareholders and their counsel for review, a Current Report on Form 8-K for filing with the SEC with respect to such execution and delivery (the “Initial 8-K”). FGE
Shareholders and their counsel shall provide Vasomedical and its counsel with any comments on the Initial 8-K no later than one business day prior to the due date
for filing same with the SEC, provided that the FGE Shareholders and their counsel shall have received a draft of same no later than three (3) business days prior to
such due date. FGE and the FGE Shareholders shall provide Vasomedical with such information as Vasomedical may reasonably request in connection with the
preparation of the Initial 8-K.
10.3

Confidentiality.

Each of the parties covenants and agrees to keep confidential any and all material non-public information which it has heretofore obtained or shall hereafter
obtain, directly or indirectly, from Vasomedical or FGE pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise, and agrees to use the same only for the purposes of this
Agreement but without disclosing the same to any party except as provided below, without Vasomedical’s prior written consent; provided that the terms of this
Section 10.3 shall not extend to any such information that: (a) is already publicly known; (b) has become publicly known without any fault of the disclosing party or
anyone to whom FGE or Vasomedical has made disclosure in compliance with the terms of this Section 10.3; or ( c) is required to be disclosed to any
Governmental Authority as a result of operation of law, regulation, or court order; provided, however, that party wishing to make any disclosure pursuant to this
clause ( c) shall have first given prompt written notice, if permitted, of such requirement to FGE and Vasomedical and cooperates with Vasomedical and FGE to
restrict such disclosure and/or obtain confidential treatment thereof. The foregoing notwithstanding, each of FGE and Vasomedical may disclose such information
to its Affiliates and its directors, officers and employees and representatives or the directors, officers, employees and representatives of any of its Affiliates that have
a need to know such information (collectively, the “FGE Parties” and the “Vasomedical Parties,” respectively); provided that FGE or Vasomedical, as the case may
be, informs such Persons of the restrictions set forth in this Section 10.3 with respect to such information and such Persons agree to comply with the provisions of
this Section 10.3. Each of FGE and Vasomedical further agrees to give prompt notice to the other of any disclosure made by any of the FGE Parties or the
Vasomedical Parties, respectively, in breach of this Section 10.3, to the extent FGE or Vasomedical, respectively, has knowledge of such disclosure; provided that
FGE or Vasomedical, respectively, shall have no liability for losses incurred by the other party or any of its Affiliates or their respective officers, directors,
stockholders, employees, or representatives solely as the result of the failure by Vasomedical or FGE, respectively, following its actual receipt of notice from FGE
or Vasomedical, respectively, of disclosure of information in breach of this Agreement, to make prompt public disclosure of the information so disclosed.
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10.4

Standstill Agreement.

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the parties agree that the following affirmative and negative covenants apply between the date hereof and
the first to occur of (a) the Closing Date and (b) termination of this Agreement (the “Standstill Agreement”):
10.4.1 Except for discussions with Vasomedical and the Purchaser, neither FGE nor any of the FGE Shareholders shall discuss or negotiate with any
other Person, or entertain or consider any inquiries, or proposals relating to any the possible issuance of any capital stock or other securities of
FGE or FGE’s acquisition by another Person, whether through an exchange of securities, stock or asset acquisition, merger, consolidation or
otherwise; and FGE shall, and the FGE Shareholders shall cause FGE and the subsidiaries including the Operating Companies to, conduct
business only in the ordinary course.
10.5

Notification as to Certain Events.

Each party shall promptly notify the others of (a) the occurrence or non-occurrence of any fact or event of which such party has knowledge that would be
reasonably likely (I) to cause any representation or warranty of such party contained in this Agreement to be untrue or incorrect in any material respect at any time
from the date hereof to the Closing or (ii) to cause any covenant, condition or agreement of such party in this Agreement not to be complied with or satisfied in any
material respect and (b) any failure of such party to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied by it hereunder in
any material respect; provided, however, that no such notification shall affect any of the representations or warranties of such party, or the right of the other party to
rely thereon, or the conditions to the obligations of the parties, or the remedies available hereunder, except as otherwise provided in Section 10.5. The parties shall
give prompt notice to the other parties of any notice or other communication from any third Person alleging that the consent of such third Person is or may be
required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
10.6

Reasonable Efforts; Further Action .

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions contained herein, each of the parties hereto shall use its reasonable efforts (exercised diligently and in good
faith) to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all other things reasonably necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make
effective as promptly as practicable the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, to obtain in a timely manner all necessary authorizations and approvals and
to effect all necessary registrations and filings, and otherwise to satisfy or cause to be satisfied all conditions precedent to its obligations under this Agreement.
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10.7 Closing Report.
Prior to Closing, Vasomedical shall prepare and cause its counsel to prepare and provide to FGE Shareholders and their counsel for review, a Current
Report on Form 8-K for filing with the SEC with respect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing Report”). FGE and
its counsel shall provide Vasomedical and its counsel with any comments on the draft of the Closing Report no later than three (3) business days prior to the due
date for filing same with the SEC, provided that FGE and its counsel shall have received a draft of same no later than five (5) business days prior to such due
date. FGE Shareholders and FGE shall provide Vasomedical with such information as Vasomedical may reasonably request in connection with the preparation of
the Closing Report. FGE and Vasomedical shall, and shall cause their respective auditors to, cooperate in the preparation of the financial statements required to be
filed with or as an amendment to the Closing Report (the “Exchange Financial Statements”).
10.8

Additional Filings.

The parties shall cooperate with respect to all other filings, applications and notices required to be submitted to any Governmental Authorities and other
Persons, or necessary or proper to carry out the transactions contemplated by any of the Transaction Documents.
10.9

Lock-Up.

Each FGE Shareholder agrees not to offer, sell, transfer, assign pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of (a) the Vasomedical Purchase Shares and
Purchase Warrants such shareholder receives in the Closing for a period commencing on the date on which such holder receives such securities at the Closing and
continuing until the first anniversary of the Closing Date; and (b) any Vasomedical Performance Shares such shareholder receives in 2012 for a period commencing
on a date on which such Shareholder receives such securities and continuing until the first anniversary of its receipt (the “Lock-Up”).
ARTICLE 11 - DELIVERIES AT CLOSING
11.1

Vasomedical Deliveries. Vasomedical shall deliver to FGE and the FGE Shareholders at the Closing:
11.1.1 certificates representing the Vasomedical Purchase Shares and the Vasomedical Warrant for transfer;
11.1.2 a certificate of an executive officer of Vasomedical certifying that the representations and warranties of Vasomedical contained in this Agreement
are true and correct on the Closing Date (except those representations and warranties which by their terms refer to another date or dates) and that
Vasomedical has satisfied all of the conditions to Closing which it is required to satisfy pursuant to this Agreement;
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11.1.3 a copy of a certificate of good standing for Vasomedical issued not more than five (5) days prior to Closing by the Delaware Secretary of State; and
11.1.4 a certificate of the Secretary of Vasomedical certifying as to the incumbency and signatures of the officer of Vasomedical executing and delivering
documents at Closing, and that attached to such certificate are true and correct copies of the Vasomedical Board Approval.
11.2 FGE Deliveries.
FGE and the FGE Shareholders shall deliver to Vasomedical and the Purchaser at Closing:
11.2.1 certificates representing their shares of FGE Common or other evidence of issuance and ownership thereof duly endorsed for transfer;
11.2.2 certificate of each FGE shareholder as to his status as a foreign citizen in compliance with Regulation S requirements;
11.2.3 a certificate of an executive officer of FGE certifying that the representations and warranties of FGE contained in this Agreement are true and
correct on the Closing Date (except those representations and warranties which by their terms refer to another date or dates) and that FGE has
satisfied all of the conditions to Closing which it is required to satisfy pursuant to this Agreement;
11.2.4 a copy of a certificate of incumbency confirming good standing of FGE, or a similar document, issued not more than ten (10) days prior to Closing
by the Registered Agent of FGE; and
11.2.5 a certificate of the Secretary of FGE certifying as to the incumbency and signatures of the officers of FGE executing and delivering documents at
Closing, and that attached to such certificate are true and correct copies of the certificates of formation and operating agreement of FGE and
Operating Companies, each as amended to the Closing Date.
ARTICLE 12 - CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES
12.1

Conditions Precedent to Obligations of All Parties.

The obligations of the parties to consummate the Closing and the other transactions contemplated hereby are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:
12.1.1All required approvals of or consents to this Agreement by any Governmental Authority applicable to Vasomedical and the Purchaser acquiring the
FGE Shares shall have been obtained which may be legally obtained on or before the Closing Date.
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12.2

Conditions Precedent to Obligations of Vasomedical and Purchaser.

The obligations of Vasomedical and Purchaser to consummate the Closing and the other transactions contemplated hereby are subject to the satisfaction
of the following conditions:

12.2.1Each of FGE and the FGE Shareholders shall have performed, in all material respects, all of their respective obligations under this Agreement
required to be performed by it or them prior to the Closing Date;
12.2.2 the respective representations and warranties of FGE and the FGE Shareholders contained in this Agreement and in any certificate or other writing
delivered by FGE or any such FGE Shareholder pursuant to this Agreement shall be true at and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such
time, except to the extent that particular representations or warranties are made as of other specified date or dates, in which event, they shall be
true as of such other date or dates, respectively, and Vasomedical shall have received a certificate signed by an executive officer of FGE and by the
FGE Shareholders to the foregoing effect;
12.2.3Vasomedical and the Purchaser shall have received an opinion of counsel in the British Virgin Islands satisfactory to Vasomedical and the
Purchaser with respect to such matters of British Virgin Islands law as they shall request pertaining to FGE and the acquisition of the FGE Shares;
12.2.4 Vasomedical and the Purchaser shall have received an opinion of counsel in the PRC with respect to such matters of PRC law as they shall
request pertaining to the ownership and operations of the FGE subsidiaries including Operating Companies (including, without limitation, the
effectiveness of the agreement providing GenTone with control of each of BIOX and Litone) and the absence of any action required in the PRC
(other that action already taken by Vasomedical) as a consequence of Vasomedical and the Purchaser acquiring through ownership of FGE, control
of the Operating Companies and such other matters as they may request;
12.2.5 Vasomedical and the Purchaser shall each be satisfied, in its sole judgment, that the consolidated financial statements of FGE for 2009, 2010 and
2011 are auditable so as to be in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles of the United States consistently applied (“GAAP”).
12.2.6 Vasomedical and the Purchaser shall have received confirmation of the authority and genuineness of signatures of each of the FGE Shareholders;
and
12.2.7 Vasomedical or FGE shall have entered into written employment agreements satisfactory to Vasomedical and Purchaser with the persons set forth
on Schedule 12.2.7.
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12.2.8 There shall have not occurred any material adverse changes in the business or financial condition of FGE or any subsidiary including an Operating
Company between the date hereof and the Closing Date.
12.3

Conditions to Obligations of FGE and the FGE Shareholders .

The obligations of FGE and the FGE Shareholders to consummate the Closing and the other transactions contemplated hereby are subject to the
satisfaction of the following conditions, any of which may be waived by FGE and the FGE Shareholders:
12.3.1 Each of Vasomedical and the Purchaser shall have performed, in all material respects, all of their respective obligations under this Agreement
required to be performed by it at or prior to the Closing or the Closing Date;
12.3.2 the respective representations and warranties of Vasomedical and the Purchaser contained in this Agreement and in any certificate or other writing
delivered by Vasomedical or the Purchaser to FGE Shareholders pursuant to this Agreement shall be true at and as of the Closing Date as if made
at and as of such time, except to the extent that particular representations or warranties are made as of other specified date or dates, in which
event, they shall be true as of such other date or dates, respectively, and the FGE Shareholders shall have received a certificate signed by an
executive officer of Vasomedical to the foregoing effect;
12.3.3 there shall have occurred no Material Adverse Changes in the business or financial condition of Vasomedical between the date hereof and the
Closing Date.
ARTICLE 13 -TERMINATION
13.1

Right to Terminate.

This Agreement may be terminated prior to Closing, and the contemplated transactions abandoned at any time prior to the Closing Date without liability to
either party, except as specified below in this Section 13.1.1:
13.1.1 by mutual written agreement of Vasomedical and FGE;
13.1.2 in the event Vasomedical’s due diligence review discloses information which in Vasomedical’s sole judgment makes it not advantageous to engage
in the contemplated transactions;
13.1.3 by Vasomedical or any FGE Shareholder if (a) any provision of any applicable law or regulation prohibits the consummation of the Closing, or (b)
any judgment, injunction, order or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction that prohibits the consummation of the Closing is entered and shall
have become final and non-appealable, provided that the party seeking to terminate this Agreement pursuant to the foregoing provisions of
paragraph (b) of this Section 13.1.3 shall have used its reasonable best efforts to remove any such injunction, order or decree.
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13.1.4 by Vasomedical if: (i) any of the conditions precedent to the obligations of Vasomedical set forth in Section 12.2 hereof shall not have been
satisfied in any material respect by the Closing Date or any other date prior to the Closing provided herein for satisfaction thereof; or (ii) if, on or
prior to the Closing Date, the due diligence review by Vasomedical or its representatives of the books and records of FGE and the Operating
Companies reveals a material breach of any of the representations and warranties of FGE or any FGE Shareholder contained herein or in any
certificate delivered pursuant to this Agreement or there is any material adverse change in the financial condition or results of operations of FGE or
any subsidiary including each Operating Company, unless such change is reflected herein or in the FGE Disclosure Schedule.
13.1.5 by any FGE Shareholder (i) if any of the conditions to the obligations of the FGE Shareholders set forth in Section 12.3 hereof shall not have been
satisfied in any material respect by the Closing Date or any other date prior to the Closing provided herein for satisfaction thereof; or (ii) if, on or
prior to the Closing Date, the due diligence review by the FGE Shareholders or its representatives of Vasomedical’s books and records reveals a
material breach of any of the representations and warranties of Vasomedical contained herein or in any certificate delivered pursuant to this
Agreement or there is any material adverse change in the business or financial condition or results of operations of Vasomedical from those as
presented in the Vasomedical Annual Report and the Vasomedical 10-Q for the period ended February 28, 2011.
13.1.6 By Vasomedical or any FGE Shareholder if the Closing has not occurred by August 31, 2011.
13.2

Termination Notice; Termination Date.

Any party may exercise its right under this Section 13 to terminate this Agreement by giving notice thereof in writing to each of the other parties (the
“Termination Notice”). This Agreement shall terminate on the date on which the first Termination Notice shall have been given by a FGE Shareholder or
Vasomedical pursuant to Section 13.1 (the “Termination Date”).
13.3

Effects of Termination.

In the event of termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 13 (“Termination”), each of the parties hereby expressly waive their rights to recover
all other damages, fees, costs, and expenses, including incidental, consequential and punitive damages, from any of the other parties as a result of any termination
of this Agreement; provided, however, that: If either FGE or Vasomedical terminates this Agreement in bad faith, the non-terminating party shall be entitled to
recover reasonable attorneys’ and auditors’ fees, costs and expenses expended in connection with the Closing. Effective as of the Termination Date, this
Agreement shall forthwith become void and of no further force or effect, except for (i) the obligations set forth in this Section 13.3; and (ii) the obligations of
confidentiality set forth in Section 10.3 hereof, which shall survive termination of this Agreement.
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ARTICLE 14 - NATURE AND SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS
All representations, warranties and covenants of the parties contained herein or in any certificate or other instrument delivered by or on behalf of any of the
parties pursuant hereto, or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, shall be deemed representations and warranties by such party, respectively,
and shall survive the Closing for a period of three (3) years, and the covenants of the parties hereto shall survive the Closing for a period of three (3) years.
ARTICLE 15 - INDEMNIFICATION

15.1

General.

From and after the Closing, the parties shall indemnify each other as provided in this Section 15. For the purposes of this Section 15, all representations
and warranties in this Agreement made by any party to this Agreement, shall be deemed to have been made at and as of the Closing.

15.2

FGE Shareholder’s Indemnification Obligations.

Each FGE Shareholder shall indemnify and hold harmless Vasomedical the Purchaser, its Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, shareholders,
members, managers, successors and permitted assigns (each a “Purchaser Indemnitee” and collectively, the “Purchaser Indemnitees”) from and against all
Damages sustained or incurred by any Purchaser Indemnitee as a result of or arising out of or by virtue of:
15.2.1
any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty made by each FGE Shareholder or FGE herein or in any Transaction
Document delivered to Vasomedical or Purchaser in connection herewith;
15.2.2
any breach of, or failure to comply with, any of the covenants or obligations under this Agreement or any other Transaction Document to be
performed by a FGE Shareholder or FGE (including, without limitation, its obligations under this Section 15);

15.3

Limitation on FGE’s Shareholder Indemnification Obligations.

15.3.1
No FGE Shareholder shall be liable to the Purchaser Indemnitees with respect to any claims for indemnification under Section 15.2 unless the
aggregate amount of Damages is in excess of fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) (the “Indemnification Threshold”). Once the Indemnification Threshold has been met,
FGE Shareholders shall then be liable for all Claims in excess of the Indemnification Threshold excluding such Claims as were aggregated to reach the
Indemnification Threshold.

15.3.2
The maximum amount for which any FGE Shareholder shall be liable to the Purchaser Indemnitees under this Agreement for indemnification
Claims under this Section 15 is one hundred percent (100%) of the Purchase Price paid or to be paid to such FGE Shareholder (the “ Indemnification Limit”).
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15.3.3
Each FGE Shareholder’s representations and warranties, and each FGE Shareholder’s obligation to indemnify the Purchaser Indemnitees
under Section 15.2, shall survive the Closing and will remain in effect until the date that is three (3) years after the Closing Date with respect to any failure on the
part of FGE or FGE Shareholders to perform any covenants or agreements set forth herein, or any breach by FGE or any FGE Shareholder of any of the
representations and warranties made in Section 7. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an FGE Shareholder’s representations, warranties and obligation to indemnify
the Purchaser Indemnitees under Section 15.2 with respect to any pending Claim for indemnification shall survive and remain in effect until such pending Claim is
finally resolved.

15.4

Vasomedical’s Indemnification Obligations.

Vasomedical shall indemnify, and hold harmless each FGE Shareholder and its successors and assigns (“Seller Indemnitees”) from and against and from
all Damages sustained or incurred by any Seller Indemnitee as a result of or arising out of or by virtue of:
15.4.1 any inaccuracy in or Breach of any representation and warranty made by Vasomedical or Purchaser to an FGE Shareholder herein or in any
Transaction Document delivered to Seller in connection herewith; or
15.4.2 any Breach by Vasomedical or Purchaser of, or failure by Vasomedical or Purchaser to comply with, any of the covenants or obligations under this
Agreement or in any Transaction Document to be performed by Vasomedical or Purchaser (including, without limitation, its obligations under this
Section 15).

15.5

Limitations on Vasomedical’s Indemnification Obligations.
15.5.1 Vasomedical shall not be liable to Seller Indemnitees with respect to any Claim for indemnification under Section 15 unless the aggregate amount
of Damages is in excess of the Indemnification Threshold. Once the Indemnification Threshold has been met, Vasomedical shall then be liable for
all Claims in excess of the Indemnification Threshold excluding such Claims as were aggregated to reach the Indemnification Threshold.
15.5.2 The maximum amount for which Vasomedical shall be liable to Seller Indemnitees under this Agreement is the Indemnification Limit.
15.5.3 Vasomedical’s representations and warranties, and Vasomedical’s obligation to indemnify Seller Indemnitees under Section 15.4, shall survive the
Closing and will remain in effect until the date that is two (2) years after the Closing Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Vasomedical’s
representations, warranties and obligation to indemnify Seller Indemnitees under Section 15.4 with respect to any pending Claim for indemnification
shall survive and remain in effect until such pending Claim is finally resolved.
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15.6

Cooperation.

Subject to the provisions of Section 15.7, the Indemnifying Party shall have the right, at its own expense, to participate in the defense of any Third Party
Claim, and if said right is exercised, the parties shall cooperate in the investigation and defense of said Third Party Claim.

15.7

Procedures.
All Claims or demands for indemnification under this Section 15 shall be asserted and resolved as follows:
15.7.1 In the event an Indemnified Party has a Claim against any Indemnifying Party hereunder which does not involve a Claim being asserted against or
sought to be collected by a third party, the Indemnified Party shall with reasonable promptness send notice of such Claim to the Indemnifying
Party. In case the Indemnifying Party shall object in writing to any Claim for indemnification made in accordance with this Section 15.7.1, the
Indemnified Party shall have fifteen (15) days to respond in a written statement to the objection of the Indemnifying Party. If after such 15-day
period there remains a dispute as to any indemnification Claims or if the indemnifying party does not dispute such Claim as required under Section
15.7.2, the parties shall attempt in good faith for thirty (30) days to reach written agreement on the resolution of such indemnification Claim. If no
such agreement can be reached after good faith negotiation during that 30 day period, the parties shall submit the indemnification Claim for final
determination by binding arbitration, with such arbitration proceeding conducted in accordance with the Commercial Rules of the American
Arbitration Association then in effect. The arbitration proceeding shall be held in the New York City metropolitan area and the costs thereof shall
be paid by the prevailing party in such arbitration proceeding. The failure of the Indemnifying Party to respond shall not be an acknowledgement of
liability by the Indemnifying Party.
15.7.2 In the event that any Claim for which any party would be liable to an Indemnified Party hereunder is asserted against an Indemnified Party by a third
party, the Indemnified Party shall with reasonable promptness notify the Indemnifying Party of such Third Party Claim, specifying the nature of such
Claim and the amount or the estimated amount thereof to the extent then feasible (which estimate shall not be conclusive of the final amount of
such Claim) (the “Claim Notice”). The Indemnifying Party shall have fifteen (15) days from the receipt of the Claim Notice (the “ Notice Period”) to
notify the Indemnified Party (i) whether or not the Indemnifying Party disputes liability to the Indemnified Party hereunder with respect to such Third
Party Claim and (ii) if the Indemnifying Party does not dispute such liability, whether or not the Indemnifying Party desires, at its sole cost and
expense, to defend against such Claim. In the event that the Indemnifying Party notifies the Indemnified Party within the Notice Period that the
Indemnifying Party does not dispute its obligation to indemnify hereunder and desires to defend the Indemnified Party against such Third Party
Claim, except as hereinafter provided, the Indemnifying Party shall have the right to defend by appropriate proceedings, which proceedings shall be
promptly settled or prosecuted by the Indemnifying Party to a final conclusion; provided that, unless the Indemnified Party otherwise agrees in
writing, the Indemnifying Party may not settle any matter (in whole or in part) unless such settlement includes a complete and unconditional
release of the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnified Party desires to participate in, but not control, any such defense or settlement, the Indemnified
Party may do so at the Indemnified Party’s sole cost and expense. If the Indemnifying Party elects not to defend the Indemnified Party against such
Third Party Claim, whether by failure of the Indemnifying Party to give the Indemnified Party timely notice as provided above or otherwise, then the
Indemnified Party, without waiving any rights against the Indemnifying Party, may settle or defend against any such Claim in the Indemnified
Party’s sole discretion and the Indemnified Party shall be entitled to recover from the Indemnifying Party the amount of any settlement or judgment
and, on an ongoing basis, all indemnifiable costs and expenses of the Indemnified Party with respect thereto, including interest from the date such
costs and expenses were incurred.
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15.7.3 An Indemnified Party may make an indemnification Claim hereunder, for potential or contingent Claims or demands provided the Claim Notice sets
forth the specific basis for any such potential or contingent Claim or demand to the extent then feasible and the Indemnified Party has reasonable
grounds to believe that such a Claim or demand may be made.
15.7.4 The Indemnified Party’s failure to give reasonably prompt notice to the Indemnifying Party of any actual, threatened or possible Claim or demand
which may give rise to a right of indemnification hereunder shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of any Liability which it may have to the
Indemnified Party unless the failure to give such notice materially and adversely prejudiced the Indemnifying Party.
ARTICLE 16 - NOTICES
All notices, requests and other communications to any party hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given,
If to Vasomedical or the Purchaser, to:
Vasomedical, Inc.
180 Linden Avenue
Westbury, New York 11590
USA
Attn: Jun Ma, Chief Executive Officer and President
Fax No. +1 (516) 997-2299
with a copy to
(which shall not constitute notice)
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Beckman, Lieberman & Barandes
111 John Street
Suite 1710
New York, New York 10038
USA
Attention: David Lieberman, Esq.
Fax No. +1 (516) 433-4041
If to FGE or any FGE Shareholder, to:
Xichang Li
Life Enhancement Technology Ltd.
125 Zhangcha 1st Road, Bldg. 5, 3/F
Foshan, Guangdong 528051
P.R.China
Fax No. +86 (757) 8230-2625
And
Qiuming Shen
Biox Instruments Co., Ltd.
4/F, Taihu Bldg.
45 Liangxi Road
Wuxi, Jiangsu 214062
P.R.China
Fax No. +86 (510) 8586-4443
with a copy to
(which shall not constitute notice):
ZhongLun Law Firm
10/F, Tower A, Rongchao Center
6003 Yitian Road, Futian District
Shenzhen, Guangdong 518026
P.R.China
Attention: Su Min
Fax No. +86 (755) 3320-6888
or to such other address as such party may hereafter specify for purposes of notice by giving notice to the other parties hereto. All such notices, requests and
other communications shall be deemed given on the date of receipt by the recipient thereof, if received prior to 5 p.m. in the place of receipt and such day is a
business day in the place of receipt, or if received later, the next succeeding business day in the place of receipt.
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ARTICLE 17 - AMENDMENTS; NO WAIVERS.
Any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived prior to the first to occur of the Closing Date and the Termination Date but only if such amendment or
waiver is in writing and is signed, in the case of an amendment, by each party to this Agreement, or in the case of a waiver, by the party against whom the waiver is
to be effective. No failure or delay by any party in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial
exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege.
ARTICLE 18 - GOVERNING LAW; ARBITRATION
This Agreement has been prepared, negotiated and delivered in the State of New York and shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the
laws of that State, without giving effect to the principles thereof relating to the conflict of laws. Any dispute arising pursuant to or in any way related to this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be settled by arbitration, provided, however, that nothing in this Section shall restrict the right of either
party to apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for emergency relief pending final determination of a claim by arbitration in accordance with this Section. All
arbitration shall be conducted in New York, New York in accordance with the rules and regulations of the American Arbitration Association then obtaining. The
laws of New York shall govern the disposition of any such arbitration. The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding upon the parties and judgment in accordance
with that decision may be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction. Each party hereby submits to the jurisdiction of the American Arbitration Association and
consents to the exclusive venue stated in this Section.
ARTICLE 19 - ENFORCEABILITY
Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition
or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof and any such prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render
unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the parties hereto hereby waive any provision of law which
renders any provision hereof prohibited or unenforceable in any respect.
ARTICLE 20 - SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS; NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES
The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns; provided that no
party may assign, delegate or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the consent of the other parties hereto.
ARTICLE 21 - ENTIRE AGREEMENT
This Agreement, including all Exhibits and Schedules hereto, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this
Agreement and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both oral and written between or among any of the parties with respect to the subject matter
hereof and thereof.
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ARTICLE 22 - COUNTERPARTS
This Agreement may be executed in two (2) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one
and the same instrument.
SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW
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COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE
TO
STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date first above written, by signing on the appropriate signature page hereto.

VASOMEDICAL, INC.

By:/s/________________________________
Jun Ma
Chief Executive Officer and President
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COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE
TO
STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date first above written, by signing on the appropriate signature page hereto.

VASOMEDICAL ACQUISITION CORP.

By: /s/________________________________
Jun Ma
Chief Executive Officer
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COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE
TO
STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date first above written, by signing on the appropriate signature page hereto.

FAST GROWTH ENTERPRISES LIMITED

By: /s/________________________________
Name:
Title:
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COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE
TO
STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date first above written, by signing on the appropriate signature page hereto.
FGE SHAREHOLDERS
/s/________________________________
/s/________________________________
__________________________________
__________________________________
__________________________________
__________________________________
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a/15d OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Jun Ma, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Vasomedical, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "registrant");
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.
/s/ Jun Ma .
Jun Ma
President and Chief Executive Officer
Dated: August 29, 2011

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a/15d OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Jonathan Newton, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Vasomedical, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "registrant");
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.
/s/ Jonathan Newton
Jonathan Newton
Chief Financial Officer
Dated: August 29, 2011

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jun Ma, President and Chief Executive Officer of Vasomedical, Inc. (the "Company"), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2011 (the "Report"), fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: August 29, 2011
/s/ Jun Ma
Jun Ma
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jonathan Newton, Chief Financial Officer of Vasomedical, Inc. (the "Company"), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, that:
(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2011 (the "Report"), fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: August 29, 2011
/s/ Jonathan Newton
Jonathan Newton
Chief Financial Officer

